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CUSTOMERS WORLDWIDE
+19% in one year

43.2 MILLION
WIRELESS TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

40 MILLION
FIXED-LINE TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

6.3 MILLION
ACTIVE INTERNET
CUSTOMERS

2.2 MILLION
CABLE TV CUSTOMERS
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MILLION

PROFILE

43
BILLION EUROS
IN REVENUES
+27.8% in one year

12.3
BILLION EUROS
IN EBITDA
+14% in one year

5.2
BILLION EUROS
IN OPERATING INCOME
+7.1% in one year

1.9
BILLION EUROS
IN NET INCOME
BEFORE NON-RECURRING
PROVISIONS

Be the best provider 
of comprehensive
communications 

solutions

www.francetelecom.com 20
01
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Glossary 

ADSL Asymmetric DSL: The down-

stream bandwidth, i.e. to the customer,

is more than the upstream bandwidth,

from the customer to the network.

This asymmetric speed is well-suited to

website access and display.

Bandwidth: The width of the 

frequency spectrum on a communica-

tions channel. Often used as a synonym

for speed.

Bluetooth: A wireless communica-

tions specification for transmission of

voice and data between various devices

at up to 10 meters (named after the 

10th century Danish king who united

Denmark). This opens up such possibili-

ties as “communicating household 

appliances”.

Chat: Messaging via Internet forums

enabling real-time text exchanges with

other users.

Competitive carrier: A telecom-

munications network operator that 

competes with the incumbent carrier 

(often a former PTT).

Data: Transmitted information other

than voice.

Data rate: The volume of information

(i.e. “bits”) transmitted per second. “High-

speed” means that large amounts of data

can be transmitted, compared with the

current norm.

DECT (Digital European Cordless

Telecommunications): A wireless standard

used primarily for residential cordless

telephony.

DSL (Digital Subscriber Line): A trans-

mission technology that makes it possible

to send data at high speeds over a con-

ventional copper phone line.

EBN (European Backbone Network):

France Telecom’s seamless high-speed

pan-European network. The backbone

network is the central infrastructure

which interconnects with the access net-

work.

e-mail: Electronic mail sent on the

Internet.

Extranet: A corporate Intranet opened

to external partners (suppliers, subcon-

tractors, major customers, etc.).

GPRS (General Packet Radio Service):

An extension of the GSM standard that

increases the data rate and enables per-

manent connection to the Internet.

GSM (Global System for Mobile
Communications): The digital cellular
telephone standard used across Europe
which operates in the 900 MHz and 
1800 MHz frequency bands.

Interconnexion: Connection of two
independent networks, such as the net-
works of other telecommunications oper-
ators in France and the France Telecom
network.

Internet (Interconnected Networks):
the system comprising all networks inter-
connected using the Internet Protocol
(IP). The Internet supports access to data-
bases, email, file downloading and news-
groups, for example.
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Intranet: A private network based on
Internet software and standards reserved
for use by members of an organization.

IP (Internet Protocol): The data transmis-
sion standard on which the Internet is
based. It defines the way in which infor-
mation packets are structured for routing
on the Web.

IP VPN (IP Virtual Private Network): 

A private communications network in IP

mode. A VPN offers the same security and

other benefits as a private network, but

runs on public infrastructures.

This not only costs less, but also avoids 

the need for network management for the

company.

ISP (Internet Service Provider):

An ISP lets people connect to the Internet,

providing them with an IP address.

LAN (Local Area Network): LANs service

private premises, linking computers at

high speeds over short distances.

Local loop: The part of the network

that links customers to the local telephone

exchange.

Multimedia: The combination of

voice, data and fixed or full-motion video

over the same communications channel 

or within the same application.

Portal: A Web page with links to 

a variety of services such as directories,

search engines, email, online merchants,

news, etc.

Search Engine: An application that
finds Web pages that contain specific
words.

SMS (Short Message Service): A service
for sending alphanumeric messages 
to or from GSM mobile handsets.

SMHD (Services Multisite Hauts Débits):
A France Telecom service for connecting
multiple corporate sites at high speeds.

UMTS (Universal Mobile
Telecommunications System): 
A third-generation wireless communica-
tions system capable of supporting very-
high-speed mobile multimedia services.

Unbundling: Introduction of 
competition on the local loop. The phone
line remains the property of the incum-
bent operator, but is connected to equip-
ment belonging to a competing operator
located inside the local exchange.

VTHD (Vraiment Très Haut Débit): 

An experimental “super high-speed”

fiberoptic Internet infrastructure.

Wap (Wireless Application Protocol): 

A wireless telephony protocol that enables

access to information sites (including 

websites) from personal wireless devices

such as GSM cellphones.

Web: Abbreviation of World Wide Web,

the multimedia interconnected networks

that make up the Internet, where informa-

tion can be accessed at the click of a

mouse.

Webcam: A digital camera connected to

the Internet.
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Communicate.
We communicate to express the
essence of our being, to share informa-
tion, emotions and experience. We
communicate to forge ties with others.
Communications is fundamental to
life. And our business is helping you
communicate better, every day, both
in your personal life and at work.
We innovate to promote new ways 
to communicate that make life easier.
The 206,000 people in the France 
Telecom group across the entire world
are all proud to be part of this truly
inspiring endeavor. Whether it’s fixed,
wireless, Internet or data services,
whether we operate under the banner
of France Telecom, Orange, Wanadoo,
Equant or other subsidiaries, we are
all unified by a commitment to 
serving you. By listening closely 
to your needs, by earning your 
confidence and by fully assuming 
our responsibilities, we bring you 
solutions that deliver on our promise
of helping to build a better world.
The photos in this year’s annual
report give you a closer look at France
Telecom’s teams around the world –
people who are helping to transform 
this promise into everyday reality.

CONTENTS

Welcome 
to the life of the 
France Telecom group
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Hot
and cold
Hot and cold! You would think that the telecommunications
industry has an affinity for sudden swings. Deregulation trig-
gered a shift from monopolies to unbridled competition. In just
five years, consumers have transformed cellphones from gadg-
ets into ubiquitous and essential tools.And in the blink of an eye,
the stock market pushed our company’s share price up to dizzying
heights before sending it plunging back to earth – despite our
steady growth.

This of course holds true for every player in this industry,and all
of our main European competitors have been buffeted by the
same turbulence. But comparisons alone are not sufficient 
to dispel the concerns of our shareholders following the poor
performance of our share price in 2001.

This annual report will provide you with all the information you
need to draw your own conclusions.

Yes, the period of the so-called “telecom bubble” is well behind
us. We are recognizing the painful impact in our financial state-
ments by taking provisions to reflect the fact that some of the
investments we made during this time did not pay off.These pro-
visions, which are substantial, should not overshadow the fact
that most of our acquisitions have delivered very satisfactory per-
formance.

Yes, these acquisitions were necessary. With the opening of
competition in the French market,where France Telecom gener-
ated three-quarters of its sales as a monopoly, we had to swiftly
become bigger and more international in the most dynamic seg-
ments of our business,namely wireless and Internet.While acqui-
sitions are the only way to move quickly, they unfortunately
entail certain risks. Today, however, we are positioned to fully
benefit from our growth strategy. More than 60 percent of our
sales now come from these new activities. Our sales are rising
at a brisk pace, and our margins are expanding even faster as
these businesses mature.

No, the telecommunications sector is not in a crisis. Our market
continues to grow. Our wireless and Internet businesses are
signing up new customers every day and are becoming increas-
ingly widespread.Thanks to substantial cuts in our rates in recent
years, French and European households alike have actually
increased their telecommunications budget by about 10 per-
cent annually. They continue to spend more money than ever,
while remaining well below telecommunications-related spend-
ing by American consumers. Our industry thus continues to 
harbor numerous sources of future growth.

Yes, France Telecom is solidly positioned in this expanding mar-
ket. With Orange, Wanadoo and Equant, we enjoy top-tier Euro-
pean status in the fastest growing segments. In France and other
countries, we are successfully unlocking all the synergies made
possible by our presence across every segment of the industry.
Our operating results are good: EBITDA (earnings before inter-
est, taxes, depreciation and amortization) exceeded 12 billion
euros, a rise of 14 percent, and our operating income advanced

7 percent to 5.2 billion euros. We gained market shares and im-
proved our margins in 2001 in all of the new mobile, data and
Internet markets.

No, France Telecom’s debt does not jeopardize the company’s
health.The brutal turnabout of stock prices in our industry,which
began in autumn 2000,means that we have been unable to refi-
nance the balance of our acquisitions with equity and proceeds
from asset disposals. To address the debt that accumulated we
defined a debt reduction plan that has already lowered our debt-
to-equity ratio. Furthermore, this plan has reduced the total
amount of our debt since last June.We expect this improvement
to continue and even accelerate as our new businesses gain
momentum and generate vigorous cash flows.

Yes, I would have much preferred that our shareholders see a
steady rise in our share price, rather than the roller-coaster ride
on which the market has taken them. I sincerely hope that these
considerable swings will not diminish your loyalty, and that you
will remain confident in our enterprise.

Yes, France Telecom enjoys a healthy outlook for the future. In
2002 we will again see substantial increases in sales and operat-
ing results. Plus, of course, we will no longer have to take into
account the provisions that pushed us into the red this year.
France Telecom,our 92 million customers,and all the employees
who serve them merit your confidence and will continue to
merit it.

“To go head-to-head 
with the competition,

we had to become bigger
and more international.”

MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIRMAN
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France Telecom’s fundamentals are sound. We’re number one world-
wide in services for multinational corporations, and a European leader
in both wireless and the Internet. France Telecom is especially well-
positioned to benefit from a market that continues to post solid growth.

fundame

Paris
Third-generation pioneers: 
the UMTS team at 
France Telecom R&D.
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An Expanding
Global Market
In the period 2001-2005, the market is
expected to post annual growth in value
of 12 percent for wireless, 10 percent for
data and 5 percent for fixed-line ser-
vices. There will be more wireless than
wireline customers.

International
Expansion
Investments in businesses
outside France surpassed
domestic investments in
2001.

million
customers worldwide, nearly 40 percent of
them outside France.

“The increase in our revenues in
2001 confirms that France Telecom
is benefiting from robust growth.”

Michel Bon

SNAPSHOTS

REVENUE GROWTH
Led by buoyant international operations,
especially in Europe, France Telecom enjoyed
a surge in consolidated revenues in 2001.

9292

ntals
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FUNDAMENTALS

26%

55%

3%

16%

2000

■   Orange       ■   Wanadoo       ■   Fixed-line, voice and data services in France
■   Fixed-line, voice and data services outside France

Key figures

CONSOLIDATED REVENUES  increased 27.8 per-
cent due to the rapid expansion of new wireless,
Internet and international businesses. Revenues
have doubled in the past five years

Revenues 
(in billions of euros)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

23.4 24.6 27.2 33.7 43.0

Revenues by business segment 

INTERNATIONAL REVENUES  expanded 77.3 percent
in 2001. Revenues outside France have more than qua-
drupled in two years and represented 35.8 percent of
total revenues in 2001.

International Revenues
(in billions of euros)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

1.6 2.3 3.5 8.7 15.4

34%

46%

4%

16%

2001

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
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Operating income 
(in billions of euros)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

3.9 4.0 4.5 4.9 5.2

EBITDA
(in billions of euros)

Cash flow 
(in billions of euros)

CASH FLOW continued to exceed 7 billion euros.

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

8.8 8.9 9.6 10.8 12.3

Net income before amortization of goodwill 
and non-recurring provisions
(in billions of euros)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

2.3 2.3 2.8 3.7 4.7 (8.3) 5.0

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

6.4 6.7 7.5 6.9 7.4

Net debt/EBITDA ratio

THE NET DEBT/EBITDA RATIO improved by 0.7 points. Following
substantial investments in 2000 related to recent acquisitions, in
particular Orange, debt levels continued to decline in 2001. Debt is
being reduced due to both EBITDA growth and to the disposal of
certain non-core assets*.
* After taking into account reiceivables from sale of real estate for 2.7 billion euros.

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

1.7 1.5 1.5 5.6 4.9

OERATING INCOME rose 7.1 percent in 2001.
On a pro forma basis operating income increased
at twice the rate of revenues.

EBITDA increased 14 percent for the year, due in
particular to improved operating margins for new
activities, notably wireless, and to the continued pro-
fitability of France Telecom’s established businesses.

NET INCOME BEFORE AMORTIZATION 
of goodwill and non-recurring provisions
reached 5 billion euros, up 5.7 percent over
2000. After non-recurring provisions of 10.2
billion euros, the group had a  
NET LOSS of 8.3 billion euros.

■ Net income before amortization of goodwill 
        and non-recurring provisions   
■ Net income (loss)



FUNDAMENTALS

Key figures

Increase in customer base in France 
(in thousands)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

37,566 40,812 45,831 51,024 55,798

■   Wireless   ■   Fixed  ■   Internet (1)   ■   Cable TV  

Increase in customer base outside
France (in thousands)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

819 3,478 9,139 26,002 35,906

■   Wireless  ■   Fixed  ■   Internet (1) ■   Cable TV     

(1) Registered subscribers prior to 1999 
and active customers as of 1999.

(1) Registered subscribers prior to 1999 
and active customers as of 1999.

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

6

Customer base (companies in which 
France Telecom has a controlling interest)

Employees 1999 2000 2001 % change

s Full-time equivalent

• Total Group 174,262 188,866 206,184 + 9.2

• of which France 152,346 148,846 145,264 – 2.04

1999 2000 2001 % change

s Wireless Communications  (thousands of customers)

• France 10,051 14,311 17,823 + 24.5

• Europe (outside France) 2,752 15,853 20,520 + 29.4

• Rest of the world 1,253 2,906 4,841 + 66.6

Total 14,056 33,070 43,184 + 30.6

s Fixed-line Telephony  (thousands of customers)

• France (including Numeris ISDN lines) 34,056 34,114 34,151 –

• Europe (outside France) 1,168 1,937 2,549 + 31.6

• Rest of the world 2,457 3,167 3,308 + 4.5

Total 37,681 39,218 40,009 + 2.0

s Internet Access*  (thousands of customers)

• France 1,016 1,831 3,001 + 63.9

• Europe (outside France) 374 679 3,128 + 360.8

• Rest of the world 58 132 208 + 57.2

Total 1,448 2,642 6,337 +139.8

s Cable networks  (thousands of customers)

• France 709 769 824 + 7.2

• Europe (outside France) 1,076 1,328 1,351 + 1.7

Total 1,785 2,097 2,175 + 3.7

*Active customers
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2001
Highlights

FEBRUARY
Club Méditerranée
Club Med awarded France Telecom
a contract to manage all telecom-
munications services across its 
200 sites in nearly 50 countries.
The end-to-end managed services
include voice, data and Internet.
The seven-year contract is 
coupled with a marketing and
sales partnership.

Insurance coverage
A new insurance plan was 
instituted to adapt to the needs 
of French subsidiaries and 
the individual situations of
employees.

FEBRUARY

Orange IPO
1.4 million individual investors 

from the four main EU countries 

purchased Orange shares during 

the company’s IPO. The Group’s wireless

subsidiary is now listed in Paris

and London.

APRIL
Orange announces 
UMTS equipment vendors 
Nokia, Alcatel and Ericsson will 
supply UMTS radio access network
equipment for all Orange subsidiaries.
The worldwide purchasing agreement
will deliver significant economies
for the Group.

JANUARY
Unbundling

On January 1, 2001, regulations opening

France’s local loop market to competi-

tion took effect.

MARCH

Wireless number 
directory
Consumers and business users

can sign up for free listing 

of their wireless number

in France Telecom paper 

and electronic directories,

regardless of their wireless 

operator.

1.41.4

JANUARY
Freeserve

Wanadoo’s acquisition of Freeserve,

the No. 1 Internet service provider in the U.K.,

was approved by the British secretary 

of commerce and industry.

Thomson Multimédia

One of the world leaders in consumer 

electronics chose France Telecom for all 

of its international voice, data and 

videoconferencing communications.

The seven-year outsourcing contract spans 

28 countries and 115 sites.

MAY
UMTS license 

French telecommunications

regulator ART endorsed

France Telecom for 

a third-generation 

wireless license.

The Group was also 

awarded UMTS licenses 

in 2001 in Belgium,

Denmark and Poland,

giving it a total of 

12 licenses.

MILLION
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JULY
ADSL takes off

French telecommunications

regulator ART approved 

the Group’s proposed rate

cuts for broadband ADSL

service. In just six months,

the number of households

with ADSL service jumped

from 183,000 to 430,000 

and is expected to exceed

1 million in 2002. ADSL 

was available to 66 percent

of French households

at the end of 2001. The 

service has also proved 

tremendously popular

among businesses seeking

the benefits of broadband.

France Telecom R&D in Japan

The Group’s research center inaugurated 

a lab in Tokyo. Already present in Silicon 

Valley, France Telecom R&D plans to open 

additional facilities in Europe (including 

London), Asia and the U.S.

JULY
Euro embraced by customers. France Telecom sends out over 300 million 
bills each year. Between the beginning of July and the end of September, all of our 
billing systems were successfully switched to euros. About 400 France Telecom staff 
worked weekends and throughout the summer to ensure the success of this operation.
But kudos should go above all to our customers, some 99.7 percent of whom successfully
paid their first bill in euros. A major information and customer support campaign involved
20,000 France Telecom employees.

JULY 
Uni2 Following the purchase of Editel’s 
31-percent stake, France Telecom now owns 
100 percent of Spanish alternative operator 
Uni2, which had 2.2 million customers 
at the end of 2001.

Transatlantic cable 
The French landing point for the TAT-14 submarine

cable was inaugurated. The ring system links the

United States with five European countries. France

Telecom owns 11 percent of total cable capacity

and plays a lead role in the TAT-14 consortium,

which groups over 50 telecom operators.

2001 Highlights

FUNDAMENTALS

JUNE

Equant/Global One

Creation of Equant 

by the combination 

of Equant and Global One.

France Telecom owns 

54.2 percent of the 

company, a world leader

in data and IP services

for multinational 

corporations.

JUNE
Wanadoo and Voila voted Net favorites
Following the “Website & WAP Site of the Year”award given
to the Voila search engine portal by an Ipsos-Médiangles survey 
of 4,000 Internet users, Wanadoo was named “Favorite ISP”
in June.

JULY

MAY
Orange brand expands
Our Mobilix subsidiary in Denmark began operating under

the Orange brand, followed in June by France’s Itineris, Ola

and Mobicarte services, all rebranded Orange. The name

change was accompanied by sustained initiatives to enhance

technical quality and customer service.
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NOVEMBER
Real Estate
France Telecom sold 473 buildings

(about 40 percent of the total space

occupied by the Group) to a consortium

of investors. The 2.97 billion euro trans-

action will be followed by a second

tranche in 2002.

Unlimited calls 
to three numbers
The new rate offer, available to French 

customers for six months, proposes 

unlimited calls to any three national 

numbers between midnight Friday

and midnight Sunday for only 3 euros

a month.

OCTOBER
A clearer future for UMTS. The French government lowered the cost of UMTS
licenses in the country. The fee now consists of an initial payment of 619 million
euros, plus a variable fee based on UMTS revenues. The duration of licenses was also
extended from 15 to 20 years. At the end of October, a trial network deployed by 
Alcatel and Orange France carried the world’s first wireless voice, data and video calls.

GSM coverage. Orange France accelerated its GSM network buildout to bring

service to areas currently without coverage. The company will spend an addition-

al 100 million euros to ensure coverage of the entire country within two years,

increasing GSM network density in rural areas.

SEPTEMBER

Option Plus Introduction of the

Option Plus plan in France, offering

France Telecom’s lowest rates 

for all calls – national, international

and fixed to wireless. The offer

aims to stabilize our share of the 

fixed-line market by bringing 

customers rates that combine 

savings with simplicity.

DECEMBER
Local call competition
On December 27 France Telecom 

opened access to local service 

for four competing operators.

The operation was successfully 

repeated for other competitors 

in 2002. Technical modification 

of all 600 France Telecom switches

concerned was carried out without 

a hitch thanks to the work 

of a hundred technicians.

DECEMBER
Strategic refocus
As part of its strategy to refocus 

on its core business and reduce debt,

France Telecom sold a stake in 

STMicroelectronics valued at 

approximately 3 billion euros.

A second tranche will be sold in 2002.

France Telecom also divested its stake

in the TPS satellite TV service,

judged non-strategic, to TF1 for 

128.7 million euros.

SEPTEMBER
Poland   France Telecom and its Polish partner Kulczyk

Holding increased their stake in Telekomunikacja 

Polska S.A. (TP SA) from 35 to 47.5 percent. As Poland’s

incumbent operator, TP SA is the largest telco 

in Central Europe.



A very
ROBUST INDUSTRY
Despite the economic slowdown, telecommunications services continue to grow,
energized by wireless, Internet and data services.
The global telecom market was valued at nearly 1.2 trillion euros in 2001, representing
annual growth of 8.5 percent. This expansion is expected to continue at about 8 per-
cent annually between now and 2005.

Paris
8:30 a.m. Arnaud, Patrice and Arnoult
arrive at Equant headquarters.

1.5 billion 
wireless customers 

in 2005

FUNDAMENTALS 
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427

692

155

60
50

1,197

563

449

99
86

1,645

683

710

149
103

11

Europe Ahead 
of North America

The European market should be less

affected by the general economic situa-

tion and is expected to continue to

expand faster than North America,

rising 7 percent annually through 2005,

compared with 5 percent across the

Atlantic. The European market will also

surpass North America in value in 2005,

making it the number two market in the

world (27 percent of the total), behind

the Asia-Pacific region. 

Germany remains the largest market

in the European Union (22 percent), fol-

lowed by the U.K. (21 percent), France

(14 percent) and Italy (12 percent).

Wireless Leads Growth 
Fixed telephony now accounts for

only 39 percent of the European mar-

ket, down from 41 percent a year earlier.

The wireless market increased 12 per-

cent in value, underscoring the pivotal

role played by this sector in personal

communications, spanning both voice

and text messages (SMS). The introduc-

tion of GPRS and subsequently UMTS

will provide fresh impetus to wireless

growth thanks to the addition of data

and multimedia services to voice. 

Fixed data services should see 18-per-

cent growth in Europe between now

and 2005. 

France Embraces 
the Internet
Internet penetration in Europe is grad-

ually climbing to the levels seen in

North America. The number of accesses

should rise from 55 million in 2001 to

147 million in 2005, when this market

will be worth an estimated 31 billion

euros (source: IDC). ➫
New York 
Equant. Veda talks solutions
with a customer.

Three sectors are leading growth in

the global telecom market: wireless,

data and, to a lesser extent, fixed-line

telephony. The latter benefits from

expanding Internet usage and develop-

ment in emerging markets. For the per-

iod 2001-2005, the annual increase in

value is expected to reach 12 percent for

wireless, 10 percent for data and 5 per-

cent for fixed-line services.

The number of wireless customers

will climb to almost 1.5 billion from 825

million in 2001, outpacing the custo-

mer base for fixed-line phones (about

1.2 billion main lines).

PER YEAR IN VALUE
FROM 2002 TO 2005

+8%+8%

Wireless 
Surpasses 
Wireline

Bangkok
Orange CP. Customer service
with a smile from Nutcha.

Global telecom market 
growth
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A very robust 
industry

There were 13.7 million computers

connected to the Internet in France at

the end of 2001. The sector experienced

accelerated growth as 2 million house-

holds went online during the year, 

compared with 1.3 million in 2000. 

For the first time, there are more 

consumer accounts than business users.

By 2005, the total number of accesses

should jump by 40 percent, giving

France about 22 million Internet users

(source: IDC).

Broadband Ushers 
in New Uses

With cable, satellite and, above all,

DSL, operators everywhere are rolling

out broadband services for their custom-

ers. UMTS will also make high band-

width mobile services a reality. Greater

bandwidth spurs the emergence of new

uses, blending data, images and taking

advantage of “always-on” connections.

Telecom services are doing more than

just connecting people and places –

they are becoming an integral part of

networked transaction and production

processes. In the medium term, for

example, e-commerce could well

account for 5 to 10 percent of goods

exchanged, representing a potential

technical services market of 15 to 30 bil-

lion euros, not counting the value of the

products sold.

Furthermore, broadband media ser-

vices usher in the possibility of truly

interactive video services and on-

demand TV. 

Internet:
Europe Eyes U.S.
Growth Levels

Amsterdam
Marielle and Hasan 
at Euronet headquarters.

870 million 
Internet connections

in 2005*

* Source: Ovum

London 
Selene contributes to 
Freeserve’s robust development.

Singapore 
Equant. Teresa and 
Wenni, out to win 
Asian market share.

FUNDAMENTALS 
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International growth 
in the fastest-

expanding sectors 
of our industry

A strategy 
THAT’S PAYING OFF

Our strategy is clear: leverage our strong positions in France and establish
ourselves as a top-tier player in the fastest-growing markets across Europe
and around the world.

Paris
GlobeCast. Pierre and Pierre,
two experts in satellite 
communications.
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A strategy 
that’s paying off

Stimulating the
French Market

Domestic traffic carried by the France

Telecom group rose 13.5 percent in 2001.

We are both the primary beneficiary of

this growth and also the central driver

thanks to our lower rates, attractive ser-

vice packages and continued deployment

of more and more fixed and wireless

accesses that multiply opportunities 

to communicate. 

Despite strong competitive pressure,

France Telecom is still the leader in the

French domestic market, carrying about

64 percent of long-distance traffic on 

our networks, 48 percent of the wireless 

customer base and 44 percent of Internet

accesses. This success is the result of

competitive prices and a broader catalog

of services, coupled with proactive market-

ing and sales coverage. In the business

market, France Telecom facilitates the

transition to more bandwidth and new 

e-services, from intranets and extranets 

to our Bizao business services portal. 

At the beginning of 2001, our Group

served nearly 70 percent of the fiercely

competitive market for data transmission

services.

A Leader in Europe
Initiatives in 2001 strengthened the

Group’s international position. We 

integrated our main wireless assets

under the Orange brand, linked 

Freeserve and Wanadoo, and consolidat-

ed Equant. We also saw a significant

milestone as investments in operating

activities outside France exceeded

investments in our domestic market.

Revenues from international 

businesses surged 77.3 percent in 2001

and now represent 35.8 percent of

consolidated revenues, versus 26 percent

in 2000. In 2002, following the 

consolidation of the Polish operator 

TP SA, this segment will account for

more than half of our revenues.

Europe enjoys excellent growth

potential, especially in new businesses.

This is why we have made it the 

cornerstone of our international strategy.

At the end of last year we already had 

83 million customers in Europe. 

Our Group is committed to becoming a

major European player with accelerated

growth potential in all new wireless and

Internet telecom activities.

Paris
Transpac. Frédérique 
takes a short time out.

In 2002 more than
50 percent of our
revenues should 
be generated 
outside France.

Paris
Equant. François,
Christelle and Elodie are
ready to roll.

■  Wireless                         ■  Internet    
■  Standard services     ■  Interconnection

1999 2000 2001

15.3

12.8

125.1
35.8

28.8

108 57.8
83

5414.1
20.3

24

167.3

192.9

218.8

BREAKDOWN OF TRAFFIC 
BY USAGE (billions of minutes)

FUNDAMENTALS 
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Growth 
Drivers
Number Two in Wireless 
in Europe

Wireless will account for 35 percent

of aggregate value in the European mar-

ket for telecom services in 2005. With

Orange, we are the market leader in

France and the U.K. and number two in

Europe. Subsidiaries in which Orange

holds a controlling interest have a total

of more than 40 million customers. 

To further consolidate our position,

we are building GPRS and UMTS net-

works to carry new services that will

introduce greater convenience for

consumers. For enterprises, synergies

between Orange and Equant will make

us a leader in voice/data applications

for business users.

Number Three in Internet 
in Europe

The acquisition of Freeserve by our

Wanadoo subsidiary created a European

leader in Internet access and audience. 

The future of the Internet lies in

broadband, which is why we kicked off

an ambitious program to deploy ADSL

London 
Melanie tracks 
Freeserve traffic. 

networks, in addition to cable and satel-

lite broadband services.

We also continue to expand our range

of communications, information and

transaction services. We are increasing

our sector-specific solutions and gearing

up for the introduction of new multi-

media services that exploit the power 

of broadband. 

Global Leader in Corporate
Services

The merger of Global One and

Equant created the world leader in data

services for corporations. The compa-

ny’s portfolio spans the full array of

advanced telecommunications services

for all the needs of multinational enter-

prises. 

Equant’s offers are based on the global

network infrastructure that France Tele-

com is completing and targets all indus-

tries that require high traffic capacity.

Equant supports customers world-

wide thanks to unmatched global

reach, with a presence in 220 coun-

tries and territories and more than

1,100 cities. Equant’s extensive port-

folio includes global Intranet and IP

VPN solutions.

These unrivaled strengths have

enabled Equant to build a customer

base of 3,700 large business custom-

ers – including over two-thirds of 

the world's top 100 companies – and

gain global leadership in this fast-

growing market.

Rennes
TDF. Gilbert, Michel and 
Pierre-Yves work on an antenna.

London
Welcome to the Orange Shop
on Oxford Street.

2001

36%

20001999

13%

■   Revenues in France      ■   International Revenues

FRANCE TELECOM INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

26%
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stakeholders

Frankfurt
FTD. Reiner and Hans-Hermann
handle maintenance on the 
European Backbone Network.

Despite swings in our share price, shareholders have remained loyal
to our company. Our people remain focused on success. We boast
world-class R&D. And we are committed to achieving economic
performance while respecting sustainable development.



206,000 
France Telecom 
group employees
around the world

17



18

Michel Bon (6)
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

Bernard Bresson (7)
Human Resources

Marie-Claude Peyrache (5)
Corporate Communications

André Cathelineau (9)
Distribution

Jacques Champeaux (3)
Large Businesses

Jean-Jacques Damlamian (10)
Development

Nicolas Dufourcq (1)
Consumer Internet Division

Marc Fossier (2)
Consumer Fixed-line Services
and Public and Regulatory Affairs 

Jean-Yves Gouiffès (11)
Networks

Jean-François Pontal (4)
Wireless

Jean-Louis Vinciguerra (8)
Finance

Executive Officers

Corporate
Governance

STAKEHOLDERS

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.
7. 8. 9.

10. 11.1. 2. 3. 4.
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Board of Directors 

MEMBERS
ELECTED BY THE ANNUAL
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Michel Bon
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, France Telecom

François Grappotte 
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Legrand 

Michael Likierman 
Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of GrandVision SA 

Jean Simonin
Former Managing Director,
France Telecom Residential 
Customer Sales Office, Toulouse

MEMBERS
ELECTED BY EMPLOYEES

Alain Baron 

Jean-Yves Bassuel

Monique Biot

Michel Bonneau 

Michelle Brisson-Autret 

Jean-Claude Desrayaud 

Michel Gaveau

MEMBERS
APPOINTED BY DECREE OF THE
FRENCH STATE

Jean-Paul Bechat
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer, SNECMA

Alain Costes 
Director of Technology, 
Ministry of Research

Pierre-François Couture
Chairman of the Management
Board of Entreprise Minière et
Chimique (EMC) 

Yannick d’Eschatha 
Executive Vice President, 
Industrial Affairs, 
Electricité de France

Roger Fauroux 
Honorary Chairman 
of Saint-Gobain

Pierre Gadonneix 
President, Gaz de France

Nicolas Jachiet 
Head of Investment Monitoring
Division, Treasury Department,
Ministry of the Economy,
Finance and Industry

Jacques de Larosière, 
Advisor to Chairman 
of BNP Paribas  

Sophie Mahieux
Budget Director, Ministry 
of the Economy, Finance 
and Industry

Jacques Rigaud 
former Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer 
of Ediradio (RTL), Honorary
Member of the Council of State

OBSERVERS
APPOINTED BY 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Éric Hayat 
Vice President, STERIA 

Didier Lombard
Vice President of State Council
on Information Technologies

Gilles Mortier 
Managing Director 
of IFOCAP

as of January 1, 2002
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Corporate
Governance

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee reviews all

finance or accounting-related issues,

including half-year and full-year financial

statements, accounting procedures and

internal audits. It provides a recommen-

dation on the appointment and renewal

of the mandate of the independent 

auditors and on their methods. 

A charter governing the functioning 

of the Audit Committee was approved 

by the Board at its meeting on May 21,

1997. The Audit Committee is composed

of Jacques de Larosière (chairman), Yan-

nick d’Escatha and Nicolas Jachiet . The

Audit Committee met six times in 2001.

COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE

The role of the Compensation 

Committee is to submit recommenda-

tions concerning the remuneration of

Board members, including the chairman

of the board, and on capital increases

reserved to employees. It may also be

asked to submit recommendations

concerning the compensation of members

of the Executive Committee and 

compensation policy for Group officers.

The scope of the mission of the 

Compensation Committee was approved

by the Board at its meeting on September

10, 1997. The Compensation Committee

is composed of François Grappotte

(chairman), Pierre  Gadonneix and

Michael Likierman. The Compensation

Committee met twice in 2001. 

The meetings of these committees

reflect the commitment of the enterprise

to providing the Board with additional

information and insights about its 

business environment. 

Since its transformation into a 

corporation on December 31, 1996,

France Telecom has embraced the

recommendations of the Viénot report

on corporate governance of French 

listed companies. At its meeting 

on January 15, 1997, the Board of 

Directors approved the creation 

of an Audit Committee and a 

Compensation Committee. 

These advisory committees present

their recommendations on specific

issues to the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors of France

Telecom met six times in 2001.

STAKEHOLDERS

France Telecom is committed to 
serving the interests of its shareholders
through a proactive focus on sound 
corporate governance.
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WEATHERING 
TURBULENCE IN 

financial 
markets

When stock market volatility sweeps across an entire industry, the only response is to main-
tain a steady course. In the end, the market will always recognize the credibility of a well-
founded, winning strategy and solid fundamentals, supported by proactive, regular investor
relations initiatives.

Lognes
FRANCE/ The individual 
shareholder relations department.



FRANCE TELECOM STOCK PERFORMANCE

A Rocky Road
for Telecom 
and Technology
Stocks

The general downturn began in

spring 2000. Uncertainties surrounding

growth in the U.S. economy triggered a

plunge in stock markets. The fall was

particularly brutal on the NASDAQ,

where many technology shares are listed.

The slowdown in the U.S. cast shadows

over the European economy. France Tele-

com was caught up in this gloomy out-

look, treated in the same way as other

companies in the sector, although these

companies have neither our resources

nor vision. While equipment vendors are

indeed in a cyclical business, telecom

operators such as France Telecom are

able to weather a recession because we

sell mass consumer services that are

supported by a steady stream of innova-

tions and rising demand.

Staying on Course
France Telecom offers shareholders 

a uniquely attractive combination. 

As a fixed-line telephony operator,

France Telecom’s stock is a defensive

one: telephones, like other everyday

consumer products, are an essential part

Investor
Information

Lifted by euphoric expectations sur-

rounding the Internet and UMTS, 

telecom, media and technology stocks rose

to very high levels in 2000. Amidst this

general upswing, France Telecom’s stock

outperformed the overall technology sector.

Subsequently, after shedding 65.7 percent

between January 3, 2000 and December

28, 2001, our share price nonetheless 

finished 2001 above its 1997 IPO price

(182 francs, or 27.75 euros). 

Paris
Meeting with analysts 
on March 21, 2002.

Paris 
Laurence, Christine, Bertrand
and Michel choose the design
for the France Telecom booth
at the Actionaria individual
shareholder trade event.
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STAKEHOLDERS

55.5%

29.6%

3.2% 1.4%

4.3%
1.8%

4.2%

■   French state ■   Employees
■   SITA     ■   Public ■   Vodafone
■   Deutsche Telekom    ■   Treasury shares

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
(at December 31, 2001)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

CAC 40 index high * 3,094.01 4,388.48 5,958.32 6,922.33 5,998.49

CAC 40 index low * 2,256.97 2,862.54 3,958.72 5,450.11 3,652.87

France Telecom 
share price high * 33.39 74.70 131.30 219.00 99.30

France Telecom 
share price low * 30.12 33,.23 63.00 91.95 28.10

Net dividend per share 6.50 F 1 € 1 € 1 € 1 €

Net earnings
per share 2.27 2.30 2.70 3.44 – 7.51

* Closing price.
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of daily life. Swings in the economy do

not have a negative impact on traffic and

can in fact spur increases in usage.

At the same time, France Telecom is a

leader in the Internet, wireless and data,

making it a long-term growth stock.

This value is supported by ongoing tech-

nological progress, new uses and a

continually expanding customer base,

all flowing through to regular improve-

ment in profit performance. These are

competitive services, our investments

continue to yield benefits and we are

continually achieving productivity gains,

enabling the enterprise to maintain high

levels of cash flow. 

Once the aversion to telecom, media

and technology stocks has been over-

come, we are convinced that investors

will correctly see the reality of the situa-

tion and turn to operators that had the

foresight to invest in order to sustain

their leadership. Our strategy thus posi-

tions us to benefit from this turnaround. 

Contacts with 
Shareholders

France Telecom makes it easy for

shareholders to obtain information 

on the company’s strategy, including 

regular exchanges with executives. 

France Telecom counts more than 1.5

million individual investors. In addition

to the annual shareholders’ newsletter

discussing the Group’s financial results,

in October 2001 Michel Bon sent share-

holders a letter detailing our strategy

against the backdrop of the extreme

volatility that hit telecom, media and

technology stocks.

With 600,000 members, our Share-

holders’ Club reflects the interest of

individual investors in their enterprise.

The Club’s quarterly newsletter keeps

them directly informed of key events for

their Group. 

Another sign of this interest is atten-

dance at the Annual General Meeting,

which drew 2,500 shareholders last

year in Paris. Others were able to parti-

cipate via the Internet or at one of the

23 live video broadcast sites around

France.

Personal Service
People can also find out more about

France Telecom via a variety of commu-

nications channels. The corporate web-

site www.francetelecom.com features a

special individual shareholder section.

Individual shareholders can also call a

toll-free number in France for real-time

stock price information or talk to an

investor relations agent. For the third

consecutive year, this service won

awards from the call center industry. 

Institutional investors are extremely

demanding in terms of information,

and we make every effort to satisfy their

expectations. In addition to contacts

with our investor relations team, these

shareholders have opportunities to

meet with Group management during

road shows in France and other coun-

tries. France Telecom also holds quar-

terly meetings with financial analysts to

report revenues, plus meetings to

report half-year and full-year earnings.

Special conferences are held to

announce major Group developments. 

Lognes
FRANCE/ Brigitte, Sophie,
Vonny and Aurélie,
part of the Shareholder 
Services team. 

The Hague
THE NETHERLANDS/ Equant
finance specialist Daniel is on
time everywhere in the world.

1.5 million individual
investors own our
stock, and 600,000 
of them are members
of the France Telecom
Shareholders’ Club.
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In an increasingly difficult environment, the intelligence of our employees
is critical to identifying new sources of value. Alongside this aggressive
focus on performance at every level, our enterprise places high priority on
a human approach to business.

The daily professionalism and 

performance of France Telecom

employees reflects their pride in 

contributing to the success of their

company. 

Shifting Skills 
to Meet Evolving Needs

Job mobility for our employees in

France continued at a sustained pace

in 2001. About 13,800 people changed

jobs, far surpassing our objective. The

great majority of these people moved 

to strategic positions. For example, 

France Telecom began recruiting 

people for network-related technical

positions, reversing the decline

in this area in recent years. 

Mobility is facilitated by an initiative

that lets people take time off from 

their current job to pursue training 

to acquire new skills, following 

personalized audits. This innovative

program earned France Telecom 

a prestigious “Management and

Competencies” award from the 

business daily Les Echos.

In addition, the process underway 

to harmonize management practices

will make it easier for people to 

move from the parent company to 

subsidiaries. The transfer of 350 people

to subsidiaries in 2001 reflects initial

progress in this program. 

Human Resources

People Power
Amsterdam
Celine is among the 30 percent 
of the Group’s employees who
work outside France.

STAKEHOLDERS

 ■   France    ■  International   

2000 2001

148.9 145.3   

40.0 60.9

188.9
206.2

EMPLOYEES
(full-time equivalent 
at December 31, in thousands)



Alicante
SPAIN/ The Wanadoo team.
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Groupwide
Cohesion 

Employee Input Shapes 
Strategy

A recent agreement created a new

employee-management committee at

the Group level, comprising 13 union

representatives and 6 members of

management. The committee, chaired

by Michel Bon, reviews the company’s

strategy, including staffing, as well as

results. The first meeting took place 

in September 2001.

A Unifying Information 
System

In 2001, Orange France and TDF

became the first Group companies to

deploy a new human resources 

information system, already in use at

Equant. The parent company will soon

follow suit, joined by JTC in Jordan and

Uni2 in Spain. Common databases will

strengthen unity across the Group. 

Harmonizing Benefits
A system of equivalent benefits is

important to encourage mobility. 

In France, a Group insurance plan was

introduced in 2001. All French 

subsidiaries can join the plan and 

determine the share of the premium

payment covered by the company 

(between 20 and 80 percent). The plan

includes an innovative structure 

to tailor the plan to each employee’s

family situation (single, married

without children, etc.).

Sharing Best Practices
The Group supports subsidiaries 

outside France with a complete 

spectrum of human resources expertise,

such as aid in deploying information

systems, or Intranet applications for

internal recruitment. At the same time,

the subsidiaries are an invaluable

source of ideas for the parent company.

To nurture cross-fertilization a world-

wide human resources council was

created in 2001. The council meets

three times a year to share best 

practices, discuss country-specific

issues and review other subjects. 

LEVERAGING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES

From internal mobility to incentives
and profit-sharing, France Telecom’s
human resources management is an
increasingly paperless operation
thanks to our Intranet. The system
is easier and more flexible for
employees while providing mana-

gers with more efficient tools.

Krakow
POLAND/ Joanna and Agnieszka 
head for work at TP SA.

2000 2001

21
29.5

69 59.8

10
10.6

BREAKDOWN 
OF WORKFORCE
(at December 31) (in %)

■  International subsidiaries   
■  Subsidiaries in France 
■  FT SA (parent company)   
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advantage
With nearly 3,000 researchers and engineers at 11 facilities
on three continents, France Telecom R&D gives the Group 
a powerful competitive edge. With a sustained focus on
addressing customers’needs, our labs explore a variety of
astounding possibilities…

At the Heart 
of Innovation

Joining our lab in San Francisco, two

new R&D facilities were launched out-

side France, one in London (near

Orange U.K.) and one in Tokyo. These

labs will nurture ties with universities

and start-ups that have sprung up in

these new technology hubs.

An international research presence

also provides channels for pooling devel-

opments and tests. Building on com-

mon platforms, services are adapted to

the vast diversity of devices, networks

and national characteristics. 

Giving Shape 
to the Orange Vision 

In the wireless sector, R&D is trans-

forming the Orange vision – services

that are easy to use, reliable and matched

to every need – into concrete reality. 

For example, we successfully tested 

“roaming” games on cellphones that take

into account the geographic positions 

of players. Today, our labs are applying

their talents to make GPRS and UMTS 

26

Research and
Development

Competitive

STAKEHOLDERS

PATENTS FILED 
IN 2001  
bring the total to over 4,600.
Plus, 186 software applications
were registered in 2001. R&D
work generated licensing and
other revenues of 30 million
euros in 2001.

Tokyo 
FT R&D. Atsuka and Yann,
researchers who track the
Japanese market.



a technical and commercial success.

Groundbreaking services that blend

videophones, photos, texts and drawings

are also in the development pipeline.

Sharpening Internet 
Leadership

R&D is spearheading France Telecom’s

leadership in the Internet with every-

thing from software that makes it easy

for everyone to author personal home-

pages, to systems that enhance website

ergonomics by tracking eye movements.

In addition to projects with near-term

payback, our labs are readying the next-

generation Internet with “VTHD”, an

experimental “super high-speed” fiberop-

tic infrastructure. More bandwidth is

essential to boost usage, which is why

we’re working on solutions that make

higher speeds available at every level.

This means local area networks for the

home, faster access services, new fiberop-

tic, wireless and DSL applications, plus

advanced technologies at the core of our

network.

Value-Added Innovation 
Innovation creates value thanks to

revenues from the resulting services.

Equally important, innovation helps

reduce our costs, improve our processes

and generate cash from patents. 

For UMTS we’ve developed a coverage

modeling tool that allows efficient 

installation of antennas and optimum

frequency use. 

Intranets Abound
Internet applications unlock unprece-

dented ways of improving efficiency.

Our corporate Intranet, launched across

the entire company in France in 1996,

lets 90,000 people save time and share

information. Plus, this network is a 

proving ground for the solutions we 

propose to enterprises. In addition to

sophisticated security and novel naviga-

tion software, we’ve developed a desktop

videoconferencing application that is

widely used throughout the company.

We’re transforming our Intranet into 

a collaborative working medium for 

all our processes. And as the Group

expands, subsidiaries enjoy access 

to key parts of the Intranet.
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INTERNET C’EST MOI!
Some 15,000 people from the Group
met in September in Paris for the
annual France Telecom Net Company
Days, featuring 40 conferences and 
220 demonstrations and booths.
The event illustrates how the Internet
has become an intimate part of our
corporate culture. One high point 
was the “Initi@tives”awards, given
to teams whose projects best unlock
value using the Net. Forty-five 
prize-winning initiatives will soon
become an operational reality.

Chambéry 
A high-tech hostess
pitches innovation at a 
France Telecom showroom.

Issy-les-Moulineaux
FRANCE/ Laurent, one of the magicians 
at France Telecom R&D’s Creative Studio.

Rennes
FT R&D. Jean-Claude and 
his digital TV monitors.



As an integral part of the social and economic
fabric of the communities where we operate,
France Telecom pursues development that 
respects the medium- and long-term needs 
and expectations of society in general.
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Sustainable Development

A commitment to sustainable development
means solutions that improve people’s daily
lives. It means respect for the environment,
promoting employment and in general, 
nurturing positive interaction between 
social innovation and new technologies. 
An initiative known as Alizé® was launched 
in 1997 in conjunction with public and private
sector partners to create stable employment
opportunities. With the completion of the first
phase in 2001, France Telecom helped create
1,500 jobs in 11 priority areas. Today, our
regional teams are gearing up for the next
stage in the program. 
We also work with local chambers of com-
merce to support new business creation, 
helping smaller enterprises take advantage
of new technologies to spur their growth. 

New Technologies
for Better Cities
France Telecom’s 
“Multimedia Centers”
in urban areas let
schools, associations
and people of all 
ages and walks of life 

discover the Internet, multimedia and 
computers in general. 
Alone or with help from the staff, people can
connect to the Web to access local services,
starting with job offers. In 2001 more than
700,000 people took advantage of the cen-
ters. Our Régie-T subsidiary now sponsors 
32 Multimedia Centers, which have become
part of a broader government initiative to
make new technologies widely available 
to everyone. 

Simplified Access 
to Public Services
Another initiative supported by France 
Telecom since 2000 is the “PIMMS” network
of local centers that provide both social 
mediation and access to services. Volunteer

Corporate 
citizenship 

STAKEHOLDERS

advisors at these centers offer help with
everything from paying utility bills to 
preparing a job application or sending a fax. 

The Environment, 
a Daily Concern
France Telecom has begun deploying an
Environmental Management System that 
will comply with ISO 14000 standards in
order to efficiently control the impact 
of our activities on the quality of life. Our
comprehensive approach encompasses
reductions in consumption of energy 
and raw materials, creation of waste 
management programs, limiting atmospheric
emissions, integration of network infra-
structures to limit visual impact on 
landscapes, precautionary measures to
avoid any negative impact that our services
might have on health, plus creation of 
solutions that contribute to sustainable
development.
France Telecom recently published the first
environmental audit of the company’s 
activities in France. 
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France Telecom
Foundation
Ever since its creation in 1987, the France Telecom Foundation
has opened doors and brought people closer to one another.

NURTURING TALENT. In March 2001, the
Foundation and the Centre Français de 
Formation Lyrique organized the “New
Voices 2002” competition. Previous
competitions served to launch interna-
tional careers for the winners. For the
2001-2002 season, 34 cities and 43
organizations participated in prelimi-
nary auditions. 
From classical to jazz and world music,
the Foundation helps new talents grow
and share the joys of music with an
ever-widening audience. Its support
spans vocal ensembles, festivals and
recordings. It also sponsors educational
and social initiatives to help troubled
youth through music. 

AWAKENING HOPE. Autism affects 80,000
people in France. The France Telecom
Foundation is actively involved in help-
ing to improve their lives, supporting
the creation of specialized centers and
educational facilities, as well as train-

LIVE 
PERFORMANCE
France Telecom sponsors rugby,
the Tour de France bicycle race,
sailing and a host of recreational
sports. Sponsorship also means
applying innovation in fixed,
wireless and Internet services 
to let people share the excitement
of live sports events wherever 
they are.

Wanadoo and Orange also sponsor
dynamic teams in a wide range 
of sports, from sailing to soccer
(the Lens team).

FONDATION FRANCE TÉLÉCOM

SPONSORING

ing for staff, parents and volunteers. 
An association of volunteers includes
200 France Telecom employees. In May
2001, the “Support for Autism” days
mobilized 40,000 people across France.

NETWORK OF SOLIDARITY. “Net Solidarity”
is a new initiative supported by the
Foundation to promote “socially inno-
vative uses of the Internet”. One example
is an interactive CD-ROM created by 
children from underprivileged families
entitled “L’Enfant Sans Nom”, produced
by the ATD Fourth World Movement.

1,500
stable jobs were
created thanks 
to our support for
the Alizé program. 
We also support new business

creation in conjunction with

local partners.

Paris
FT employees sing along 
on stage at the Olympia
with “Les Voisins du Dessus”.
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wireless
consumer internet

consumer fixed-line services 
business services 

Be the best provider 
of comprehensive
communications 

solutions

our 
businesses
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Fixed-Line Rates
Among the Lowest
Our consumer phone rates are among the lowest
in the market thanks to innovative discount 
and all-inclusive service plans to match every
customer profile.

The Brand,
the Promise
The Orange brand is
synonymous with the
best network, the best
coverage and the best
service.

GROWTH
in Orange’s customer base in 2001.

Orange subsidiaries now have a total 

of 39.3 million customers

3,700
enterprises are customers 
of Equant, the world leader 
in global corporate services.

Internet: 
Real World
Success
Constantly growing its
audience thanks to inno-
vative services, Wanadoo 
hit breakeven, posting 
positive EBITDA in France.
EBITDA should be positive 
for the entire Wanadoo 
group in 2002.

SNAPSHOTS

+28.8%+28.8%
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With operations in 
20 countries, Orange
is focused on European
leadership.

London
King’s Road, 6:00 p.m.

IN 2000 FRANCE TELECOM ACQUIRED ORANGE. IN 2001, WE SAW THE FIRST

FRUITS OF THIS GROWTH STRATEGY. WITH 39.3 MILLION CUSTOMERS, ORANGE

IS THE NO. 2 WIRELESS OPERATOR IN EUROPE, AND NUMBER ONE IN FRANCE

AND THE U.K. THE ORANGE BRAND IS CENTRAL TO THE COMPANY’S VISION

OF EXEMPLARY QUALITY AND SERVICES THAT ARE SIMPLE AND USEFUL FOR

EVERYDAY LIVING. THE RESULTS CONFIRM THE SUCCESS OF THIS VISION.

wireless
delivering on the promise

OUR BUSINESSES



Paris
Karl, a sports communications 
specialist, helps promote the
Orange brand.
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Growth 
driver

With operations in 20 countries, Orange is head-

ing for European leadership and aims to have a 

presence in 50 countries worldwide by 2005. At the

end of 2001, Orange’s customer base in controlled

subsidiaries reached 39.3 million, a year-to-year

increase of 28.8 percent.

Orange has experienced vigorous growth. At

constant size, revenues were up 25.1 percent, EBITDA

jumped 86.3 percent and operating income quadru-

pled. Subscriber acquisition costs declined from 19.7

percent of revenues in 2000 to 13.5 percent at the

end of 2001. Capital expenditure was covered by cash

flow, which is extremely rare in the wireless industry. 

These results surpass our forecasts and underpin

our optimistic outlook. Voice services still harbor 

tremendous growth potential, especially in France.

Wireless data and multimedia services are now a 

reality with the launch of GPRS in 2002, creating

unparalleled opportunities. The availability of new

frequencies acquired with our UMTS licenses will

allow us to pursue our expansion while delivering

on the Orange vision of impeccable quality and 

continuous innovation.

Orange’s initial public offering in February 2001 attracted 1.4 million individual shareholders. The flotation
in four key European Union markets was a success that contrasted with generally depressed financial
markets. The share was priced at 10 euros, with a 0.5 euro discount for individual investors. The offering
was 2.6 times oversubscribed. Some 60,000 France Telecom and Orange employees purchased shares
in their company. Listed in Paris and London, Orange figures among Europe’s blue chip stocks today.

1.4 million individual shareholders

➫

STOCK MARKET

■   France   ■   U.K.   
■   Rest of World  

1999* 2000 2001

3,202

10,051

4,894
6,356

14,311

9,834

9,061

12,387

17,823

18,148

30,501

39,271

ORANGE CUSTOMER BASE
(in thousands)

* pro forma
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On June 21, 2001, the Itineris, Ola and Mobicarte brands in France were rebranded Orange. 
For Orange France, the largest of our subsidiaries (17.8 million customers at the end of 2001), 
it was no easy feat replacing successful brands with a new name that was relatively unknown 
in France at the time. We successfully launched the new brand thanks to an intensive media
campaign, and 90 percent of French consumers now recognize Orange. The rebranding initiative
won awards and recognition from both the telecom and advertising industries. 

From Itineris to Orange
BRANDING

Best network, best coverage, best service. The com-

mitment behind the Orange brand is eloquently

simple. And it’s very good news for customers as the

brand is rolled out across Europe. 

Orange is the only operator in the world with such

strong brand recognition, equivalent to top consumer

products. 

But not just anyone is branded Orange. Before 

becoming part of the Orange family our subsidiaries

need to achieve best-in-class service quality and 

network coverage. Both France and Denmark were

rebranded in 2001. After Thailand, next up are subsid-

iaries in Romania, Slovakia, Ivory Coast and Came-

roon. They will subsequently be joined by Dutch-

tone in the Netherlands and Mobistar in Belgium. 

A Brand
for Europe

The name change is not of course an end in itself.

Orange also means championing the brand’s values

each and every day. These values – Trust, Honesty,

Effectiveness, Fun, Inspiration, Results, Teamwork

and Simplicity – are not just words, but rather the

principles that guide every decision, offer and contact

with customers. 

AROUND THE WORLD IN OVER 
110 COUNTRIES

Orange has controlling interests in subsidiaries

in France, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, Belgium,

the Netherlands, Denmark, Sweden, Romania and

Slovakia. Added to this are minority interests in

operators in Germany, Austria, Italy and Portugal. As

a result, Orange can boast a truly seamless European

wireless network. Alliances and reciprocal capacity

sharing agreements further expand this network. 

There is an immense potential market outside

Europe, too, and we’re present in Africa, India, 

Thailand and the Caribbean. In total, Orange has

operating interests in 20 countries today, and we

aim to have a presence in 50 countries by 2005. 

For intrepid travelers we have roaming agreements

covering more than 230 networks in 110 countries.

➫

“Orange’s 
corporate values
guide everyday
actions”

Brussels
Photo shoot with Jacques,
marketing director at Mobistar.

Paris
10 p.m., Orange headquarters.

wireless
OUR BUSINESSES
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Utrecht
Dutchtone, a smiling welcome 
from Carin.

Copenhagen
The Orange brand 
in the heart of the city.
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Massive investments in networks are directly reflect-

ed in the satisfaction of our customers.

COVERING THE COUNTRY
Quality starts with coverage. In the United King-

dom, our 8,752 transmitters cover 99.3 percent of

the population. Site development continues to further

improve service, especially for rural areas, taking

into account direct feedback from our customers. 

In France, Orange has made a commitment to cover

the entire country within two years, compared with 

98 percent at the end of 2001. This will entail an

additional 100 million euros in investments to

increase network density in rural areas.

At the end of last year, Orange Denmark covered

96 percent of the population and 92 percent of the

country. In the Netherlands, Dutchtone is pursuing

aggressive quality efforts ahead of the transition to the

Orange brand. 

CONCRETE RESULTS
The success of the Orange promise can be seen

in the numbers. For the fourth consecutive year, in

2001 a survey by J. D. Power and Associates ranked

Orange number one in customer satisfaction in the

U.K. In France, business daily Les Echos and the call

center magazine Centres d’Appel both rate us first in

customer service. 

Quality is an
obsession

REAL-TIME SUPERVISION
Orange France has set up a nationwide 
network supervision center in Lyon. Wall 
displays instantly show the least incident.
Control screens locate the source of alerts,
and calls are immediately rerouted should 
a segment fail. Orange plans to have
250 people staffing the center by the 

end of 2002.

London
The Media Center team
celebrates success.

Bangkok
Tiranee of the Orange CP
creative team.

The Hague 
Dutchtone. Walter up high 
for maintenance work.

wireless
OUR BUSINESSES



Orange has eschewed an organization based on
centralized departments to better exploit the strengths
of our different subsidiaries. In all key areas, people at
the same level cooperate under the responsibility of
those who have demonstrated the best performance. 
These Centers of Excellence include France for tech-
nology and business solutions, the U.K. for customer
care and Belgium for pan-European solutions. You could
say it’s our contribution to European construction. 

Centers of Excellence
PERFORMANCE SPOTLIGHT

Giving you access to a suite of services to help you

in every aspect of your day-to-day life, Orange trans-

forms the cellphone into a veritable “remote control

for life”. 

Exciting new ways to use mobile phones are already

emerging. While the future will largely be shaped

by data-based applications, the growth potential for

voice services remains extremely robust. In fact, wire-

less voice services will eventually surpass fixed-line

services, as is already the case in France. Simple

enhancements will trigger substantial leaps in usage.

Since 2001, for example, our mobile voicemail lets

people automatically call back someone who left a

message. 

BOOMING SMS TRAFFIC
Even before the rollout of GPRS, wireless data had

already been big thanks to the incredibly simple SMS

function. In Switzerland and the U.K., these short text

messages already account for more than 10 percent

of network revenues, and other countries are following

Life services

the same trend. In addition to their convenience for

person-to-person communications – hugely popular

among young people – SMS messages underpin a

variety of information services. In the U.K., customers

register their interests on a voice server to automati-

cally receive the latest sports results, movies, stock

market and other information.

The rollout of this service in August 2001 led to a

surge in traffic. SMS is thriving in France too, stim-

ulated by extremely attractive service packages. An ave-

rage of 126 million SMS messages are sent each

month. A wide selection of special-interest channels

– health, cars, etc. – are available via SMS, the 711

interactive voice response service and the orange.fr

WAP portal.

THE WORLD IS ALWAYS WITH YOU
The explosive growth of SMS points the way to the

data-rich future of wireless phones. Our universal

“remote control” will eventually provide everyone

with convenient access to information and services

at any time, from anywhere. As personal appliances

that are always at your fingertips, cellphones are ideal

for delivering these services. The smart cards in the

phones ensure excellent security, including for bank

transactions. It’s hardly surprising that 97 percent of

our customers in Denmark have shown confidence

in our mobile payment solution, while only 45 percent

are comfortable paying via the Internet, according

to a survey done in 2001. ➫

Hatfield
UNITED KINGDOM / The home 
of the future from Orange.

A “remote
control for life”
for access 
to everyday 
services.
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Bratislava
SLOVAKIA / Globtel‘s

Martina adds credit to her
mobile account.

■   France   ■   U.K. 

2nd-half 2000    1st-half 2001  2nd-half 2001

410

1,124

686

1,720

832

2,120

SMS MESSAGES IN FRANCE AND THE UK  
(millions of messages)
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Orange taps innovation at the source, wherever that might be. 
In Boston and London, Orange Imagineering teams bring us
insights into customer expectations and forward-looking 
technologies. Through the Orange Partners Forum, leading 
vendors help us develop the software and products that will 
make our vision a reality. And France Telecom R&D researchers
continue to provide powerful input to lead us into the future. 

Innovation Beyond Borders
R&D

As the mobile multimedia era unfolds in 2002,

our focus will continue to be on high quality and

useful services.

In 2001 we added UMTS licenses in Belgium,

Denmark, France and Poland. Our 11 subsidiaries in

Western Europe, plus TP SA in Poland, are ready for

the introduction of third-generation wireless. On

October 23 we demonstrated the world’s first UMTS

voice, data and video calls on our experimental network

in Paris. 

LOWER LICENSE FEES
Acquiring these new frequencies was the only way

to guarantee continual improvements in the services

we offer, with even better quality in areas where avail-

able spectrum is simply not sufficient. The prices

we paid for these licenses were reasonable with two

exceptions, the U.K. and Germany. In France, the

government decided to lower the license fees, creat-

ing conditions that will favor development of the

market.  

A bright future
THE MULTIMEDIA REVOLUTION

In May 2001 businesses in Belgium were among

the first to discover the benefits of high-speed mobile

data. GPRS offers more bandwidth and volume-linked

rates, which is better adapted to multimedia calls.

We have deployed GPRS networks across Europe in

preparation of impending service launches. The intro-

duction of UMTS, planned for 2003, will introduce

even higher speeds and make full-motion video and

high-quality sound a reality on our wireless handsets.

Simple, useful services that take advantage of these

technologies are already under development at our

laboratories. We’re building a sophisticated platform

to deliver these services, as well as third-party infor-

mation services. 

SHARED TRIALS
To take advantage of groupwide cost synergies, we

have consolidated purchasing and selected three

UMTS suppliers for the entire Group: Alcatel, Ericsson

and Nokia. They have provided trial network equip-

ment in France, Germany and the United Kingdom.

The results of tests in these countries will be shared

across the Group.

“In May, our 
Belgian customers
became the first 
to benefit from
mobile data.”

Brussels
Bernard, Mobistar manager
and customer.

Bristol
UNITED KINGDOM / Suhail 
tests next-generation mobiles.

wireless
OUR BUSINESSES
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Issy-les-Moulineaux
FRANCE / Brainstorming phones 
of the future at FT R&D.

Copenhagen
Orange. Jesper 
demonstrates 
a handsfree kit.
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Wanadoo is the leader
in France and 
the U.K., with more
than 6 million active 
customers in Europe.

IN THE WORLD OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES, IT SEEMS THAT MANY ARE CALLED, BUT ONLY

A FEW REALLY DELIVER. WITH WANADOO, ALREADY ONE OF THE TOP THREE PLAYERS

IN EUROPE, FRANCE TELECOM IS A LEADER IN THE INTERNET AND DIRECTORIES.

Consumer
internet

Delivering audience

Amsterdam
Euronet, a little downtime 
for Massimo.

OUR BUSINESSES



Madrid
The Kompass team.

Casablanca
The Maroc Connect portal.
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We aim to generate a return on our investments by

constantly growing our audience and winning people

over thanks to a steady stream of innovative uses. This

is a businesses where focused professionalism is critical,

where it’s hard to gain real experience overnight, and

where true expertise is rare. Our strategy is anchored

in a profitable business model. We have already achiev-

ed positive EBITDA for our activities in France, and

this key metric should be positive for the entire Wanadoo

group in 2002. 

WELCOME FREESERVE
Freeserve joined Wanadoo at the beginning of March

2001, following the completion of a friendly takeover.

By integrating the U.K.’s top Internet service provider,

we took a major step towards achieving our objective

of European leadership. The combination of Wanadoo

and our partners Freenet, Infostrada and Clix now

makes us one of Europe’s top Internet companies. In

just a year, the share of international revenues rose

from 6 percent to 15 percent. One-third of Wanadoo’s

workforce – 2,300 people – work outside France

GOLD, SILVER AND BRONZE
Wanadoo had more than 6 million active customers

at the end of 2001, mainly in France (3 million) and

the U.K. (2.2 million). We are number three in Spain,

number four in the Netherlands, number five in 

Belgium, and also operate in Morocco. The objective

is to reach 8 million active Internet customers in

2002 and 10 million in 2003. Most important, we aim

to be among the top players everywhere we operate. 

7,0007,000
PEOPLE 
WORK AT WANADOO, ONE-THIRD
OF THEM OUTSIDE FRANCE

A profitable
business
model 

■  France   ■  International   ■ United Kingdom

June 
2000

December 
2000

June
2001

December
2001

January
2002

1,380

505

1 830

610

2,326

2,033

665

3,001

2,244

822

3,103

846

2,421

1,885

2,440 

5,024

6,067
6 370

WANADOO SUBSCRIBER BASE  
IN EUROPE (in thousands)
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Wanadoo offers an entire world of services. Our por-

tals feature an array of communications tools – email,

chatrooms and newsgroups – plus information and

practical services. 

In 2001, a full 65 percent of all French Internet

users visited our sites at least once a month. Our

Useful, everyday
services

performance and quality have led to a string of awards

too. The search engine on our voila.fr portal was

named “2001 Search Engine of the Year” in an Ipsos-

Médiangles survey of 4,000 Net users. In addition to

its 50,000 information pages, Wanadoo.fr is far and

away the leader in chatroom popularity. Goa is not

only the top gaming portal in France, but also boasts

the richest content and user loyalty among our broad-

band sites. Pages Jaunes is the undisputed cham-

pion in directories, while Kompass is number one in

business directories. Last but not least, Mappy is the

leading route-finder site.

WELCOME TO THE CLUB
The Wanadoo proposition includes discussion

forums, information services, guides and theme 

channels on travel, entertainment, games, culture,

education, news, sports, finance and more. Our sites

and portals also propose free email accounts, instant

messaging – including video for people with webcams

– and a wide variety of tools to personalize our custom-

ers’ pages. After people register on “Mon Voila”, they

just connect to see the local weather, favorite sections,

or account information. “Mon Journal Wanadoo” and

“My Freeserve” propose similar customized content on

their respective portals. All are regularly enhanced

with new offerings

Amsterdam
Ivar and Pier, part of the 
Wanadoo team in Holland.

Dakar
A mobile promotion for Sentoo,
Sonatel’s Internet portal.

consumer
internet 

OUR BUSINESSES
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Books account for more than a quarter of all online sales on the Web worldwide. In addition
to books, our e-tailer Alapage offers music, movies and other entertainment and leisure
products. The site booked 201,000 orders in December 2001, up from 83,000 a year earlier,
representing growth of 143 percent. Marcopoly, another of our sites, is a leader in online
sales of household and electronics goods. This sector harbors fabulous growth potential, 
as e-commerce in France is far from a mature market: only 12 percent of French consumers
made online purchases this year, compared with 33 percent in the United States.

Enormous growth potential
E-COMMERCE

NOMADIC INTERNET
In addition to PCs, these portals can be accessed

from other devices as well. France Telecom R&D has

developed technology that lets us automatically adapt

information to the screen on a personal data assistant,

for example. In 2002 these services will begin to be

available on mobile phones thanks to the higher

speeds offered by Orange GPRS solutions. People

will also find it easier to connect via home networks,

or log on via public access points that implement

Bluetooth short-distance wireless network technology.

Plan a trip, play games or share information with

someone half-way around the world. The Internet

changes everything, and Wanadoo is leading inno-

vation for new uses.

EUROPE IS JUST A CLICK AWAY
WITH MAPPY

Say you want to go to Place de l’Opéra in Paris.

The Mappy routefinder site shows you the best way

to get there at the click of a mouse. You can display

a map of the neighborhood and zoom in on the exact

address. Based on new vectoral mapping technology,

this application is already available for major French

cities and will soon cover the entire country, plus

part of Spain. Mappy is the top French website for

route planning and travel information. 

GOA GAMING ROOM
Web users definitely like to play, and the Goa gaming

site is experiencing annual traffic growth in excess of

30 percent. In fact, volumes are already equivalent to

one-quarter of the traffic on the popular Minitel service.

The site features everything from brainteasers and

downloadable card games to full-fledged adventure

games linked to CD-ROMs. The virtual universe of

the “Fourth Prophecy” counts 200,000 members. You

can also play chess or join a massively multiplayer

game like the “Dark Age of Camelot”– 70,000 people

have purchased this game pack since it was launched

in the U.K., France and Germany. With input from

France Telecom R&D, Wanadoo will introduce games

in 2002 capable of integrating tens of thousands 

of players in parallel worlds that evolve according to 

participants’ personal fantasies. Wanadoo is number

one in video game sales and the exclusive co-producer

and distributor of the popular “Dark Age of Camelot”

in France.

Rich content

➫

Ivry
FRANCE / Chloé gets a
Christmas order ready 
for shipping.
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Issy-les-Moulineaux
FRANCE / Online games at Goa.

Alicante
SPAIN / Angel and Béatriz, Wanadoo
network supervisors in Spain.

consumer
internet 

OUR BUSINESSES
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France Telecom Cable had 143,000 customers in Europe at the end of January 2002 and 30 percent of the
French market. It offers Wanadoo’s broadband cable service to 45,000 customers. The problems this sector
faced in France are now behind it as our subsidiary swings to profit. Digital cable TV will take off in 2002 as
new alternatives to digital terrestrial TV are introduced.

TV and Internet via Cable
CABLE

With ADSL and cable, broadband revolutionizes

the Internet experience, and we’re doing everything

to make sure people everywhere can enjoy this new

dimension of surfing comfort. 

Broadband means webpages displayed in seconds,

or live radio and real-time video. 

France Telecom is leading the ADSL rollout in

France: the technology was available to 66 percent of the

population at the end of 2001. Our Netissimo offer 

targets both consumers and small businesses, who are

free to choose any ISP with their broadband connection.

Rolling out
broadband

Wanadoo now has 370,000 ADSL customers in

France. This success is largely due to the popular

eXtense all-inclusive package, with an optional self-

installing modem. The package has earned extremely

high customer satisfaction ratings, and 93 percent of

users say they would recommend eXtense to friends.

Wanadoo has developed a complete portfolio of high-

speed services for these aficionados, with broadband

channels featuring movies, music, sports, fashion,

comedy, celebrities and more. 

In Belgium, where 25 percent of Internet users

already have broadband connections, Wanadoo ADSL

signed up 10,000 customers since its launch in

June. In the Netherlands, where our ADSL solutions

cover the entire country, 12,000 subscribers have

signed up. 

Our ADSL offer has only been available in Spain

since September, but had already won 13,000 

customers by the end of 2001. These are extremely

encouraging figures since the market remains

well below the penetration levels seen in Northern

Europe. ➫

“93% of our 
eXtense broadband 
customers would
recommend it to
others.”

Drancy
FRANCE / Fabrice can tell you
everything about broadband.

■   ADSL   ■   Cable  

June 
2000

December 
2000

June 
2001

December
2001

January
2002

78 88

55

111

 159 

137

408

143

452
98

143 

270

545 595

BROADBAND SUBSCRIBERS IN EUROPE (in thousands)
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Three-quarters of Wanadoo's revenues come from business services. We serve 600,000 business 
customers, including small office/home office operations who choose Wanadoo as their ISP because of our
straightforward, cost-efficient solutions. Small businesses can also call on Pages Jaunes to create their
website, as 30,000 of them have already done. In addition to hosting, we propose sophisticated business-
building solutions. The Wanadoo Pro Solo offer includes email, address books and shared agendas. 
Wanadoo Pro Group provides small Intranets for single sites. And wanadoo.net is the French leader in
domain name registration. 

Pros serving pros
SOLUTIONS

“Our directories
business is growing
in both size and
profitability.”
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Directories are another robust Wanadoo business,

spanning Web, Minitel and paper versions. We aim

to be one of the top two directory providers in Europe

as of 2003. 

Pages Jaunes is already the leading directory in

France. Thirteen percent of Web users in France visit

our pagesjaunes.fr site at least once a month (source:

Nielsen survey, end December 2001), both from home

and work. The number of online advertisers has increas-

ed by about 50 percent and revenues have climbed

10 percent. The Kompass business directory features

exceptionally rich content, listing 1.5 million businesses

around the world. Electronic directories have not

meant the end of paper either, as our revamped print

directories continue to attract new advertisers and

are more popular than ever among users. 

ONGOING INTERNATIONAL 
EXPANSION

Wanadoo achieved an important milestone in April

2001 with the consolidation of Indice Multimedia.

Founded just three years ago, this company is now the

second-largest directory publisher in Spain. It contin-

ued to grow in 2001, issuing 75 different editions, 

50 percent more than the previous year.

Wanadoo’s international expansion has been accom-

panied by rising profitability for Pages Jaunes in

France, as the EBITDA margin for this segment climb-

ed 3.5 points. What’s more, directories delivered on

their promise of performance despite a 15-percent

hike in the cost of paper in France. 

Directories
live up 
to promise

Sèvres
FRANCE / Valérie and a Pages Jaunes
directory “courier”.

■  Pages Jaunes – Paper, France      ■  Pagesjaunes.fr France   
■  QDQ Paper, Spain   

2000  2001

504

135
64

512

202

100

DIRECTORIES: INCREASE IN NUMBER  
OF ADVERTISERS (in thousands)

consumer
internet 

OUR BUSINESSES



IN FRANCE,
No.2 IN SPAIN
WANADOO AIMS TO BE ONE OF THE
TOP TWO DIRECTORY PROVIDERS IN
EUROPE

No.1No.1

France Telecom is a trailblazer in online kiosk solu-

tions that turn information and content into money-

spinning services. The Internet provides excellent

opportunities for us to leverage our expertise and

rejuvenate this proven business model. 

The principle is simple: we bill for information

services and pay the service providers a portion of

the fee. Ten years ago we invented this system with

the Minitel kiosk. This has allowed us to fine-tune the

payment and fee-sharing process, as well as equally

complex privacy and ethics issues. Today our “online

sales office” has solutions for billing users on all

types of devices, charging according to duration or per

transaction. Charges can be included on the custo-

Information
please

Ghor Al-Mazrah
JORDAN / Jordan Telecom’s traveling
exhibit introduces people to the Internet
under a tent.

mers’ phone bill, Orange wireless bill, ISP account or

debited from credit cards.

The kiosk model is easily adapted to the Minitel, PCs

connected via dial-up phone lines, or the Internet. With

the W-HA micropayment solution people can easily make

small purchases on line, such as rights to listen to Inter-

net audio. A new “bill-per-usage” kiosk solution will

soon be available to ISPs to enable billing of Web users

for a variety of services.

Pay services are developed on the Wanadoo W-HA plat-

form. Transaction-based payment has become the stan-

dard in France, and Wanadoo will introduce duration-

based payment in April.

47
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“ADSL was available 
to 66% of the people
in France at the end 
of 2001.”

Consumer
fixed-line services

New fixed services
“YOU’LL BE AMAZED AT EVERYTHING YOUR PHONE CAN DO.”FRANCE TELECOM IS DELIVERING ON

THIS PROMISE WITH INNOVATIVE SERVICES, STABILIZING OUR SHARE IN A FIERCELY COMPETITIVE

MARKET. THE INTERNET BOOM HAS INTRODUCED FRESH VIGOR IN THE FIXED-LINE SEGMENT,
ESPECIALLY FOR BROADBAND SERVICES.

Alpe d’Huez
FRANCE / Michel, Hubert 
and Roland on a high-altitude 

service call.

OUR BUSINESSES



Until recently, fixed-line competition was primarily

in the long-distance market. Customers can choose

their operator by either automatic preselection or call-

by-call. Some customers have opted for preselection

to systematically use competing operators for long-

distance calls. On January 1, 2002, competition was

introduced for local calls. This has spurred our efforts

to develop new uses for the phone while making our

offers more attractive than ever before. 

This strategy led to the launch of new rate plans,

which received an enthusiastic welcome from custom-

ers in 2001. The results are now being felt as we 

ceased losing long-distance market share in the middle

of the year. Consumers are thinking beyond short-

lived trends, opting instead for reliable quality, local

service and attractive rates. France Telecom’s success

is proof that an incumbent operator can also lead the

market in innovation. Indeed, “plain old telephone

service” has quite a few forward-looking surprises to

offer. In addition to carrying voice, copper-wires

become turbo-charged information pipelines thanks

to ADSL technology. 

Domestic broadband service really took off in 2001.

This is clearly the future of the fixed-line network,

which remains the Group’s primary source of cash. 

France Telecom has always been recognized for our

service quality. Today we’re also sharpening our 

competitiveness by offering customers some of the

lowest rates in the market. Our innovative service

plans and options are simple and straightforward, too,

as we lead the market to the benefit of consumers. 

Two recent offers, the “Heures Locales” local call

service and supersaver Option Plus plan have proved

tremendously popular. Our customers now enjoy

simple service options that guarantee France 

Telecom’s lowest rates – often the cheapest in the 

market – for all their calls. Another very promising

option that is being tested proposes unlimited calls to

any three numbers in France, an ideal way for people

to keep in touch with family and friends in other cities.

Innovative
rates

IN THE PARIS SUBURB OF BAGNOLET, technicians at the International Network Supervision
Center continuously track traffic information from France and overseas. Wireless, fixed
and Internet traffic data is scrutinized by teams poised to take corrective measures or
send maintenance teams into action. To avoid problems, for example, they anticipate 
traffic peaks due to holidays or tragic events. 

IN THE EYE OF A HURRICANE. Our maintenance teams can always be counted on to get
phone service back up and running, restoring communications lifelines for populations 
hit by natural disasters, from floods in Brittany to an earthquake in El Salvador or the 
hurricane that ravaged La Réunion and Mauritius. 

Traffic watch
NETWORK

Competition
sparks
performance

➫
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LOCAL LINE AND 
LOCAL CALL SERVICE

Introduced in November 2000, “Ma Ligne Locale”

is an all-inclusive package that covers installation

and maintenance, local call time, voice mail and a

choice of call waiting, call transfer or caller ID. Two

million people had signed up for this package at the

end of 2001. French competition authorities required

France Telecom to stop marketing the offer in mid-

December, ruling that it combined a service that was

now open to competition (local calls) with line 

installation, where France Telecom enjoys a de facto

dominant position. A new and equally attractive offer

dubbed “Heures Locales” was introduced at the 

beginning of January 2002.

OPTION PLUS
For 1.5 euros a month, “Option Plus” lets custo-

mers benefit from France Telecom’s lowest rates for

all call destinations, whether domestic and interna-

tional long-distance or fixed-to-wireless calls. With

this option, launched in September 2001, national

long-distance calls cost just .038 euros a minute, 24

hours a day, seven days a week. 

THREE UNLIMITED CALL NUMBERS
Introduced in November, this option was tested for

six months. It lets people call any three numbers in

France between midnight Friday and midnight Sunday

for as long as they want for just 3 euros a month.

Some 84,000 customers had signed up for the service

at the end of last year. The option reflects customer

expectations for phone services that offer pleasure

and freedom.

Paris
Patricia and Béatrice 
ready the “Three Unlimited
Calls”campaign.

Warsaw
Kornélia and Agata from 
the new TP SA.

La Réunion
Frank heads for the heights.

consumer
fixed-line
services

OUR BUSINESSES
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GROWTH IN THREE REPRESENTATIVE  
SERVICES (in millions of customers)

■   My Favorite Number  ■   Voicemail  ■   Caller ID
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The growth in wireless phones has naturally led to a decline 
in the use of public phones. These phones, which are available 
to customers of competing operators, nevertheless play an 
important role in guaranteeing universal service. Improved 
management procedures have reduced maintenance costs for
payphones. France Telecom also consolidated its position as 
the leader in prepaid phone cards, with 35 percent of the market.

Card-operated payphones
SERVICES

“Over 3 million people
had Top Message 
voicemail at the end 
of 2001.”

Ever since the invention of the telephone, enabling

two people to talk with one another has been easy.

Today the challenge is letting people be reached 

when they want, with maximum convenience. This

is precisely where our sophisticated phones and 

services come in.

Our basic service makes it easy to maintain contact

even when you’re out or busy (last call return, automatic

callback), set up a three-way call and keep track of your

phone budget. The basic plan includes ten free 

services, plus of course access to our high-quality

network. 

TIME IS MONEY
One of the most popular basic services is our Top

Message voicemail, which doubled the number of

users in 2001 to more than 3 million at the end of

Telephone
intelligence 

December. This growth should accelerate with the

impending launch of new features. Our objective is

to win 7 million customers by the end of 2002.

Thanks to Top Message, busy signals or phones that

never answer are a thing of the past. This saves time

for our customers and creates efficiency gains on

our network, which is why the service is economically

viable.

DIGITAL CORDLESS ELEGANCE
In the era of nomadism, even home phones 

are cordless and digital. The DECT standard is the

domestic equivalent of the GSM wireless system. 

We increased our share of this market in 2001, led

by two high-end products. The Amarys 3400 phone

combines stylish design with an array of sophisticated

features. Up to seven handsets can be used with the

base station. The Amarys 3600 includes an answer-

ing machine, distinctive ringing for different callers,

one-key access to different services, and even voice-

activated calls to numbers stored in the directory. ➫

Paris
Christine, Georges and 
Thierry promote the 
“communicating house”.



We continue to nurture close relationships with consumer associations and AFUTT, an association of French 
telecommunications users. A new work group was formed in 2001 to assess Internet-related issues, mirroring 
the wireless work group that has met for the past two years. These groups provide an operational extension of
consultative meetings organized throughout the year.
France Telecom’s National Consumer Protection Office arbitrates claims. This unit received the first Service 
Commitment certificate, awarded in July at the request of consumer associations. 

Listening closely to consumers
DIALOGUE
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“After-sales service” is more than just a slogan at

France Telecom sales offices. We make it a point to

take good care of customers before and during sales,

which explains why our distribution network is the

most popular channel for telecom solutions among

French consumers. This focus on customer service –

which includes making these solutions available when

and where people want them at attractive prices –

transforms consumers into loyal customers for all the

Group’s products.

LONG-TERM RELATIONSHIPS
Our sales outlets underwent a major transforma-

tion in 2001 to meet the challenge of more intense

competition. Selling is no longer enough – we need

to earn the loyalty of our customers by making life

easier for them. France Telecom’s 650 sales offices

offer a complete portfolio of services, spanning fixed,

wireless and Internet solutions, all at competitive

costs. Our sales associates take time to listen closely

to people to help them choose the services and rate

plans that best match their needs. 

OPTIMIZED DISTRIBUTION
Just having the biggest distribution network in

France is not enough: we also want it to be the most

efficient one. This means locating outlets close to

Seasoned
sales advisors 

Flins
FRANCE / Convenience
is key to sales office 
locations.

customers and giving them a warm, welcoming design.

Customer care was a key focus for our distribution 

network in 2001 as we improved inventory manage-

ment and processes, adapted business hours to meet

consumers’ expectations, and lowered operating costs.

France Telecom sales offices embody the quality 

guarantee we offer customers. The sales network will

continue to evolve, including moving outlets to make

them easily accessible to customers. Regardless of

the distribution channel, the overriding priority will

remain impeccable quality service. 

AROUND THE CLOCK
We want our customers to have access to our solu-

tions wherever they are. Through our distribution part-

ners, for example, customers can purchase a Mobi-

carte pay-as-you-go wireless card at streetcorner

newsstands, or buy a phone in a mall. Several thousand

computer stores began marketing Wanadoo products

in 2001. And for basic needs – information, checking

bills, ordering products for home delivery, changing ser-

vice plans – people don’t even have to leave their home.

In addition to our customer service desks (1014 for

sales and 1013 for product support), people enjoy round-

the-clock service thanks to the Web and the “3000”

interactive voice response system. In 2001 this ser-

vice received 13 million calls and booked 260,000

orders. Phone and Web channels were instrumental in

the sales success of our ADSL packs. And with 8 mil-

lion visits, our www.francetelecom.com website is one

of the top e-commerce sites in France.

consumer
fixed-line
services

OUR BUSINESSES
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➫

Our network policy is decidedly simple: continue

to offer more and more services at the lowest costs.

TRAFFIC CONTINUES TO CLIMB
New uses, led by the Internet, and rising volumes

of data exchanges continue to stimulate sustained

traffic growth. In three years, traffic on the access

network in France has doubled and is expected to

triple in the next three years. Our core telephone 

network experienced growth of 20 percent in 2001.

And traffic on the IP network – data and Internet –

tripled in France while doubling internationally.

NON-STOP MODERNIZATION
Telephone switches are essential to delivering

high-performance services at efficient cost, which

is why virtually all our switches today feature state-

of-the-art technology. We are progressively replacing

Networks at 
the core of  
competitive-
ness

previous-generation equipment unable to accom-

modate certain services with modern units. When

this program is completed at the end of 2002, the

number of switches will have dropped from 900 to

600. 

PURCHASING SYNERGIES
Group companies around the world benefit from

integrated purchasing policies, resulting in lower

costs, thanks to a proactive global policy. This spans

telephone switches, high-bandwidth wireless stations,

signaling equipment, UMTS infrastructures and

more. 

Rome
Maintenance holds no secrets
for Federica.

LOCAL SWITCHES READY
FOR UNBUNDLING

Nine operators requested access to unbundled
local services in 2001. We installed 105 rooms
at our switching facilities for deployment of
their equipment. This represents a potential
of 4.7 million lines available to competitors.



The quality of our information system underpins our superior customer service, which is why we’ve built
a truly customer-centric system. Taking advantage of Internet and smart card technologies, complete 
customer information is available to support staff using standard browser software. This ensures secure
access to data, both by nomadic sales staff and customers themselves. Solutions developed for the parent
company are tailored to local needs for deployment by different Group subsidiaries

A unifying information system
CUSTOMER CARE

At the end of 2001, ADSL broadband service was

available to 66 percent of the French population. 

This coverage reflects our commitment as a leading

Internet company to promoting technology that literally

revolutionizes the way people use the Net.

ADSL was deployed on a massive scale throughout

last year as part of a 500 million euro investment

program between 2001 and 2003. By the end of 2002

ADSL: the
broadband
boom
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ADSL connections will be accessible to 73 percent

of our customers.

In fact, our broadband offer anticipated demand,

and it was not until July, when regulatory authorities

gave the green light to lower rates, that the market

really took off. During the second half of 2001 the

number of connections jumped from 183,000 to

430,000 and should surpass one million in 2002. To

meet this target we’re making it easier for people to

sign up for broadband connections at mass retail

outlets or via competing ISPs. 

With ADSL there are no limits on connection time

or the volume of data that can be transferred – every-

thing is included in a flat monthly rate. What’s more,

your regular phone line remains available even 

when you’re connected. Consumers can of course

choose any ISP, either the market leader Wanadoo or

a competitor. Most customers opt for the simple kit 

that they can install themselves. 

Best of all is the quality, since guaranteed access

speeds are respected with this service. 

Paris
Bastien and Isabelle design
broadband offers.

1999 2000 2001

5,000

69,000

430,000

ADSL 
CONNECTIONS 

consumer
fixed-line
services
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Poland expects to become a full-fledged member

of the European Union in the near term. Its 39 million

citizens and buoyant economy make the country a 

cornerstone of Central Europe. The incumbent 

carrier, Telecomunikacja Polska S.A., or TP SA, aims

to figure among the best in class in Europe, in terms

of both service quality and productivity. France 

Telecom is directly involved in the operation of TP SA. 

France Telecom has been active in Poland for ten

years through a stake in wireless operator Centertel. 

In July 2000 we acquired an equity interest in

Centertel’s parent company TP SA as part of a consor-

tium formed with a Polish partner. In September

2001 the consortium increased its stake to 47.5 percent,

increasing France Telecom’s interest to just under

34 percent. The Polish state has granted the consor-

tium an option to acquire majority control of the

company before the end of 2002. 

The Polish operator has already emerged as the

most powerful telecom company in Central Europe,

Poland embraces
Europe

with revenues of 4.7 billion euros and operating

income of 540 million euros. The TP SA fixed network

had 10.4 million subscribers at the end of 2001. 

In the wireless market, Centertel did not acquire

a GSM license until 1997, while competing services

were launched in 1995. The subsidiary has quickly

overcome this initial disadvantage and had 2.8 million

customers at the end of 2001, giving it 28 percent of

the market, up from 24 percent in 2000. Centertel

enjoys an excellent outlook with the scheduled rollout

of GPRS in 2002, followed by UMTS. The company

acquired a third-generation license for 650 million

euros, with payment stretched over a 20-year period.

With support from France Telecom, TP SA has

accelerated initiatives to sharpen its competitiveness,

spearheaded by 40 priority change projects pursued

in 2001. In addition to network modernization, this

included work methods, marketing, rates policy, the

product portfolio, human resources, Internet and

new technologies. 

Warsaw
TP SA, Pawel and Dariusz install 
new-generation payphones.

Warsaw 
TP SA, a business services
team.
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“As Central Europe’s 
top operator, TP SA 
is re-engineering with
40 change initiatives.”



We support our customers everywhere across the

globe, delivering value-added solutions that go far

beyond basic pipelines. 

Last year saw decisive milestones in our corpo-

rate solutions segment. After acquiring 100 percent

of Global One in early 2000, we finalized the pur-

chase of Equant in June 2001. The two companies

were then combined to create a world leader in

global IP and data services for multinational busi-

nesses. Equant is present in 220 countries and ter-
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Value-added and 
network services 
represent 23 percent 
of revenues from 
corporate customers.

Business
solutions across the globe

WHAT DO BUSINESSES NEED MOST IN THE INTERNET AGE? TELECOM SOLUTIONS

THAT ARE SIMPLE, POWERFUL, RELIABLE. SOLUTIONS THAT COVER EVERY NEED,
WHEREVER THEY OPERATE AROUND THE WORLD. FRANCE TELECOM IS UNIQUELY

POSITIONED TO PROVIDE THESE SERVICES.

ritories, giving the Group coverage of nearly the

entire planet. 

Our portfolio of solutions is equally vast, address-

ing the requirements of every type of business and

industry. We help our customers create value with 

efficient communications resources for fluid infor-

mation flows both inside and outside their organi-

zation. Value-added or network services represent 23

percent of revenues from corporate customers, and

this share will reach nearly 50 percent in 2004. 

Paris
TDF/Globecast. Experts
discuss a custom-tailored
solution.

OUR BUSINESSES



As enterprises stretch their international reach and the Internet brings the world closer, leading carriers themselves must
deploy high-performance global infrastructures. At the end of 2001, France Telecom’s European Backbone Network provided
direct connections to 34 cities on the continent. In conjunction with our partners we now offer seamless access for 250 cities
in 16 countries. Across the Atlantic, our North American Backbone Network will connect 31 major cities by the end of 2002.
These two networks will be interconnected via the TAT-14 submarine cable, whose landing station at Saint-Valéry-en-Caux on
the Normandy coast was inaugurated in July 2001. France Telecom owns 11 percent of the total capacity (640 Gbps) on the
system. We are also a major sponsor of the SAFE cable that will link India and Malaysia to Europe, with landing points to serve
Group subsidiaries in Africa and Mauritius. The SAFE system was connected to Reunion Island in May 2001. 
France Telecom is a leader in satellite communications too, as the largest shareholder in Eutelsat. And we recently acquired
the Inmarsat business of Deutsche Telekom, representing 12 million minutes per year for 2,500 end users.

Building a global network
NETWORK
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Equant,
the strengths
of a leader

Modern enterprises function as networks that

stretch beyond borders. Data services on Intranets and

Extranets unify offices in far-flung corners of the

globe, providing common foundations for suppliers,

partners and customers. With Equant, France 

Telecom has become the world leader in this very

fast-growing, strategic business.

International operations have taken on a whole

new dimension for enterprises, as business processes

transcend borders. A product designed in Scandinavia

for the U.S. market, for example, might be assembled

in Mexico from parts sourced in Asia. And even smaller

businesses are becoming increasingly international

in their activities.

To successfully integrate this new paradigm, busi-

nesses need a carrier that is itself truly global. This

means a communications partner able to support

their transnational deployment with guaranteed avail-

ability of best-of-breed services. In short, they need

the guarantees that only a world leader can provide. 

With Equant, customers enjoy these assurances,

starting with the best geographic coverage and the

most complete portfolio of solutions, many of which

are on the cusp of advanced technologies. Equant IP

VPN, for example, lets a company build a fully secure

global Intranet to support new applications, taking

advantage of Equant’s powerful network resources.

This is currently the most comprehensive offer in

the industry. 

EQUANT ALREADY SERVES 75 OF
THE WORLD’S TOP 100 COMPANIES

Equant’s most important asset is the confidence it

has earned from the world’s leading corporations.

Some 60 percent of its revenues – over 3.3 billion

euros – are derived from multiyear contracts with

blue-chip companies. A diverse customer base, span-

ning every industry and every continent, provides

balance in the face of economic turbulence.

Munich
Equant. Norbert and Peter,
boarding system specialists.

EQUANT’S SHARE OF 
THE WORLD MARKET 
FOR INTRANET AND 
EXTRANET SERVICES.

13%13%

➫
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The new economy bubble may have burst, but the

e-transformation of enterprises is forging ahead.

France Telecom is playing a pivotal role with network

services, consulting and end-to-end solutions packed

with value-added. 

The crisis has not really affected businesses that

leveraged new communications technologies to

address real, concrete needs, such as developing new

product distribution channels, optimizing internal

processes, or improving relationships with partners

and suppliers. In fact, these enterprises are pleased

with their telecom investments and will continue to

invest in the future. 

This trend is irreversible. Today, customers can

contact companies at any time. Contractors and 

partners are ever more intimately involved in design

and production. And office hours have become

flexible, as largely virtual offices are designed to

accompany nomadic employees. To make all this

possible, companies need to deploy powerful com-

munications resources and rethink their organization

to ensure efficient use of these resources.

MOVING UP THE VALUE CHAIN
France Telecom helps businesses manage their 

e-transformation, starting with personalized audits

of needs to identify the best solutions. We propose the

broadest and most innovative portfolio of products and

services available, with simple, straightforward solu-

tions available on a global scale. We begin with a 

network services platform that integrates transport,

management and security. Then we assist the com-

pany in building the solution that will run on this

network. Finally, we can host the service platform, 

or even run the entire operation as part of an out-

sourcing agreement. 

E-services accounted for 6 percent of our business

services revenues in 2001. We aim to grow this to

more than 15 percent in 2004.

e-Transformation  
unfolds

Tokyo
7 p.m., the network
never stops working 

Singapore
Equant, tea time for
Philippa, Brian and Shirley.

E-BUSINESS FOR THE
CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY ON
BTP.BIZAO.COM

Launched in late 2001, the “btp.bizao”portal 
provides a suite of services designed for the 
construction industry. Leaders in the sector, such as
Lafarge, Gedimat, Chausson Matériaux, Gencod 
EAN France and the French Construction Materials 
Federation participated in the design. Users can 
easily tailor the site to their needs and benefit 

from Web or phone support.

business 
solutions 

OUR BUSINESSES



From sports events to dramatic news coverage, GlobeCast enables the world’s
TV channels to bring coverage to viewers. With leased capacity on 110 transpon-
ders on 60 satellites, GlobeCast is a global leader in satellite broadcasting 
and Internet delivery. As soon as news of the September 11 attacks broke, 
production teams and satellite newsgathering units were dispatched to the
site. GlobeCast’s five technical platforms and 11 teleports in the U.S. mobilized
to ensure information delivery. At the height of the crisis, as transatlantic 
telephone traffic became saturated, the world’s media were able to broadcast
live images of the tragedy.

At the heart of the action
TELEVISION 
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ENERGIZING E-BUSINESS 
France Telecom e-Business combines the spirit of

a start-up with the resources of a major global carrier.

Created in late 2000, the unit blends competencies

from the R&D, technical and marketing sides of 

e-business. The objective is to develop services in

partnership with a variety of Internet specialists and

content providers to bring businesses value-added

e-business solutions. One high-profile success is the

Bizao portal for smaller enterprises, launched in July

2001. 

➫

Bizao offers a complete suite of community tools,

information and online services. These services join

access solutions for small businesses in our Oléane

product line.

Larger businesses can also use Bizao as the foun-

dation for their corporate Intranet, or it can provide the

building blocks for a complete industry portal. 

France Telecom’s e-business offers take advantage of

our proven expertise in networks and hosting, too. 

THE DIGITAL REVOLUTION
Digital TV will allow terrestrial broadcast networks 
to deliver 30 to 40 channels. TDF is a trailblazer in 
this exciting new market. As France’s leading provider 
of broadcast services, TDF is taking part in the 
development of terrestrial digital TV in several Euro-
pean countries. An experimental platform in the U.K.
has been set up for equipment vendors to allow 
successful testing of the complete digital signal chain.
In March 2001, a full-fledged digital solution, including
broadcast services, was made available to content 
providers to enable “real-world”testing of production
on the platform. In July, France’s TV oversight agency,
the Conseil Supérieur de l’Audiovisuel, invited bids 
for new digital channels. Those bidding have been
able to test programming at TDF facilities since the
end of 2000.

Miami
Globecast, Ruben and Jairo with
their satellite newsgathering unit.



On September 7, 2001, Professor Jacques Marescaux and his team from IRCAD 
(Institute for Research into Cancer of the Digestive System) performed an 
operation from New York on a patient at a hospital in Strasbourg, France. This world
first in telesurgery was made possible thanks to a transmission time delay of just 
150 milliseconds for broadcast-quality video, a performance previously judged
impossible over such a distance.
France Telecom met this exceptional challenge in terms of quality, reliability and
transmission security. 
“Operation Lindbergh” proved a complete success, ushering in exciting possibilities.
In addition to remotely guided surgery, other applications include real-time  
assistance and training of surgeons.

High-speed breakthrough
BROADBAND

Network services are the foundations of business

communications services. And given the exponential

increase in the volume and frequency of informa-

tion exchanged, the efficiency of these networks

impacts directly on a company’s performance. 

ADSL: BROADBAND ON COPPER
WIRES

Last year saw a surge in the number of businesses

connected to the Internet via ADSL. More than 115,000

businesses now benefit from broadband access to the

Internet and Intranets thanks to solutions from the

Group’s ISPs. These services offer speeds of up to 

2 megabits per second.
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With ADSL, smaller firms can leverage the full power

of the Internet and high-speed data transport. Local

sites of large businesses can also take advantage of

broadband connections, and telecommuters are more

efficient than ever thanks to France Telecom solutions. 

Wanadoo, for example, proposes services that let

businesses discover the efficiency of Internet-based

resources. The Oléane range serves enterprises with a

strategic need for fast, secure Internet communica-

tions. Oléane Open ADSL and Oléane Control ADSL

are end-to-end solutions with guaranteed bandwidth

and quality of service. Half of all the businesses in

France with ADSL access have chosen Oléane. ➫

Network services:
broadband for 
everyone

business 
solutions 

OUR BUSINESSES

CARRIER SERVICES
At the end of 2001, 130 operators and ISPs held licenses
in France. These competitors are also our customers,
supported by specialized sales and marketing teams.
We introduced an online service in 2001 that makes it
easy for other operators and ISPs to order services 
in a secure, interactive environment.



New York
9 a.m. Debriefing at Equant.

9 p.m.
France Telecom North America.
Heading home after a late meeting.
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Etrali is the world’s number two provider of integrated telecom solutions for 
trading rooms, with operations in financial centers in Europe, the United States
and Asia. Etrali’s success is based on sophisticated voice transaction systems 
for trading rooms known as “turrets”, and extranet voice circuit services. 
Business wins in 2001 included a contract from UBS Warburg to equip its trading
rooms in Paris and Frankfurt, and another from Duke Energy in Houston.

EXPERTISE

Etrali: a leader in 
trading room solutions

6262

FIBEROPTIC LINKS BOOST 
BANDWIDTH FOR BUSINESSES

Fiberoptic technology has been deployed on France

Telecom’s backbone network in France for years.

Today, fiberoptic links between corporate sites are

pushing efficiency to new heights.

More than 8,000 businesses are now equipped

with fiberoptic links, giving them adjustable bandwidth

on demand and ever higher data speeds.

Fiberoptic service is the perfect solution for inter-

connection of local area networks for smaller enter-

prises, remote backup of large corporate databases,

or collaborative engineering projects spanning 

multiple contractors. These services are now available

throughout France, offering standard speeds of up to

several gigabits per second. Interconnection 

solutions for short distances now cover all cities of at

least 10,000 inhabitants. 

These powerful network solutions – such as 

MultiLAN, InterLAN or high-speed fiberoptic local

loops to connect multiple sites – erase distances,

combining guaranteed performance, blazing speeds,

reliability, flexibility and future-ready scalability.

MILLION KILOMETERS OF
OPTICAL FIBERS IN FRANCE

2.52.5
Teams at different sites can share intelligence and

resources instantly, wherever they work.

France Telecom “carriers’ carrier” solutions enable

competing telcos and Internet Service Providers to

build their own networks or transport services on

leased infrastructure. These solutions now propose

bandwidth capacity of up to dozens of gigabits per

second. 

END-TO-END MANAGEMENT
Customers want secure, end-to-end service capable

of accommodating traffic peaks. France Telecom’s

national IP network now has capacity that far exceeds

the needs of enterprises. This network also transports

consumer Internet traffic, whose volume is tripling

annually. Comprehensive security, coupled with dedicat-

ed network management and 24-by-7 supervision

guarantee the quality of the infrastructure that 

carries corporate traffic. This includes permanent

monitoring to protect against intrusion or piracy.

This quality and availability makes France Telecom’s

network a fundamental resource to support ongoing

e-transformation. 

OUTSOURCING SOLUTIONS FOR
THOMSON MULTIMEDIA

Thomson Multimedia Awarded a major outsourcing
contract to France Telecom in order to cut costs,
enhance quality and ensure rollout of the latest 
technologies with unified support as the firm pursues
aggressive growth. The seven-year contract covers 
28 countries and 115 sites in Europe, North America
and Asia. France Telecom has taken charge of all tele-
com equipment and offers end-to-end managed 
voice and data services. Club Med and Giat Industrie
have also chosen France Telecom for outsourced
management of their global networks.

New York
Zaïda and Raluca,

colleagues and friends.

business 
solutions 

OUR BUSINESSES
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Our marketers and sales engineers have intimate

knowledge of our customers’ businesses and indus-

tries. This enables us to unlock opportunities and

propose the best solutions, such as a Web call center

that creates new revenue streams, or an Intranet that

lowers operating overhead. Whether customers need

a complete service package or a custom-tailored 

response, France Telecom is there with personalized

support from multi-skilled teams

UBIQUITY AND LOCAL SUPPORT
To sharpen the efficiency of our sales consultants,

we revamped our sales organization in 2001 to provide

denser coverage. Some 3,500 sales engineers now

work from 35 offices specialized in serving business

customers in France. Worldwide, Equant fields a

team of 800 marketers on five continents.

INDUSTRY-SPECIFIC SOLUTIONS
Our solutions are crafted to the requirements of

each sector, including education, training, health,

municipal services, transport and logistics. This spans

everything from Internet portals to regional broadband

networks. One recent success story is a sophisticated

mobile logistics management service called “Road-on-

Line”.

SHARING EXPERTISE
Businesses are eager to tap the competencies of

our experts. We significantly expanded our consulting

business in 2001 via Expertel Consulting, which

increasingly focuses on “e-transformation” solutions.

Wanadoo Consulting, launched in late 2000, is a

recognized specialist in strategic marketing, portal

design and audience building. 

Bagnolet
FRANCE / 24x7 network 
supervision.

Singapore
Equant is out to win 
new markets.

LIVE FROM THE ROAD
The driver completes a delivery and selects “OK” from
the “Report”menu on his WAP wireless phone. The
information is instantly delivered to both the customer’s
purchasing department and the fleet manager. And
information for the next delivery is instantly displayed
on the driver’s screen.

Launched by Orange MIB (Mobile Internet for Busi-
nesses) in April 2001, “Road-on-Line”is the first mobile
Internet solution for transport and logistics. The service
won the “Innovation Award”at the SITL 2001 Logistics
and Transport Show. More and more customers are
signing up for this groundbreaking tool, which offers
efficient fleet management without special terminals

or networks.

Helping 
companies  
build
solutions



A group with 
strong international
positions
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Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues 43,026 39,659 33,674 8.5 27.8

Ebitda (1) 12,320 10,898 10,807 13.0 14.0

Operating income 5,200 4,359 4,856 19.3 7.1

(1) Ebitda is operating income before special items, net and depreciation
and amortization.

Management
Report

1. Overview
The following table sets forth France Telecom’s revenues, Ebitda

and operating income for the years ended December 31, 2000
and 2001 and the percentage changes between these periods on
a historical and a pro forma basis:

On a historical basis, France Telecom’s revenues saw double-
digit growth for the third consecutive year, increasing nearly
28%, mainly due to the rapid development of wireless, Internet
and international operations, as well as the full year consolida-
tion of Orange plc for 2001. Revenues from international oper-
ations, which have more than quadrupled over the past two years,
reached 35.8% in 2001, compared to 25.8% in 2000.

EBITDA also experienced double-digit growth, increasing 14%
between 2000 and 2001. Due to the increase in depreciation with
respect to international operations, operating income grew by
slightly more than 7%.

In order to permit a more meaningful comparison between
2001 and 2000, pro forma information for fiscal year 2000 is pre-
sented which restates fiscal year 2000 results using the same scope
of consolidation as 2001. In particular, these figures are calcu-
lated to give effect, as of January 1, 2000, to (i) the changes in the
contractual provisions of wireless licenses in France, (ii) the full
year consolidation of Orange plc and Orange Communications

S.A. (Switzerland), (iii) the formation and consolidation of the
new group formed by Equant and Global One, (iv) the consoli-
dation of Freeserve and Indice Multimedia, as well as (v) the
proportional consolidation of ECMS in Egypt, at the same per-
centage as in 2001.

On a pro forma basis, revenues increased 8.5% in 2001, EBITDA
increased 13% and operating income increased 19.3%, empha-
sizing the growth in France Telecom’s operational profitability.
In addition, the EBITDA margin (EBITDA divided by revenues)
increased from 27.5% on a pro forma basis for 2000 to 28.6% in
2001. Thus, in 2001, France Telecom increased its market share
while also improving its operating profitability.

2. Analysis by segment of activity
France Telecom operates in the telecommunications business

sector, separating its business into segments that it has identified
using operational criteria such as growth potential, France Tele-
com’s overall investment strategy and potential profitability.
France Telecom has defined its four segments as follows:“Orange”,
“Wanadoo”, “Fixed line, voice and data services-France” and
“Fixed line, voice and data services-Outside France”. France Tele-
com’s segments are subject to change in the future depending
on developments in its strategic choices. The information pre-
sented below is shown before inter-segment eliminations.

2.1 Orange
The “Orange” segment encompasses France Telecom’s wire-

less activities in France, the United Kingdom (including Orange
plc operations from the date it was acquired by France Telecom)
and the rest of the world, other than some wireless operations not
integrated in this segment (i.e. Mobinil/ECMS in Egypt, Voxtel
in Moldavia and FTM Lebanon).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS,MARCH 20,2002
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nia. Overall, revenues from “Orange outside France and the
United Kingdom” increased 34.1% in 2001.

On a historical basis, EBITDA for the Orange segment nearly
doubled between 2000 and 2001. This strong growth resulted, in
part, from the effect of the acquisition of Orange plc, consolidated
for the last four months of 2000 and all of 2001, and also from
increased profitability in France, where the margin of EBITDA
to network revenues increased from 31% to 35% in 2001. While
the number of customers in France reached 3.5 million in 2001,
total subscriber acquisition costs in France decreased 11% in
2001 due to a 13% decrease in subscriber acquisition costs per
gross new connection over the same period. Unlike Orange S.A.’s
competitors, notably in France, Orange S.A. includes its sub-
scriber acquisition costs in the operating costs of the period dur-
ing which they are incurred.

This increase was also due to the improved profitability from
the internal growth of Orange subsidiaries outside of France and
the United Kingdom, notably Mobistar in Belgium and Mobil-
rom in Romania.

On a pro forma basis, EBITDA for the Orange segment
increased more than 86%, or €1,523 million in 2001, while
EBITDA for Orange France increased approximately 43% and
EBITDA for Orange UK increased more than 68%. The seg-
ment’s operating profitability increased by more than 7 points and
the margin of EBITDA to network revenues increased from 17%
in 2000 to 24% in 2001. The EBITDA margin for Orange France
increased from 30% in 2000 to 35% in 2001, and that of Orange
UK increased from 23% in 2000 to 28% in 2001.

Investments in tangible and intangible assets by Orange,other than
UMTS licenses, increased 37% in 2001, notably due to effects of the
acquisition of Orange plc, fully consolidated from September 1,

REVENUES
(in millions of euros)

q Orange segment

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues for  
GSM network 13,434 10,231 7,815 31.3 71.9

Revenues 15,087 12,059 9,025 25.1 67.2

Ebitda (1) 3,288 1,765 1,668 86.3 97.1

Ebitda/network 
revenues 24% 17% 21%

Operating income (2) 1,440 383 633 276.0 127.5

Investments
in UMTS licenses 873 7,268 7,068 ns ns

Investments in 
tangible and intangible 
assets (other than 
UMTS licenses) 3,356 3 361 2 449 (0.1) 37.0

(1) EBITDA is operating income before special items, net and depreciation and
amortization.
(2) Operating income before special items, net.

On a historical basis, revenues for the Orange segment increased
67.2%, due mainly to the effect of the full consolidation of the
U.K. wireless operator Orange plc as of September 1, 2000.

On a pro forma basis, revenues increased 25.1% due to increases
in all three Orange sub-segments. Revenues from “Orange France”
increased nearly 21%, due mainly to a 25% increase in the num-
ber of customers (17.8 million at December 31, 2001). Revenues
from “Orange UK” increased 27% in 2001, and the number of
Orange UK customers increased by 26% to reach 12.4 million at
December 31, 2001. Revenues from other operations, princi-
pally from wireless operations in Europe, increased as well, with
strong revenue growth in Belgium, the Netherlands and Roma-

2000
pro forma

2001

12,059 15,087

EBITDA
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

1,765 3,288

OPERATING INCOME
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

383 1,440
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2000, and Orange Communications S.A., fully consolidated from
November 1, 2000. In France, purchases of tangible and intangi-
ble assets decreased by 26%, notably due to the decreasing rate of
investments needed for the deployment of second generation sites.

Investments for UMTS licenses in 2001 included payments of
€150 million in Belgium, €104 million in Denmark, and €619
million in France. In 2000, investments in UTMS licenses mainly
concerned the acquisition of licenses in the United Kingdom for
€6.6 billion and the Netherlands for €436 million.

2.2 Wanadoo
The “Wanadoo” segment includes Internet access services, por-

tals, e-merchant sites, directories and business services (ASP).
The pro forma figures for 2000 presented in the following table

include the activities of Indice Multimedia for nine months and
Freeserve for ten months, for purposes of comparison with 2001
(Indice Multimedia was consolidated in the 2001 accounts from
April 1, 2001 and Freeserve was consolidated from March 1, 2001).

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma restated pro forma restated
(€ millions) historical(3) historical (3)

Revenues 1,563 1,210 1,111 29.2 40.7

Ebitda (1) (64) (123) (66) 48.4 4.4

Operating income (2) (153) (190) (129) 19.3 (18.8)

Investments 
in tangible 
and intangible 111 116 96 (4.7) 15.4

(1) Ebitda is operating income before special items, net and depreciation and
amortization.

(2) Operating income before special items, net.

(3) Restated historical data established by Wanadoo for 2000, calculated by consol-
idating Internet access activities in the Netherlands and Spain and the Internet
Yellow Pages in France as of January 1, 2000. This restated historical data does
not consolidate the activities of Indice Multimedia for nine months or Freeserve for
10 months in 2000, both of which are included in the data provided in the pro
forma information shown for 2000.

REVENUES
(in millions of euros)

q Wanadoo segment

2000
pro forma

2001

1,210 1,563

EBITDA
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

(123) (64)

OPERATING INCOME
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

(190) (153)

In 2001, on a restated historical basis, Wanadoo revenues
increased approximately 41%, as compared to 2000. This increase
was mainly due to the rapid growth in Internet access services,
resulting from (i) a strong increase in the number of customers
(56% in one year, excluding Freeserve) and (ii) an increase in
average monthly revenues per active subscriber, notably in France
which increased 7%, due primarily to the expansion of high
speed Internet access packages (ADSL and cable). At the same
time, revenues from the “directories and business services” sub-
segment increased 9% in 2001 compared to 2000, using a com-
parable scope of consolidation, due mainly to the growth in the
number of new customers and an increase in the average rev-
enue generated per advertiser, as well as to the growth in rev-
enues from the Internet Yellow Pages.

On a pro forma basis, total revenues for Wanadoo increased
29.2%.

Ebitda for the Wanadoo segment increased slightly between
2000 and 2001, continuing the trend toward profitability, with a
goal of achieving a positive Ebitda for the full year 2002. Exclud-
ing Freeserve and Indice Multimedia, newly consolidated in 2001,
which had a negative impact of approximately €92 million,
Ebitda for the Wanadoo segment was positive, at €29 million
for 2001.

On a pro forma basis, Ebitda increased approximately 48%.
The “directories and business services” sub-segment of

Wanadoo continued to post a positive Ebitda, with  €239 million
in 2001 compared to €226 million in 2000. This increase of €13
million in 2001 occurred despite the impact of the consolida-
tion as of April 1, 2001 of Indice Multimedia, currently unprof-
itable. In 2001, Indice Multimedia finished establishing service
coverage for its targeted regions in Spain by offering promo-
tional prices for advertisers for the new editions of its directories.
As a result, the profitability of Indice Multimedia should improve,
reinforcing its earnings and those of the Wanadoo segment as a
whole. Excluding the effects of the consolidation of Indice Mul-
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timedia, Ebitda growth for the “directories and business services”
sub-segment outpaced growth in revenues, due to efforts already
undertaken to increase the profitability of these businesses.

Ebitda for the “access services, portals and e-merchant” sub-
segment remained negative in 2001, although in line with that of
2000 (negative Ebitda of €-290 million in 2001, compared to a neg-
ative Ebitda of €-286 million in 2000). This stabilization occurred
despite the consolidation of Freeserve, which generated negative
Ebitda, mainly due to costs connected with changes in its eco-
nomic model, aimed at increasing the proportion of paying sub-
scribers (the charges were incurred before revenues resulting from
these new offers were realized, notably for increases in network
capacity and for infrastructure related to billing and collection).

This stabilization of Ebitda, excluding Freeserve, was mainly due
to significant efforts made to improve profitability of other prod-
ucts, and in particular, to the strong growth in volume of Inter-
net access services, especially in France.

Investments in tangible and intangible assets increased 15.4%
in 2001, due to the consolidation of Freeserve and an increase in
capitalized production for publishing. This increase was also
due to investments required for strong growth in Internet activ-
ities, notably for servers and platforms for portals to match the
increase in the number of users, as well as for Internet access, to
adapt the information infrastructure to meet the needs of an
increased customer base.

2.3 Fixed line, voice and data services-France
The “Fixed line, voice and data services-France” segment

includes France Telecom’s activities as a network operator for
fixed line telephony and data transmission services, and as a
provider of broadcasting and cable television services in France.

On a pro forma basis, revenues for the segment decreased by
1.8% in 2001. The increase in revenues from Internet access ser-
vices and the development of corporate networks was more than
offset by the impact of a decrease in prices for fixed line tele-
phone services. The price decreases were mainly for (i) local

calls, (ii) domestic and international long-distance calls, (iii) calls
made to mobile phones, and (iv) interconnection services. Rev-
enues were also negatively impacted by the growth in wireless
services and the competition from competitors in the long-dis-
tance market. To a lesser extent, revenues for the second half of
2001 were negatively impacted by a noticeable slow down of (i)
the demand for high speed leased lines from third party network
operators and (ii) revenues from interconnection services.

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues (1) 23,231 23,663 20,793 (1.8) 11.7

Ebitda (2) 7,902 8,011 8,142 (1.4) (2.9)

Operating income (3) 4,457 4,509 4,626 (1.2) (3.7)

Investments 
in tangible and 
intangible assets 2,718 2,363 2,363 15.0 15.0

(1) The contractual terms of licenses granted to wireless network operators in
France were modified at the end of 2000 and now require fixed line operators to
determine the cost of calls made from fixed line networks to wireless telephones.
Therefore, as of January 1, 2001, revenues for France Telecom’s fixed line telephony
services reflect income from billing fixed line customers for calls made to wireless
telephones. Costs of call termination, whereby France Telecom pays third party
wireless network operators to complete calls on their networks, are also included in
the operating charges for the period.

(2) Ebitda is operating income before special items, net and depreciation and
amortization.

(3) Operating income before special items, net.

q Fixed line, voice
and data services 
segment in France

REVENUES
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

23,663 23,231

EBITDA
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

8,011 7,902

OPERATING INCOME
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

4,509 4,457
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On a historical basis, Ebitda for Fixed line, voice and data ser-
vices-France decreased 2.9% in 2001 due to:
– actions taken to stabilize France Telecom’s market share of fixed
line telephone communications in France, in particular increased
activity of its sales network and a greater media presence; and
– the development of business services.

These factors were partially offset by gains in productivity
achieved with respect to the telephone network.

On a pro forma basis, Ebitda for the segment decreased 1.4%.
The margin of Ebitda to revenues remained stable (34% in 2001
compared to 33.9% in 2000) despite the 1.8% decrease in revenues.

Investments in tangible and intangible assets increased approx-
imately 15% in 2001, mainly due to investments to:
– develop sectoral and access networks in order to respond to
the growth in demand for high speed Internet service and ADSL;
– expand data transmission networks;
– renovate traditional switching mechanisms;
– expand digital television; and
– provide tailored solutions for local networks and long-distance
interconnection for large corporations.

2.4 Fixed line, voice and data services-Outside
France

The “Fixed line, voice and data services-Outside France” seg-
ment includes France Telecom’s activities as a network operator
for fixed line telephony and data transmission services and as a
provider of broadcasting and cable television services outside
France, as well as wireless telephone activities that have not been
contributed to Orange (Mobinil/ECMS in Egypt, Voxtel in Mol-
davia and FTM in Lebanon).

On a pro forma basis, revenues for the segment increased 5.6%
in 2001 due mainly to the development of fixed line telephony ser-
vices in Spain by Uni2.

On a historical basis, Ebitda for the segment increased 11.6%, or
€121 million, in 2001. This increase was due mainly to changes in
the scope of consolidation, such as the level of proportional con-
solidation of ECMS in Egypt (which increased from 46.1% to
71.25%) and the full consolidation of Equant NV as of July 1, 2001.

The 32.4% growth in Ebitda of wireless subsidiaries in this
segment (€133 million) was partially offset by the 8.2% decrease
(€75 million) in Ebitda of fixed line subsidiaries, primarily
attributable to Telecom Argentina. Other subsidiaries in the seg-
ment contributed positive Ebitda, in particular Casema in the
Netherlands and Menatel in Egypt.

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues 7,382 6,988 5,936 5.6 24.4

Ebitda (1) 1,165 1,235 1,044 (5.7) 11.6

Operating income (2) (250) (12) (29) – –

Investments in tangible 
and intangible assets 1,906 2,690 2,339 (29.1) (18.5)

1) Ebitda is operating income before special items, net and depreciation 
and amortization.
(2) Operating income before special items, net.

q Fixed line, voice 
and data services-
Outside France segment

REVENUES
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

6,988 7,382

EBITDA
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

1,235 1,165

OPERATING INCOME
(in millions of euros)
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On a pro forma basis, Ebitda for the fixed line, voice and data
services-outside France segment decreased 5.7%.

Investments in tangible and intangible assets for the segment
decreased 18.5% in 2001. This decrease was due, in large part,
to purchases made in 2000 for the deployment of infrastructure
by France Telecom’s subsidiaries for cable networks (Casema in
the Netherlands) and fixed line networks (Uni2 in Spain), as well
as to the decrease in investments by Telecom Argentina in 2001.
These factors were partially offset by increases due to the impact
of the consolidation of Equant and the expansion of France Tele-
com’s international network. On a pro forma basis, investments
decreased approximately 29%.

Telecom Argentina, proportionally consolidated until Decem-
ber 21, 2001, is now accounted for under the equity method. See
Section 5.1.

EQUANT 
Twelve-month pro forma figures have been established for

Equant for both 2000 and 2001 using the scope of consolidation
in effect as of December 31, 2001, for purposes of comparing
key figures for two full fiscal years.

The key figures discussed below were taken from Equant’s pub-
lished results and are presented in millions of U.S. dollars.

On a twelve-month pro forma basis, Equant’s revenues
increased 12.1% in 2001. Revenues from high speed services
represented nearly 95% of network revenues, the principal com-
ponent of Equant’s revenues.

On the same twelve-month pro forma basis, Ebitda increased
from $–179 million in 2000 to $–9 million in 2001, mainly due
to an improvement in the structure of network costs and a sig-
nificant decrease in marketing expenses as compared to revenues.
Ebitda was positive in the fourth quarter of 2001, six months
after the merger between Equant and Global One.

3. Consolidated sales of services
and products

The following table sets forth information concerning France
Telecom’s consolidated revenues by product line and as a per-
centage of total consolidated revenues for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001. The amounts below show the revenues
contributed by each product line to France Telecom’s consoli-
dated revenues.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 
December 31, pro forma historical

€ millions % (1)
€ millions % (1)

€ millions % (1)

Orange 14,769 34.3 11,680 29.5 8,653 25.7

Of which revenues
in France 6,549 15.2 5,431 13.7 5,335 15.8

Of which revenues
outside France 8,220 19.1 6,249 15.8 3,318 9.9

Wanadoo 1,461 3.4 1,153 2.9 1,054 3.1

Of which revenues
in France 1,245 2.9 994 2.5 994 3.0

Of which revenues
outside France 216 0.5 159 0.4 60 0.2

Fixed line, voice 
and data services
in France 19,832 46.1 20,064 50.6 18,657 55.4

Fixed line, voice 
and data services
outside France 6,964 16.2 6,762 17.1 5,310 15.8

Total Revenues 43,026 100.0 39,659 100.0 33,674 100.0

Of which revenues 
in France 27,626 64.2 26,489 66.8 24,986 74.2

Of which revenues 
outside France 15,400 35.8 13,170 33.2 8,688 25.8

(1) As percentage of total revenues.

ORANGE
(in millions of euros)

q Consolidated sales of services and products

2000
pro forma

2001

11,680 14,769

WANADOO
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

1,153 1,461

FIXED LINE, VOICE
AND DATA SERVICES
IN FRANCE
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

20,064 19,832

FIXED LINE, VOICE 
AND DATA SERVICES 
OUTSIDE FRANCE
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

6,762 6,964
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The percentage change data presented in the following tables
in this discussion were calculated using non-rounded figures.

France Telecom’s total consolidated revenues for 2001 increased
27.8% to €43.0 billion following a 23.7% increase in 2000 and
a 10.5% increase in 1999. On a pro forma basis, using the same
scope of consolidation for the France Telecom group today as
compared against 2000, revenues increased 8.5% in 2001.

The significant increase in consolidated revenues, for the third
consecutive year, resulted from the rapid development of France
Telecom’s international activities, whose revenues increased 77.3%
in 2001, after an increase of 149.7% in 2000. Revenues from
activities outside France represented 35.8% of France Telecom’s
total revenues in 2001, compared to 25.8% in 2000 and 12.8% in
1999.

At December 31, 2001, France Telecom had 91.7 million cus-
tomers among its controlled subsidiaries, compared to 77.0 mil-
lion customers at December 31, 2000, a 19.1% increase in one year.

3.1 Orange 
(34.3% of 2001 consolidated revenues)

Revenues from this segment are the revenues contributed by
Orange S.A. and derive from (i) monthly subscription charges and
charges for wireless network use (including revenues from incom-
ing traffic and value-added services) and (ii) for Orange UK and
certain subsidiaries of “Orange Rest of World”, payments received
from other wireless network operators for calls originating from
their network and terminating on Orange S.A.’s network. Other
revenues are generated by (i) the sale of wireless handsets and

accessories by group stores to retailers, distributors and direct
customers of Orange S.A.; and (ii) the revenues generated by
Orange S.A.’s subsidiaries that operate fixed line networks or
provide Orange S.A. Internet access and services, such as Orange
Denmark in Denmark and Mobistar in Belgium.

The following table sets forth information concerning the wire-
less activities included within the Orange S.A. group for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, as well as the percentage
changes between these periods. The information presented below
shows the revenues contributed by each sub-segment of Orange
to France Telecom’s consolidated revenues.

Orange contributed €14.8 billion to France Telecom’s consol-
idated revenues in 2001, an increase of 70.7% compared to 2000.
This increase was due partly to the full-year consolidation of

Revenues 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Orange France (1) 6,549 5,431 5,335 20.6 22.8

Orange UK 5,335 4,211 1,653 26.7 222.7

Orange Rest of World 2,885 2,038 1,665 41.6 73.3

Total 14,769 11,680 8,653 26.4 70.7

Of which revenues 
realized in France 6,549 5,431 5,335 20.6 22.8

Of which revenues 
realized outside France 8,220 6,249 3,318 31.5 147.7

(1) Includes revenues realized in overseas departments with Orange Caraïbes in
the Antilles and Orange Reunion.

REVENUES 
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

q Orange

2000
pro forma

2001

11,680 14,769
■   France
■   U.K.
■   Rest of world

4,211

2,885

5,335

5,431

2,038

6,549

NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS
(in thousands)

2000 2001

30,501 39,271
■   France
■   U.K.
■   Rest of world

9,834

9,061

12,387

14,311

6,356

17,823
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Orange France contributed €6.5 billion to France Telecom’s
consolidated revenues in 2001, an increase of 22.8% compared
to the previous year. This increase was primarily due to the
24.5% growth in the number of customers in 2001. Orange
France remained the leader in the wireless telephony market,
with a 48.2% market share at the end of 2001.

The rate of decrease in the average annual revenue per user
slowed significantly in 2001, decreasing 8.0% in 2001 compared

to 18.4% in 2000. This positive trend was due to a stabilization
in the proportion of prepaid customers in the total customer
base, which increased to 47% at December 31, 2001, compared
to 45% one year earlier. In addition, the rate of decrease in the
average annual revenue per prepaid customer also slowed,
decreasing 2.2% in 2001 compared to a decrease of 27.2% in
2000. At the same time, the average annual revenue per contract
customer decreased only 1.5% in 2001, compared with a 5.0%
decrease in 2000. To a lesser extent, the average annual revenue
per prepaid user and contract customer was affected by the 15%
decrease in tariffs for calls from fixed line subscribers to Orange
France’s customers, effective as of February 6, 2001.

Average monthly usage per user decreased 6.8% from 147
minutes in 2000 to 137 minutes in 2001. The decrease was due
to the 10.5% decrease in average monthly usage per prepaid
customer, partially offset by the 1.4% increase in average monthly
usage per contract customer.

Orange United Kingdom

Orange UK includes revenues from the digital wireless network
Orange UK. Historically, the segment also included revenues
from Hutchison Cellular Services, a wireless service provider in
the United Kingdom, and Hutchison Paging, which operated a
network of pagers. Hutchinson Paging ceased operations in
2001 and Hutchinson Cellular Services’ customer base was sold
in March 2001.

In the United Kingdom, Orange UK receives revenues from
calls terminating on its network that originate on other UK net-
works and incurs charges for calls that originate on its network
and terminate on other UK networks. The charges paid by
Orange UK are included in “Costs of services and products sold”.

The following table sets forth consolidated revenues con-
tributed by Orange UK and pro forma operating data for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, as well as the percentage
changes between these periods.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues (M€) 6,549 5,431 5,335 20.6 22.8

Number of customers
(in thousands) 17,823 14,311 14,311 24.5 24.5

Of which contract 
customers 
(in thousands) (1) 9,445 7,875 7,875 19.9 19.9

Of which prepaid 
customers 
(in thousands) (1) 8,378 6,436 6,436 30.2 30.2

Average annual 
revenue per user 
(in euros) 392 426 426 (8.0) (8.0)

Average monthly 
usage per user 
(in minutes) 137 147 147 (6.8) (6.8)

(1) In September 2001, Orange France reclassified its 985,000 Compte Mobile
Orange customers, who had previously been considered prepaid customers, as con-
tract customers.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues (M€) 5,335 4,211 1,653 26.7 222.7

Number of customers
(in thousands) 12,387 9,834 9,834 26.0 26.0

Of which contract 
customers 
(in thousands) 3,761 3,077 3,077 22.2 22.2

Of which prepaid 
customers 
(in thousands) 8,626 6,757 6,757 27.7 27.7

Average annual 
revenue by user (in £) 246 280 – (12.1) –

Average monthly 
usage per user 
(in minutes) 138 159 – (13.2) –

Orange plc, effective as of September 1, 2000. On a pro forma basis,
revenues from this product line increased 26.4% in 2001.

Orange France

Orange France includes revenues from the wireless network
operator in mainland France (formerly known as France Telecom
Mobiles), which became Orange France in June 2001, and Orange
Caraïbes (formerly known as France Caraïbes Mobiles), which
operates a wireless network in certain French overseas depart-
ments. Since December 2000, Orange France also includes rev-
enues from the wireless network operated by Orange Reunion,
formerly known as France Telecom Mobiles La Reunion.

Orange France does not receive revenues from other French
wireless operators for calls from their networks that terminate
on Orange France’s network, as in some other markets, such as
the United Kingdom. In the same way, calls that originate on
Orange France’s network and terminate on other French wire-
less operators’ networks do not give rise to payments from
Orange France.

The following table presents the consolidated revenues from
this product line for the years ended December 31, 2000 and
2001 and the percentage changes between these periods.
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Orange UK contributed €5.3 billion to France Telecom’s total
revenues in 2001. This represents a 222.7% increase compared
to 2000, during which Orange UK’s total revenues corresponded
to the last four months of the year only, because Orange plc was
only consolidated as of September 1, 2000 in France Telecom’s
accounts. On a pro forma basis, revenues grew 26.7% in 2001,
due mainly to the 26.0% increase in customers, to 12,387 million
customers at December 31, 2001. Orange UK became the leader
in the British wireless telephony market with a 28.2% market
share (based on active customers). To a lesser extent, Orange
UK’s revenues benefited from a favorable exchange rate, as the
average rate of exchange for the British pound to the euro
increased 4.0% in 2001 compared to 2000.

The rate of decrease in average annual revenue per user slowed
to 12.1% in 2001, compared to 26.3% in 2000, due mainly to a
stabilization in the proportion of prepaid customers in the total
number of users in 2001 (70% at December 31, 2001, compared
to 69% at December 31, 2000). The decrease in the average
annual revenue per prepaid customer also slowed in 2001, decreas-
ing 4.0% in 2001 compared to 18.7% in 2000. At the same time,
the annual average revenue per contract customer increased 4.8%
in 2001, after an increase of 6.1% in 2000.

Average monthly usage per user decreased 13.2% from 159
minutes in 2000 to 138 minutes in 2001. The decrease was mainly
due to the 16.2% decrease in average monthly usage per prepaid
customer, partially offset by the 10.6% increase in average monthly
usage per contract customer.

Orange Rest of World
Orange Rest of World includes revenues from wireless opera-

tions in Belgium, Denmark, the Netherlands, Switzerland, Roma-
nia, Slovakia, the Dominican Republic, the Ivory Coast, Botswana,
Cameroon, and Madagascar.

The following table sets forth information concerning con-
solidated revenues contributed by Orange Rest of World and
other information for the years ended December 31, 2000 and
2001, and the percentage changes between these periods.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Revenues (M€) 2,885 2,038 1,665 41.6 73.3

Number 
of customers 
(in thousands) 9,061 6,356 6,356 42.5 42.5

Revenues contributed by Orange Rest of World increased 73.3%
in 2001. In part, this increase was due to the effect of changes in
the scope of consolidation, in particular the full-year consolida-
tion of Orange Communications S.A. (Switzerland) related to
the acquisition of the Orange plc group as of September 1, 2000.
On a pro forma basis, revenues from Orange Rest of World
increased 41.6% due almost entirely to activities in Europe, in par-
ticular due to strong revenue growth in Belgium, the Nether-
lands, Romania and Denmark.

NUMBER
OF ACTIVE USERS
(in thousands)

q Wanadoo

2000
historical

2001

2,440 6,067

■   In France  ■   Outside France

1,830 3,001

610

3,066

AUDIENCE OF PORTALS
(in millions of pages viewed)

2000
historical

2001

528 1,288

REVENUES 
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

■   Directories and business services
■   Access services, portals and e-merchant       

2000
pro forma

2001

1,153 1,461

385

768

618

843
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3.2 Wanadoo

Revenues from this segment are the revenues contributed by
Wanadoo S.A., divided between its two principal sub-segments.
Revenues from the sub-segment “access services, portals and e-
merchant” include (i) revenues from Internet access for resi-
dential customers which vary depending on the number of sub-
scribers, the prices for the packages offered and the mix of
subscriptions for the packages, (ii) revenues from portals which
include mainly advertising revenues which vary depending on the
number of pages viewed, the amount of advertising space pur-
chased and the length of time for which advertising space is pur-
chased, and (iii) revenues from e-merchant services, which vary
depending on the number of orders booked.

Revenues from the sub-segment “directories and business ser-
vices” include (i) revenues from advertising in both printed and
electronic (Minitel and Internet) directories; (ii) revenues from
website hosting and related services; and (iii) revenues from sales
of lists and thematic directories used for direct marketing.

The following table sets forth information concerning con-
solidated revenues contributed by the Wanadoo S.A. group for the
years ending December 31, 2000 and 2001, as well as percentage
changes between these periods. The data represents the contri-
bution of Wanadoo’s sub-segments to the consolidated revenues
of France Telecom.

Revenues 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Access services,
portals and e-merchant 618 385 310 60.5 99.4

Directories 
and business services 843 768 744 9.8 13.3

Total 1,461 1,153 1,054 26.7 38.6

Of which revenues 
in France 1,245 994 994 25.3 25.3

Of which revenues 
outside France 216 159 60 35.8 260.0

Number of active (1)

Wanadoo users 
(in thousands) 6,067 na 2,440 na 148.5

Of which active 
users in France 
(in thousands) 3,001 na 1,830 na 63.9

Of which active 
users outside France
(in thousands) 3,066 na 610 na 402.3

Portal audience 
of Wanadoo and Voila (2)

(in millions of pages 
viewed) 1,288 na 528 na 143.9

(1) Subscribers who connected at least once during the month (based on figures for
December).

(2) Number of pages viewed in December. Portals in France except for Kompass.fr
and Ridingzone in December 2000. Includes U.K. portals in December 2001.

Access, portals and e-merchant

Access, portals and e-merchant revenues increased 99.4% in
2001, due mainly to the 100% increase in revenues from Inter-
net access services, which increased from €238 million in 2000
to €476 million in 2001. This increase was due principally to the
significant growth in the number of Wanadoo customers in
France and internationally, which increased 148.5% to 6.1 mil-
lion at December 31, 2001, compared to 2.4 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2000, an increase of 3.7 million customers. This increase
was partially due to the consolidation, from March 1, 2001, of
Freeserve in the United Kingdom, which had 2.2 million active
customers at December 31, 2001. Excluding Freeserve, revenues
from Internet access services increased 71.9%, due in part to the
56.6% increase in the number of active customers and, to a lesser
extent, to an increase in the average monthly revenue per user in
every country where Wanadoo offers service. Notably, in France,
the average monthly revenue per user increased 7.3% in 2001,
increasing from €12.4 per month in 2000 to €13.3 per month
in 2001, due mainly to an increase in the number of higher pay-
ing subscriptions to high speed access.

Revenues from portals increased 105.4% to €105 million in
2001 from €51 million in 2000. Excluding Freeserve, revenues
from portals increased 48.6%. The increase in number of pages
viewed also remained strong, with 1,288 million pages viewed in
December 2001 compared to 528 million viewed in December
2000, a 143.9% increase (92.0% excluding Freeserve).

Lastly, revenues from e-merchant activities totaled €37 million
in 2001, compared to €21 million in 2000, an increase of 73.0%,
due to the increase in the number of orders booked.

Directories and business services

Revenues from directories and business services increased
13.3% in 2001, due in part  to the consolidation of Indice Mul-
timedia (the publisher of directories in Spain) from April 1, 2001.
On a pro forma basis, revenues increased 9.8% in 2001 com-
pared to 2000. The increase was mainly due to an increase in
advertising revenues from printed directories and the rapid
growth of the Internet Yellow Pages. This increase was also due
to the marketing of standard sites, including creating and host-
ing sites for corporate clients. Revenues from these business ser-
vices increased 45% in 2001 compared to the previous year.

3.3 Fixed line, voice and data services-France
(46.1% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

Revenues from Fixed line, voice and data services-France are
derived from (i) fixed line telephony, (ii) business networks,
(iii) online services (other than from Wanadoo), (iv) broad-
casting and cable television and (v) other revenues, which
includes equipment sales and rentals. The following table sets
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forth the revenues derived from this segment for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage change between
these periods.

On a pro forma basis, taking into account the effect of the
modification of the contractual terms of licenses awarded to
wireless operators in France, as described above, revenues from
Fixed line, voice and data services-France decreased 1.2% in 2001.
The 10.6% increase in revenues from business networks and the
18.4% increase in revenues from online services nearly offset the
4.9% decrease in revenues, calculated on a comparable basis, of
fixed line telephony.

Fixed line telephony services
(32.2% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

Revenues from fixed line telephony services in France are
derived from (i) subscription fees, (ii) local and long distance
calling in France, (iii) international telephone services, (iv) pay-
phones and calling card services and (v) interconnection fees.

The following table sets forth the revenues derived from each
of the components of these operations for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage change between these
periods.

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Fixed line telephony (1) 13,837 14,552 13,146 (4.9) 5.3

Business networks 2,684 2,427 2,427 10.6 10.6

Online services 932 788 787 18.3 18.4

Broadcasting 
and cable television 1,058 1,010 1,010 4.8 4.8

Other revenues 1,321 1,287 1,287 2.6 2.6

Total 19,832 20,064 18,657 (1.2) 6.3

(1) The contractual terms of licenses granted to wireless network operators in
France were modified at the end of 2000 and now require fixed line operators to
determine the cost of calls made from fixed line networks to wireless telephones.
Therefore, as of January 1, 2001, revenues for France Telecom’s fixed line telephony
services reflect income from billing fixed line customers for calls made to wireless
telephones. Costs of call termination, whereby France Telecom pays third party
wireless network operators to complete calls on their networks, are included in the
operating charges for the period.

q Fixed line, voice
and data services 
in France

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Subscription fees 5,621 5,158 5,158 9.0 9.0

Domestic calling (1) 5,290 6,542 5,208 (19.1) 1.6

International 
telephone services(1) 1,126 1,233 1,204 (8.7) (6.5)

Payphones 
and calling card 
services (1) 629 664 640 (5.3) (1.7)

Interconnection fees (1) 1,171 955 936 22.6 25.1

Total 13,837 14,552 13,146 (4.9) 5.3

(1) These product lines are affected by the modifications of the contractual terms
of licenses awarded to wireless operators in France, as described above.

On a pro forma basis, revenues from fixed line telephony ser-
vices in France decreased 4.9% in 2001, due mainly to the impact
of successive decreases in tariffs for domestic fixed line long dis-
tance and international calls made in the context of France Tele-
com’s overall tariff reform. The full-year effect of these tariff
decreases which were established during 2000 was partially offset
by the increase in subscription fees, which occurred in mid-Octo-
ber 2000. Revenues also decreased due to the impact of increased
competition from other operators in the long distance market.

Subscription fees

Revenues from subscription fees include initial connection
fees, monthly subscription charges and subscriptions to addi-
tional services. Subscription options offered and the related
monthly charges differ by customer group (residential, small
business and large business) and within each customer group by
the services selected. Revenues from subscription fees depend on

2001 REVENUES
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

■   Fixe line telephony
■   Business networks      
■   Online services
■   Broadcasting and cable television
■   Other revenues

13,837

2,684

932
1,058

1,321
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Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Total subscription 
revenues (€ millions) 5,621 5,158 5,158 9.0 9.0

Number of telephone 
access lines at 
period-end 
(in millions) (1) (2) 34.2 34.1 34.1 0.1 0.1

Number of Numeris 
(ISDN) channels 
at period-end 
(in millions) (2) 4.7 4.3 4.3 9.7 9.7

Number of 
subscriptions at rate 
offers at period-end 
(in millions) (2) 9.3 7.2 7.2 29.9 29.9

(1) Includes standard (analog) lines and Numeris (ISDN) channels, each of which is
counted as one line.

(2) At the end of the period.

the total number of subscribed lines, the mix of standard (ana-
log) lines and Numeris (ISDN) channels, and the charges for the
various services.

The following table represents total revenues from subscription
fees and the number of fixed lines for the years ending Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001 as well as the percentage change between
these periods.

The increase in revenues from subscription fees was due pri-
marily to the increases in October 2000 of monthly subscription
charges as part of France Telecom’s overall fixed line telephony
tariff reform. The monthly residential subscription charge was
increased by €0.75 as of October 14, 2000 to reach €12.55, tax
included. On the same date, the monthly Contrat Professionnel
subscription charge, France Telecom’s basic business subscription
rate, increased by €1.22 as of October 14, 2000 to reach €12.65,
excluding tax. The monthly subscription charge for the Contrat
Professionnel Présence and Numeris lines increased by €1.21 as
of October 14, 2000, to reach €16.30, excluding tax.

To a lesser extent, the increase in subscription revenues was
due to the growth in 2001 of “All Inclusive” packages, which were
introduced in November 2000. The number of subscriptions to
these packages, which entitle subscribers to a set number of local
calling hours, Internet access and complementary services at a
fixed price, increased to 2.3 million at December 31, 2001, com-
pared to 76,000 at December 31, 2000. In total, including sub-
scriptions to specialized subscription packages such as Primal-
iste, Avantage and Modulance, which entitle subscribers to reduced
calling rates in return for additional subscription fees, the num-
ber of subscribers who benefited from specialized, reduced tariff
packages increased 29.9%, from 7.2 million subscribers at Decem-
ber 31, 2000 to 9.3 million subscribers at December 31, 2001.

The number of Numeris channels continued to increase,
increasing 9.7% to approximately 420,000 channels at December

REVENUES FROM FIXED LINES TELEPHONY
SERVICES IN FRANCE AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

■   Subscription fees
■   Domestic calls      
■   Domestic telephone services
■   Payphone and calling 
       card services
■   Interconnection fees

1,233

664
955

5,158

6,542

2000
pro forma

1,126

629

1,171

2001

5,621

14,552

13,837

5,290

2000 2001

162.9 179.8

INCREASE IN TRAFFIC
(in billions of minutes)
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31, 2001, whereas the total number of telephone lines remained
stable at a total of 34.1 million lines at December 31, 2001.

Domestic calling
Revenues from domestic calling are derived primarily from

local calls and long distance calls within France made from fixed
telephone lines. From January 1, 2001, revenues from domestic
calling include fixed line-to-wireless calls made from fixed tele-
phone lines to third party wireless operators. At the same time,
costs of terminating a call, which France Telecom pays to these
third party wireless operators for carrying calls on their net-
works, are recorded as operating expense for the period. Regard-
ing fixed line-to-wireless calls made to France Telecom’s wire-
less networks in France, their inclusion under the Orange France
product line remains unchanged. Revenues from domestic call-
ing depend on (i) the total number of calls made, (ii) the mix
between local calls, long distance calls, and higher priced calls
to third party wireless network operators, (iii) call duration and
(iv) applicable rates.

Revenues from domestic calling also include revenues from
other services such as (i) calls to shared cost numbers (Numeros
Accueil), (ii) directory assistance services, (iii) operator-assisted
services and (iv) Internet access traffic other than via Wanadoo
and excluding interconnection traffic for third party Internet
access providers. Revenues from such other services represented
12% of total domestic calling revenues in 2001.

The following table sets forth information concerning total
domestic calling revenues and traffic for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage change between these
periods.

On a pro forma basis, domestic calling revenues decreased
19.1% in 2001 compared to the previous year. More than half of
this decrease in domestic calling revenues was due to the impact
of decreases in calling rates. As a result of decreases in calling rates
that occurred in April and October 2000, average revenue per
minute from domestic long distance calls for 2001 decreased
approximately 14% compared to 2000. At the same time, aver-
age revenue per minute for local calls was affected by the full-year
effect of the 5.8% decrease in local calling rates, effective as of
December 5, 2000. In addition, rates for calls made to wireless
networks have decreased 15% since February 6, 2001. The impact
of these decreases was compounded by the additional discounts
available under France Telecom’s “All-Inclusive” subscription

packages, which include flat-rate calling plans and for which rev-
enues are reported under “subscription fees”, described above.

The remainder of the decrease in domestic calling revenues
for 2001 was due to the decrease in traditional voice telephony
traffic resulting from the rapid development of wireless services
and competition from other fixed line operators, both in the
long distance market and in calls made to wireless telephones.
Traffic for local telephone calls decreased 8.4% in 2001 com-
pared to 2000, while traffic for domestic long distance calls
decreased 13.7% in 2001. Traffic to wireless telephones, which
was affected by the advent of competition for this type of com-
munication as of November 1, 2000, increased slightly by 3.8%
in 2001, after an increase of 29.7% in 2000.

International telephone services
International telephone services consist principally of inter-

national telephone calling to and from France and French over-
seas departments and territories. Revenues from international
telephone services depend on (i) the volume, duration and des-
tination of outgoing calls made and the applicable rates and (ii)
the volume and duration of incoming calls and the rates France
Telecom charges foreign operators for carrying such calls on
France Telecom’s network.

The following table sets forth information concerning inter-
national outgoing and incoming traffic volumes and revenues
for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and the per-
centage changes between these periods.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Total domestic 
calling revenues 
(€ millions) 5,290 6,542 5,208 (19.1) 1.6

Total domestic
traffic (in billions 
of minutes) 111.9 116.3 116.3 (3.8) (3.8)

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Outgoing 
international traffic 

Revenues (€ millions) (1) 630 712 712 (11.5) (11.5)

Outgoing traffic 
(in billions 
of minutes) (2) 2.9 3.0 3.0 (4.3) (4.3)

Incoming 
international traffic

Revenues (€ millions) (3) 496 521 492 (4.8) 0.8

Incoming traffic 
(in billions 
of minutes) (4) 3.9 3.9 3.9 (0.7) (0.7)

Total revenues 
(€ millions) (3) 1,126 1,233 1,204 (8.7) (6.5)

(1) Includes revenues from France Telecom’s fixed line subscribers (excluding pay-
phones and calling card revenues). These amounts show gross revenues before set-
tlement payments to foreign operators to complete outgoing international calls
once they leave France Telecom’s network. Such payments are shown as a cost
under “Costs of services and products sold (excluding depreciation and amortiza-
tion)” in the statement of income.

(2) Number of minutes is based on France Telecom’s estimates and includes only
outgoing traffic related to fixed line telephony services and excludes traffic from
payphones and calling cards.

(3) This heading has been affected by the modification of the contractual terms of
licenses awarded to wireless network operators in France as of January 1, 2001.

(4) Based on France Telecom’s estimates.
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Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Total payphone 
and calling card 
revenues (€ millions) 629 664 640 (5.3) (1.7)

Payphones at 
period-end 
(in thousands) 214 230 230 (7.0) (7.0)

Total traffic 
(in billions of minutes) 3.3 3.8 3.8 (14.9) (14.9)

Number of Telecartes 
sold (in millions) 54.7 57.2 57.2 (4.4) (4.4)

Number of Cartes 
France Telecom sold 
at period-end 
(in millions) 2.8 2.9 2.9 (3.4) (3.4)

Number of Tickets 
de Telephone sold 
(in millions) 10.9 5.2 5.2 109.6 109.6

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Total 
interconnection 
revenues
(€ millions) 1,171 955 936 22.6 25.1

Total traffic (1)

(in billions of minutes) 57.8 35.8 35.8 61.7 61.7

(1) Includes incoming interconnection traffic onto France Telecom’s network and
traffic to Internet access providers using interconnection services.

The 11.6% decrease in total revenues from outgoing interna-
tional traffic for 2001 was due mainly to the successive decreases
in its international calling rates in 2000 and, to a lesser extent, in
2001. Overall, average revenues per minute for international
calls decreased approximately 8% in 2001 compared to the pre-
vious year. The decrease in total revenues also resulted from the
4.3% decrease in outgoing international traffic volume in 2001
compared to 2000, itself due mainly to increased competition
from third-party fixed line operators.

On a pro forma basis, revenues from incoming international
traffic decreased 4.8% in 2001 compared to 2000. The effect of
the decrease of approximately 21% on the average fees for incom-
ing calls charged to foreign operators by France Telecom was
partially offset by (i) an increase in France Telecom’s share of
incoming international calls to wireless telephones and (ii) the
growth of traffic transit services.

Payphones and calling card services
Revenues from payphones and calling card services are derived

principally from (i) sales of Telecartes (France Telecom’s prepaid
calling cards used in payphones) and Tickets de telephone (pre-
paid calling cards used for calls from any telephone), (ii) calls
made with Cartes France Telecom (France Telecom’s subscriber
calling card), and (iii) calls placed from payphones using bank-
issued credit cards and coins. Revenues derived from these activ-
ities depend mainly on the number and price of Telecartes  and
Tickets de telephone sold and the volume of use of Cartes France
Telecom and bank-issued credit cards.

The following table sets forth information concerning pay-
phones and calling cards for the years ended December 31, 2000
and 2001 and the percentage changes between these periods.

less telephony services. The 14.9% decrease in traffic volume in
2001 was partially offset by the approximately 10% increase in
average revenues per minute partly resulting from an increased
share of calls to wireless telephones and international calls, which
have higher tariffs than other types of calls, while France Telecom’s
share of local calls steadily decreased in 2001.

Interconnection Fees
Interconnection fees are paid by other domestic operators of

fixed line and wireless networks to France Telecom for use of
France Telecom’s network. The fees include revenues from (i)
interconnection traffic from third-party operators that is routed
onto France Telecom’s fixed networks, (ii) interconnection traf-
fic leaving France Telecom’s network to be routed onto third
party fixed line networks (which corresponds to traffic gener-
ated when a subscriber has chosen another domestic long distance
carrier), (iii) interconnection traffic to third-party Internet access
providers (i.e. other than Wanadoo) pursuant to specific agree-
ments reached on the basis of France Telecom’s interconnection
catalogue, and (iv) lease payments from other domestic opera-
tors for hook-ups to France Telecom’s network.

Incoming interconnection traffic is traffic being routed onto
France Telecom’s network and is mainly comprised of (i) direct-
to-subscriber traffic directly from the subscriber switch, (ii) one-
way traffic when the point of entry of the call is within the same
transit area of the person being called, and (iii) two-way traffic
when the point of entry of the call is outside the transit area of
the person being called. The interconnection rate for direct access
to the subscriber’s switch is the lowest and the interconnection
rate for two-way traffic is the highest.

The following table sets forth information concerning inter-
connection fees and total traffic generated by the interconnec-
tion of other domestic operators for the years ended December
31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage changes between these
periods.

On a pro forma basis, revenues from payphones and calling card
services decreased 5.3% in 2001 compared to 2000. These ser-
vices were particularly affected by the continued growth in wire-

On a pro forma basis, interconnection revenues increased
22.6% due mainly to the rapid growth in Internet access traffic
via third party Internet service providers (i.e. other than
Wanadoo), which represented approximately two thirds of the
total growth in interconnection traffic in 2001. The growth in rev-
enues from interconnection fees was also due to a 45% increase
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in interconnection traffic volume resulting from selection of car-
riers and to an increase in interconnection traffic routed onto
France Telecom’s network from third-party fixed line and wire-
less operators, which rose 26% in 2001. The impact of these
increases in traffic volume was partially offset (i) by the unfa-
vorable evolution of the product mix, with lower average rev-
enue per minute for Internet access and pre-selection of third
party fixed line network operator than for call termination and
(ii) by the decrease in interconnection rates of approximately
7.6% for telephone traffic and 7.7% for Internet traffic, as of Jan-
uary 1, 2001.

Business networks
(6.2% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

Revenues from business networks are derived from leased lines
and data transmission services. Subscribers to France Telecom’s
leased line services pay an initial connection fee based on the
type of line leased (analog or digital) and, thereafter, monthly
subscription charges based on the type, length and capacity of the
line and the duration of the lease. Revenues derived from leased
lines depend on the total number of lines leased, their capacity
and average length and the applicable subscription charges.

Revenues from data transmission services derive from sub-
scription charges paid by customers for data network services
and rates paid for actual usage. Revenues depend on the cost
and mix of services subscribed to, rate levels and the mix of trans-
mission volume, duration and destination.

The following table sets forth information concerning France
Telecom’s business networks business for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage changes between these
periods.

Data transmission services
Revenues from data transmission services increased 19.0% in

2001, due primarily to the significant growth in development of
Internet and Intranet services, which increased 63% in 2001,
accounting for 45% of total revenues from data transmission
services. At the same time, revenues for Frame Relay increased
28% in 2001, continuing the trend of recent years. These increases
were partially offset by the underlying 16% decrease in tradi-
tional data transmission services, primarily from the X.25 stan-
dard packet switching.

Leased lines
Revenues from leased lines benefited from the rapid growth in

high speed business websites, which reached 115,000 by Decem-
ber 31, 2001, an annual increase of 75.0%. This increase was
largely offset by (i) the impact of rate reductions of up to 15% for
some high capacity digital leased lines as of January 1, 2001 and
(ii) the decrease in the number of analog lines and low capacity
digital leased lines. Revenues in 2001 were marked by a reduction
in demand for leased lines by third-party network operators, while
the demand by business customers increased less than in 2000, due
mainly to a shift in demand to data transmission services.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Data transmission 
services (€ millions) 1,395 1,172 1,172 19.0 19.0

Leased lines 
(€ millions) 1,289 1,255 1,255 2.7 2.7

Total revenues 
(€ millions) 2,684 2,427 2,427 10.6 10.6

Total access 
to data networks 
(in thousands)(1) 136.6 132.6 132.6 3.0 3.0

Total access to the 
Internet and Intranet 
(in thousands) (1) 62.6 44.7 44.7 40.1 40.1

Access connection 
capacity 
(in Gigabyte/s) (1) 18.6 11.7 11.7 58.6 58.6

Number of leased
lines (in thousands) (1) 317.7 313.2 313.2 1.4 1.4

Total capacity 
of digital leased lines 
(in Gigabyte/s) (1) 351.5 197.6 197.6 77.9 77.9

Number of business 
websites with high 
speed lines 
(in thousands) (1) (2) 115.0 65.0 65.0 75.0 75.0

(1)  At the end of the period.

(2) Number of business websites with XDSL access, fiber optic access, or access on
a 2 Megabyte(s) leased line.

REVENUES FROM CORPORATE
NETWORK SERVICES IN FRANCE 
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

2,427 2,684

■   Leased lines 
■   Data networks

1,172 1,395

1,255
1,289
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Online services
(2.2% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

Revenues from online services derive from (i) the number of
calls to the online services Teletel and Audiotel, the length of
these calls, the services called and the applicable rates, (ii) the
number, duration, and price of local Internet access calls when
they are billed to Wanadoo subscribers or when they are subject
to particular agreements with other access providers, and (iii)
revenues generated by high speed Internet access via ADSL when
service is not billed to subscribers directly by Wanadoo, includ-
ing initial start-up charges, monthly fees and additional fees.
Revenues for online services also include certain website design
and site hosting services, recorded under the heading “Other
online services”. Revenues from Teletel and Audiotel are shown
after deduction of the amounts passed through by France Tele-
com to Teletel and Audiotel for services provided.

The following table sets forth information concerning online
services provided by France Telecom for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001, and the percentage changes between these
periods.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Teletel, Audiotel and 
Internet access (1)

(€ millions) 861 717 720 20.1 19.6

Other online 
services (€ millions) 71 71 67 0.0 6.0

Total revenues 
(€ millions) 932 788 787 18.3 18.4

Traffic (2) (in billions 
of minutes) 22.2 16.6 16.6 33.5 33.5

Number of residential 
ADSL subscribers (3)

(in thousands) 408 68 68 504.7 504.7

(1) Audiotel includes electronic services accessible by telephone such as home
banking and weather forecasts.

(2) According to France Telecom’s estimates. Includes traffic from Teletel, online
directories, Audiotel and Internet access from Wanadoo.

(3) Including ADSL subscribers billed directly by Wanadoo Interactive.

REVENUES FROM ONLINE
SERVICES IN FRANCE 
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

788 932 

Teletel, Audiotel and Internet access
On a pro forma basis, revenues from Teletel, Audiotel and

Internet access increased 20.1%, due to the growth in Internet
access. Approximately two-thirds of this growth resulted from
the increase in revenues from local calls by France Telecom fixed
line subscribers to competing Internet access providers when the
traffic is billed under specific agreements with third-party Inter-
net access providers. The growth was also due to the increase in
Internet access via ADSL, for which the number of clients (includ-
ing those billed directly by Wanadoo Interactive) grew six-fold,
increasing from 68,000 at December 31, 2000 to 408,000 at
December 31, 2001. At the same time, revenues from Internet
access via Wanadoo Classique decreased 10.2% due to the suc-
cess of the Wanadoo Intégrales offers, which bundle Internet

access with call time, the revenues of which are included under
“Wanadoo - access, portals and e-merchants”. Overall, Internet
access represented 47% of Teletel, Audiotel and Internet access rev-
enues in 2001, compared to 36% in 2000.

Revenues from traditional online services (Teletel, Audiotel,
Electronic Directory) decreased 5.1% in 2001 compared to 2000.
Revenues for Teletel and Electronic Directory decreased 17.0%,
while revenues for Audiotel increased 12.2%, in 2001.

Other online services
Revenues from other online services, which include website

design and site hosting, increased 6.0% in 2001.

Broadcasting and cable television services in France
(2.5% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

The following table sets forth information concerning broad-
casting and cable television services for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage changes between these
periods.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 % %
December 31, pro forma historical pro forma historical

Broadcasting 
and audiovisual 
transmission services 
in France (€ millions) 886 846 846 4.7 4.7

Cable television 
services in France 
(€ millions) 172 164 164 4.9 4.9

Total (€ millions) 1,058 1,010 1,010 4.8 4.8

Number of cable 
subscribers at period 
end (in thousands) 824 769 769 7.2 7.2
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Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Equipment sales 387 364 364 6.3 6.3

Equipment rentals 
and maintenance 514 550 550 (6.5) (6.5)

Other revenues 420 373 373 12.6 12.6

Total 1,321 1,287 1,287 2.6 2.6

Broadcasting and audiovisual transmission services
Revenues from broadcasting and audiovisual transmission

increased 4.7% in 2001. Approximately half of this increase was
due to the signing of new broadcasting contracts, in particular for
satellite broadcasting. The increase was also due to the growth
in public broadcasting services, in particular the expansion of
activities for Disneyland Paris. To a lesser extent, the increase
resulted from telecommunications services, due to the intro-
duction of wireless operators’ relay on the infrastructure of TDF.

Cable television
The 4.9% increase in revenues from cable television services in

2001 resulted from the growth of revenues from France Tele-
com’s direct services to subscribers, which increased 13.6%. This

increase was due to the positive effects of (i) the transfer of sub-
scriptions from analog services to more profitable digital pack-
ages and (ii) a 7.2% increase in the number of subscribers, which
rose from 769,000 at December 31, 2000 to 824,000 at Decem-
ber 31, 2001. This increase was partially offset by the decrease in
revenues from operator infrastructure activities following the
Telecommunications Regulation Authority’s decision in 2001
not to renew the higher rate structure previously applicable with
respect to Numericable.

Other revenues
(3.1% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

Other revenues includes (i) equipment sales, (ii) equipment
rentals and maintenance, and (iii) other revenues. The latter
includes revenues from (i) maritime radio services, (ii) network
engineering services and (iii) telex and telegraph services.

The following table sets forth information concerning other rev-
enues for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and the
percentage changes between these periods.

Equipment sales
Revenues from equipment sales increased 6.3% in 2001 com-

pared to 2000. Revenues from sales of equipment to professional
clients and businesses (facsimile machines, automated switches
for businesses, videoconference and office equipment), which
represented nearly three-quarters of the total revenues for equip-
ment sales, increased 5.8% in 2001. At the same time, equip-
ment sales for public and residential use increased 7.8%. A total
of 877,000 telephones were sold for residential use in 2001, rep-
resenting an increase of 8.7% compared to the previous year.

Equipment rentals and maintenance
Revenues from equipment rentals and maintenance decreased

6.5% in 2001 due to the decreasing trend in telephone and Mini-
tel (telematic equipment) rentals and maintenance. Revenues
from rentals and maintenance of telephones and Minitels rep-
resented nearly two-thirds of equipment rentals and mainte-
nance revenues.

Other revenues
Revenues from other revenues increased 12.6% in 2001 due to

(i) the increase in revenues from engineering services for businesses,
which increased 26.5% and (ii) the growth in revenues from satel-
lite telecommunications services, which increased 5.2% in 2001.

OTHER REVENUES 
IN FRANCE AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

REVENUES FROM BROADCASTING 
AND CABLE TELEVISION SERVICES 
IN FRANCE AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

2000
pro forma

2001

1,287 1,321

2000
pro forma

2001

846

164

886

172

■   Broadcasting and transmission services
■   Cable television

1,010 1,058
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Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000 %

Fixed line telephony 2,574 2,377 8.3

International data transmission services 2,154 976 120.7

Other wireless services 1,430 1,245 14.9

Broadcasting and audiovisual 
transmission services 216 193 11.9

Cable television 186 156 19.2

Other revenues 404 363 11.3

Total 6,964 5,310 31.1

3.4 Fixed line, voice and data services-
Outside France
(16.2% of consolidated revenues for 2001)

The “Fixed line, voice and data services - Outside France” seg-
ment includes the activities of France Telecom’s subsidiaries out-
side France which are not included in the Orange S.A. and
Wanadoo S.A. groups, French subsidiaries which are holding
companies for non-French investments and French subsidiaries
that have ongoing, established activities outside France.

The following table sets forth information concerning Fixed
line, voice and data services - Outside France activities for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 and the percentage changes
between these periods.

Revenues from fixed line, voice and data services - Outside
France increased 31.1% in 2001 compared to 2000. This increase
is mainly due to variations in consolidation, in particular the
consolidation of Equant from July 1, 2001. On a pro forma basis,
revenues for this segment increased 3.0% due mainly to revenues
from fixed line telephony services and from Equant, which are
included in international data transmissions services.

Fixed line telephony services

Revenues from fixed line telephony services outside France
increased 8.3% in 2001. On a pro forma basis, revenues increased
7.3%, due mainly to growth in activities in Spain with Uni2,
which realized both a continued increase in the number of sub-
scribers as well as an increase in revenues per user in 2001. At the
same time, revenues from Telecom Argentina, which represented
approximately half of the revenues of fixed line telephony services
outside France, decreased 0.9% on a pro forma basis. At Decem-
ber 31, 2001, the total number of fixed telephone lines outside of
France held by companies in which France Telecom exercises
control reached 5.9 million, an increase of 14.8% from the 5.1 mil-
lion fixed telephone lines held at December 31, 2000.

International data transmission services

Revenues from international data transmission services increased
120.7% in 2001, mainly due to the contribution of Equant, fully
consolidated from July 1, 2001. Formed from the merger of Global

One and Equant, Equant focuses its activities on business data
and IP services for multinational corporations and represented
nearly all the revenues from international data transmission ser-
vices for 2001. On a twelve-month pro forma basis, revenues
from Equant increased 12.1% in 2001 compared to 2000.

Wireless telephony

Revenues from wireless operations outside France (and outside
of the Orange group) increased 14.9% in 2001. Growth in activ-
ities in Egypt, Jordan and Lebanon more than compensated for the
4.0% decline in revenues in Argentina. The number of wireless sub-
scribers outside France (and outside the Orange group) for com-
panies controlled by France Telecom increased 52.4%, from 2.6
million at December 31, 2000 to 3.9 million at December 31, 2001.

Broadcasting and audiovisual transmission services

Revenues from broadcasting and audiovisual transmission ser-
vices increased 11.9% due to acquisitions which occurred in Fin-
land, Spain and Estonia during the second half of 2001. Exclud-
ing the effect of these acquisitions, the significant growth in
European activity (outside of France) almost completely com-
pensated for the decrease in operations in the United States.

Cable television

Revenues from cable television services outside France, which
reflect the activities of Casema BV, France Telecom’s Dutch cable

q Fixed line, voice 
and data services-
Outside France
BREAKDOWN OF 2001 REVENUES
AS CONSOLIDATED
(in millions of euros)

■   Fixed line telephony
■   International data transmission services
■   Wireless services
■   Broadcasting and audiovisual 

transmission services
■   Cable television
■   Other revenues

2,574

2,154

1,430

216
186 404
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television subsidiary, increased 19.2% in 2001. The increase was
partly attributable to the increase in the number of cable televi-
sion subscribers outside France, which increased 1.7% to 1.4 mil-
lion at December 31, 2001 from 1.3 million at December 31,
2000. The increase was also due to growth in more profitable
Internet access services, for which the number of subscribers
increased 68.9%, from 54,000 subscribers at December 31, 2000
to 91,000 subscribers at December 31, 2001.

Other products

Other products outside France derive mainly from engineer-
ing services and network operation outside France, the installa-
tion and maintenance of undersea cable connections, and equip-
ment sales and rentals. On a comparable basis, revenues in 2001
were stable as compared to 2000. The growth in sales and instal-
lation of trading rooms and the increase in installation and main-
tenance of undersea cable connections compensated for the
decrease in revenues from network engineering services.

4. Consolidated operating costs
and expenses

The following table sets forth information concerning France
Telecom’s total operating costs and expenses broken down by
major components and expressed as a percentage of consoli-
dated net revenues for each of the years ended December 31,
2000 and 2001.

Year ended 2001 2000 2000 
December 31, pro forma historical

€ millions % (1)
€ millions % (1)

€ millions % (1)

Revenues 43,026 100.0 39,659 100.0 33,674 100.0

Costs of services 
and products sold 
(excluding depreciation 
and amortization) 17,619 40.9 16,794 42.3 12,733 37.8

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses 
(excluding depreciation 
and amortization) 12,520 29.1 11,541 29.1 9,685 28.8

Research and 
development expenses 
(excluding depreciation 
and amortization) 567 1.3 427 1.1 449 1.3

Total operating 
costs and expenses 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
and special items, net 30,706 71.4 28,762 72.5 22,867 67.9

Depreciation 
and amortization 
(excluding goodwill) 6,910 16.1 6,316 15.9 5,726 17.0

Special items, net 210 0.5 223 0.6 225 0.7

Total 37,826 87.9 35,301 89.0 28,818 85.6

(1) As percentage of consolidated net revenues.

Total operating costs and expenses before depreciation and
amortization and special items, net, expressed as a percentage of
revenues, increased 3.5 points in 2001, of which 1.3 points, or
€1,433 million, were directly related to the changes in treatment
of calls made from fixed lines in France to wireless networks, effec-
tive from January 1, 2001. The cost of calls made by customers from
fixed lines to wireless networks are determined by fixed line tele-
phone operators, therefore, France Telecom reported as revenue calls
made by fixed line customers to wireless networks. France Tele-
com recorded the amount it pays to third-party wireless operators
for transporting calls on their networks as operating expense.

Within a context of strong growth, the evolution of operating costs
and their structure reflects France Telecom’s strategy of focusing on:
– a balance between acquiring new customers and improving
operational profitability;
– sales and marketing;
– improving productivity of the network; and
– redeployment of personnel within France Telecom’s strategic
growth areas.

On a pro forma basis, operating costs and expenses (before
depreciation and amortization and special items, net) increased
6.8% in 2001, compared to an 8.5% increase in revenues over
the same period. Including depreciation and amortization and
special items, net, this increase was 7.1%. Total operating costs
as a percentage of revenue decreased from 89.0% at December 31,
2000 to 87.9% in 2001, on a pro forma basis.

Excluding external purchases, the two main components of
operating costs and expenses were personnel costs (€9,482 mil-
lion in 2001 compared to €8,399 million in 2000), and depreci-
ation and amortization, excluding goodwill (€6,910 million in
2001 compared to €5,726 million in 2000).

Nearly 46% of France Telecom’s personnel costs were included
in Costs of services and products sold, with the balance included
in Selling, general and administrative expenses and Research and
development expenses, except for expenses that were capitalized
on the balance sheet. For a description of personnel costs taken
as a whole, see “4.6-Personnel expenses”.

4.1 Costs of services and products sold 
(excluding depreciation and amortization)

The cost of services and products sold (excluding depreciation
and amortization) consists of all direct and indirect production costs
incurred to provide and maintain services rendered to customers,
including connection, carrying, supervision and maintenance, as
well as costs of goods and services purchased for resale, including
amounts paid to other international telecommunications operators.

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Costs of services and
products sold 
(excl. depreciation 
and amortization) 17,619 16,794 12,733 4.9 38.4
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Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 2000 % %
(€ millions) pro forma historical pro forma historical

Selling, general 
and administrative 12,520 11,541 9,685 8.5 29.3

Costs of services and products sold increased 38.4% in 2001.
This was largely due to the amounts that France Telecom pays to
third-party wireless operators for carrying calls on their net-
works, which were recorded as costs of materials and other exter-
nal charges and constituted a significant portion of the increases
under this heading on a historical basis.

On a pro forma basis, the costs of services and products sold
increased only 4.9%, while revenues increased 8.5% due to
improved productivity realized on the fixed line network in France.

This moderate increase was mainly due to development of:
– France Telecom’s activities in the wireless network sector in
France, the United Kingdom and internationally (primarily
through Globtel in Slovakia, Mobistar in Belgium, Dutch Tone
in the Netherlands and Mobilrom in Romania), in particular
due to the increase in purchases of handsets due to the increase
in the number of new subscribers;
– activities in the Internet sector; and
– activities in fixed line networks (primarily Uni2 in Spain).

In addition, costs of services and products sold (excluding
depreciation and amortization) reflected the impact of an increase
in charges paid to competing fixed line operators in France.

4.2 Selling, general and administrative expenses
(excluding depreciation and amortization)

The following table sets forth information concerning selling,
general and administrative expenses (excluding depreciation and
amortization) for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001
and the percentage changes between these periods.

The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses
(excluding depreciation and amortization) resulted mainly from
the effects of the consolidation of Orange plc and its subsidiaries,
the consolidation of the former Equant and the full consolida-
tion of Global One (these two companies now comprise the new
Equant), as well as the change in the method of consolidation for
ECMS in Egypt.

On a pro forma basis, selling, general and administrative expenses
(excluding depreciation and amortization) increased 8.5%, at the
same rate as revenues. This increase, more moderate than the
increase as calculated on a historical basis, resulted mainly from
France Telecom’s efforts to control spending, notably through:
– decreased subscriber acquisition costs for wireless telephony
in France and the United Kingdom; and
– improvement in productivity and structural expenses related
to fixed line telephony in France.

General and administrative expenses reflected the effect of the
growth in international wireless activities (notably Mobistar in
Belgium, Dutch Tone in the Netherlands, FT Dominicana in the

Dominican Republic and Mobilrom in Romania) as well as in
France and the United Kingdom (excluding acquisition costs).

4.3 Research and development expenses 
(excluding depreciation and amortization)

Research and development expenses (excluding depreciation
and amortization) totaled €567 million in 2001, compared to
€449 million in 2000, an increase of €118 million and a 26.3%
increase on a historical basis. This increase was due to the activ-
ities of France Telecom’s Research and Development Center,
FTR&D, in developing synergies between subsidiaries by means
of its Centres de Compétences Worldwide (incorporating such
features as security and electronic mail) and its shared innova-
tive solutions (for example, instant messaging between Wanadoo
and Orange). The increase in research and development expenses
(excluding depreciation and amortization) mainly results from
growth in external subcontracting, in connection with France
Telecom’s strategy to develop external initiatives begun in 2000.

After a decrease of approximately 25% in research and devel-
opment expenses between 1999 and 2000 resulting from a refo-
cusing of research and development on the needs of France Tele-
com and a withdrawal from activities outside of its core activities
(such as Opto+, microelectronic, etc.), research and develop-
ment in 2000 and 2001 focused principally on:
– third generation wireless systems and the preparation of future
offers for content and services;
– high speed Internet transmission, in particular secured distri-
bution of digital content;
– the development of new services for Orange,Voilà and Wanadoo,
notably Internet access services;
– the realization of convergence platforms with an aim of pro-
viding customers with a unified package of voice, data and image
services on the IP networks.

France Telecom also pursued research and development on
an international level through its laboratories outside of France.
Laboratories were established in Japan and the United Kingdom
in 2001.

4.4 Depreciation and amortization 
(excluding goodwill)

Depreciation and amortization (excluding goodwill) increased
21% in 2001. More than 82% of this increase was due to varia-
tions in consolidation, principally concerning:
– the full consolidation of Orange UK as of September 1, 2000;
– the full consolidation of Orange Communications S.A. as of
November 1, 2000;
– the full consolidation of Global One as of April 1, 2000 (previ-
ously proportionally consolidated) and of Equant NV as of July
1, 2001, together becoming the new Equant as of July 1, 2001;
– the change in the level of proportional consolidation (to 71.25%)
of ECMS Egypt as of January 1, 2001 (the proportional consol-
idation was 46.1% as of January 1, 2000).
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On a pro forma basis, depreciation and amortization (exclud-
ing goodwill) increased 9.4% in 2001. This increase is due mainly
to the growth in depreciation expense for wireless networks in the
United Kingdom, Switzerland, France and Belgium and for fixed
line networks such as Equant, Uni2 and CTE in El Salvador. This
increase was partially offset by a decrease in depreciation expense
for the fixed line telephony business in France, due to a decreased
level of capital expenditure in recent years.

4.5 Special items, net
At December 31, 2001, special items, net totaled a net charge

of €210 million, compared to €225 million in 2000, and repre-
sented the amortization of certain provisions for early retire-
ment of personnel as a result of a change in France Telecom’s
actuarial assumptions.

4.6 Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses do not include France Telecom’s contri-

bution to shares acquired by employees under employee share pur-
chase plans or costs related to discounting or the change in actu-
arial assumptions concerning the early retirement program.

The 12.9% increase in personnel expenses between 2000 and
2001 was mainly due to the increase in France Telecom’s inter-
national activities.

Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000 %

Personnel expenses

France Telecom S.A. 5,644 5,823 (3.1)

Domestic subsidiaries 1,285 1,016 26.5

Total in France 6,929 6,839 1.3

International subsidiaries 2,553 1,560 63.7

Total 9,482 8,399 12.9

Average number of employees
(full time equivalent)

France Telecom S.A. 123,353 130,540 (5.5)

Domestic subsidiaries 21,911 18,306 19.7

Total in France 145,264 148,846 (2.4)

International subsidiaries 60,920 40,020 52.2

Total 206,184 188,866 9.2

Number of employees 
at December 31

France Telecom S.A. 124,050 129,861 (4.5)

Domestic subsidiaries 22,832 20,907 9.2

Total in France 146,882 150,768 (2.6)

International subsidiaries 64,672 52,602 22.9

Total 211,554 203,370 4.0

France Telecom’s average number of full time equivalent
employees increased 9.2%, representing a 52.2% increase out-
side of France and a 2.4% decrease in the average number of full
time equivalent employees in France.

France Telecom S.A.

The average number of full time equivalent employees of France
Telecom S.A. decreased 5.5% in 2001 on a historical basis and 4.1%
using a constant scope of consolidation (i.e. excluding the effects
of the spin-off of France Telecom Mobiles (Orange France) and
the yellow pages directories division in 2000). The decrease was
due mainly to employee departures linked to France Telecom’s
early retirement program. From the implementation of the early
retirement program in September 1996 through December 31,
2001, 17,393 employees had chosen to accept early retirement
under the program (excluding other pre-existing early depar-
ture programs). During fiscal year 2001, 3,744 employees accepted
early retirement under the program.

France Telecom S.A.’s personnel expenses decreased 3.1% in
2001. The decrease was due mainly to a reduction in workforce
and to the effects of the spin-off of France Telecom Mobiles
(Orange France) and the yellow pages directories division, as
well as to productivity gains realized in support services and net-
works that allowed for an increase in the reassignment of per-
sonnel to France Telecom subsidiaries experiencing strong growth.

Domestic subsidiaries

The 19.7% increase in the average number of full time equiv-
alent employees of domestic subsidiaries in 2001 was due to
(excluding the impact of the spin-off of France Telecom Mobiles
(Orange France) and the yellow pages directories division) organic
and external expansion in Internet access and services, directo-
ries and hosting, as well as in wireless telephony services.

International subsidiaries

The 52.2% increase in the average number of full time equiv-
alent employees in France Telecom’s international subsidiaries
in 2001 reflected France Telecom’s growing international scope.

This increase was primarily due to the following effects of con-
solidation:
– the full consolidation of Orange UK as of September 1, 2000
(with 8,450 full time equivalent employees), Orange Communi-
cations S.A. as of November 1, 2000 (with 1,152 full time equiv-
alent employees), Indice Multimedia as of April 1, 2001 (with
791 full time equivalent employees), Telecom Mauritius from
January 1, 2001 (with 714 full time equivalent employees) and of
Freeserve from March 1, 2001 (with 254 full time equivalent
employees);
– the full consolidation of Global One from April 1, 2000 and its
merger with Equant as of July 1, 2001 (with 6,543 full time equiv-
alent employees);
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– the change in the level of proportional consolidation of ECMS
in Egypt as of January 1, 2001, from 46.1% to 71.25% (with 446
full time equivalent employees).

Excluding the effects of changes in scope of consolidation, the
average number of full time equivalent employees in France Tele-
com’s international subsidiaries increased 3.5%.

Personnel costs for international subsidiaries increased 63.7%,
mainly due to the effects of scope of consolidation previously
mentioned. In addition, certain consolidated subsidiaries in
Europe experienced higher average personnel costs than the rest
of the Group within the scope of consolidation for 2000.

This increase was also due to the significant rise in the workforce
of subsidiaries operating wireless networks, including Mobistar
in Belgium, Dutch Tone in the Netherlands and Orange Denmark,
and fixed line networks, in particular Uni2 and Catalana in Spain.

5. Net income
The following table presents information concerning operat-

ing income through net income for each of the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 2001, including information before and
after non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortization.
The non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortization con-
cern NTL, MobilCom, the contingent value rights (CVRs) related
to the acquisition of Equant, and Telecom Argentina.

5.1 Non-recurring provisions and exceptional
amortization

MobilCom

A reconsideration of the market outlook for the wireless tele-
phony market in Germany, which has two dominant wireless
operators and four new competitors, led France Telecom to depre-
ciate in full the goodwill related to MobilCom, recording  €2,509
million as exceptional amortization. France Telecom also depre-
ciated the remaining balance of the equity accounting value for
€839 million, recorded in non-operating expenses. Finally, using
prudent accounting measures, France Telecom depreciated other
assets totaling  €554 million under non-operating expenses, con-
sisting essentially of France Telecom’s shareholder advances to
MobilCom. The negative impact on net income of these items
was €3,191 million.

NTL

At December 31, 2001, France Telecom held 18.3% of the vot-
ing rights of NTL, following investments in NTL common shares
for €2.97 billion, in NTL preferred shares acquired in succes-
sive tranches in 1999 and 2000 for a total amount of €3.71 bil-
lion and in convertible notes acquired in 1999 for €230 million.

In order to reduce its debt, in early 2002, NTL began a search
for a new strategic shareholder and began to restructure its finan-
cial situation. Within this context, France Telecom decided not
to increase its financial investment in NTL and to reassess the value
of its investment in NTL on the following bases: (i) the com-
mon shares have been fully depreciated, representing a comple-
mentary provision of €2,075 million in 2001; (ii) the convertible
notes have been valued on the basis of their market price at
December 31, 2001, resulting in a depreciation charge of €161
million; (iii) the preferred shares have been depreciated for 65%
of their nominal value, resulting in a charge of €2,415 million;
(iv) a provision for risk of €811 million has been established on
the same basis for the preferred shares held by certain financial
institutions which are the subject of put and call agreements with
France Telecom; and (v) a charge of €448 million was recorded
for various costs associated with this transaction. These ele-
ments were included as non-operating expenses for a total of
€5,910 million. Overall, these charges had a negative impact of
€4,581 million on net income.

Equant CVRs

Market trends in 2001 and at the beginning of 2002 (notably
in terms of Ebitda multiples) resulted in a market value since
issue for the France Telecom CVRs issued in connection with
the acquisition of Equant corresponding to a payment of the
CVRs at maturity. While France Telecom considers that the
assumptions set forth in Equant’s business plan remain valid,
France Telecom believes that this additional payment would not
be recovered from the value in use of its investment in Equant as

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000
(€ millions) before  impact after 

non- of non- non-
recurring  recurring recurring 

provisions provisions provisions
and excep. and excep. and excep.

amort. amort. amort.

Operating income 5,200 5,200 4,856

Interest expense, net (3,847) (3,847) (2,006)

Exchange gains/(losses), net (337) (337) (141)

Discounting of early 
retirement liability (229) (229) (237)

Other non-operating 
income/(expense), net 3,476 (9,380) (5,904) 3,957

Income taxes 1,434 1,498 2,932 (1,313)

Employee profit sharing (131) (131) (141)

Equity in net income/(loss) 
of affiliates (714) (176) (890) (275)

Minority interests 172 542 714 52

Income/(loss) 
before amortization 
of goodwill 5,024 (7,516) (2,492) 4,752

Goodwill amortization (2,531) (2,531) (1,092)

Exceptional goodwill 
amortization (563) (2,694) (3,257)

Net income 1,930 (10,210) (8,280) 3,660



88

MANAGEMENT
REPORT

derived from the business plan. As a result, France Telecom
recorded a provision for the maximum risk, amounting to €2,077
million.

Telecom Argentina

Following the currency crisis relating to the Argentinean peso
that began on December 21, 2001, Telecom Argentina appointed
advisory banks to assist Telecom Argentina in managing its debt.
Telecom Argentina’s debt is mainly denominated in U.S. dollars
and the indexation of prices to the U.S. dollar has been abol-
ished. France Telecom has determined that the economic crisis
in Argentina effectively reduced its capacity to control Telecom
Argentina. As a result, Telecom Argentina, which was propor-
tionally consolidated until December 21, 2001, is now accounted
for using the equity method as from that date. France Telecom
fully amortized residual goodwill for €185 million and recorded
an exchange gains / (losses), net loss of €176 million under equity
in net income of affiliates, reducing the value of Telecom Argentina
to zero in the accounts. In total, these elements had a negative
impact of €361 million on France Telecom’s net income.

5.2 Interest expense, net and exchange
gains/(losses), net

France Telecom’s interest expense, net increased €1,842 million
to €3,847 million in 2001, compared to €2,006 million in 2000.
The increase in interest expense, net was mainly due to the full-
year effect in 2001 of the indebtedness incurred in connection
with the acquisition of Orange plc in the second half of 2000.

Exchange gains / (losses), net totaled a loss of €337 million due
to hedging on assets denominated in U.S. dollars (compared to
a loss of €399 million in the first half of 2001).

After taking into account the receivable from the sale of real
estate for  €2,689 million, France Telecom’s net debt amounted to
€60,734 million, compared to  €60,998 million at December 31,
2000 and €64,972 million at June 30, 2001. This amount includes
€10,750 million in convertible and exchangeable bonds in 2001,
compared to €2,653 million at December 31, 2000. The average
maturity of the debt increased to approximately 4.6 years at Decem-
ber 31, 2001, compared to 2 years at December 31, 2000, due to the
issuance of bonds in March and November 2001. The increase in
the average maturity of debt contributed to the rise in the weighted
average annual cost of France Telecom’s net debt from 5.74% at
December 31, 2000 to 5.82% at December 31, 2001. The longer
maturity of the debt caused an increase in issue price and margin.
The increase in the weighted average annual cost of the debt was
also due to higher issue spread demanded by bond investors. How-
ever, due to the issuance by France Telecom of bonds exchangeable
or convertible for shares of France Telecom, STMicroelectronics and
Orange, and the decrease in short-term interest rates (the EURI-
BOR three month rate decreased from 4.85% at December 31,
2000 to 3.30% at December 31, 2001), the weighted average annual
cost of the debt increased by only 8 basis points. On December 31,

2001, the weighted average spot rate for bank loans and long-term
bonds decreased to 5.29% from 5.98% on December 31, 2000.

France Telecom held 66% of its debt at fixed interest rates as
of December 31, 2001.

It is France Telecom’s policy not to engage in speculative deriva-
tive transactions. Since most derivatives are entered into to hedge
underlying business exposures, market risk in these instruments
is largely offset by equal and opposite movements in the under-
lying exposure.

5.3 Equity in net income/(loss) of affiliates
Before non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortization,

equity in net income / (loss) of affiliates showed a loss of €714
million in 2001, compared to a loss of €275 million in 2000, due
mainly to the deconsolidation of FT1CI, the holding company for
France Telecom’s indirect interest in STMicroelectronics, for which
equity in its net income was €181 million in 2000. The increased
losses from affiliates were also due to development costs and the
effects of the change in scope of consolidation for Wind in Italy, con-
solidated at a level of 43.4% until the end of July 2001, then at
26.6% from August 1, 2001, compared to 24.5% in 2000, and Mobil-
Com in Germany, consolidated at 28.5% from November 1, 2000.

These losses were partially offset by improved earnings con-
tributed by TPSA and PTK in Poland.

Including non-recurring provisions taken by France Telecom
in 2001, equity in net income/(loss) of affiliates included an addi-
tional loss of €176 million with respect to Nortel/Telecom
Argentina. France Telecom determined that the Argentinean
peso crisis reduced its capacity to control Telecom Argentina,
and as a result Telecom Argentina, proportionally consolidated
until December 21, 2001, has been accounted for using the equity
method from that date. The loss was primarily due to the
exchange rate loss recorded by the Nortel/Telecom Argentina
affiliates on their dollar-denominated debt.

5.4 Other non-operating income/(expense) net
In 2001, before non-recurring provisions and exceptional

amortization, other non-operating income/(expense), net,
amounted to €3,476 million compared to €3,957 million in
2000. This amount includes capital gains and losses from sales
of assets, dividends, income from dilution, other provision move-
ments and costs of sale of receivables.

The main items included in this category in 2001 were the cap-
ital gains realized on France Telecom’s sale of its holdings in STMi-
croelectronics for €1,068 million, in Sema Group plc for €401 mil-
lion, and in Sprint FON for €181 million, net of exchange
adjustments. The first phase of a sale of real estate assets by France
Telecom resulted in capital gains of €705 million.

In addition, other non-operating income/(expense), net in
2001 included income from dilution totaling €1,086 million
related to Wanadoo’s acquisition of Freeserve in the United King-



89

dom and Indice Multimedia in Spain, as well as income from
dilution in connection with the contribution of Infrostrada to
Wind of €934 million. It also reflected income of €482 million
following the final valuation of Global One in the context of its
merger with Equant.

Other provision movements included a net write-back of €396
million of the reserve taken at December 31, 2000 following the
Global One/Equant transaction, a provision of €134 million
relating to TE.SA.M and provisions relating to the realizable
value of certain non-strategic foreign subsidiaries, including
€141 million for Intelig. Costs of sale of receivables included €419
million relating to the sale of carry-back receivables and €79
million relating to the securitization of receivables with a Fonds
Commun de Créances.

Other non-operating income/(expense), net also included
exceptional provisions of €9,380 million, including (i) a valua-
tion allowance of €5,910 million on common and preferred
shares of NTL, convertible bonds and other charges, (ii) a pro-
vision of €2,077 million for losses and charges related to the
Equant CVRs and (iii) a provision of €1,393 million related to
the depreciation of the balance of the equity accounting value and
several assets of MobilCom.

5.5 Income taxes
France Telecom files a consolidated tax return for all French sub-

sidiaries in which it holds 95% or more of the share capital.
Following Orange’s share offer and listing, Orange S.A. and

its French subsidiaries are no longer included in the France Tele-
com S.A. consolidated tax regime in 2001 and have formed a
separate consolidated tax regime starting in 2002.

Following Wanadoo’s share offer and listing in July 2000,
Wanadoo S.A. and its French subsidiaries have a separate con-
solidated tax regime from January 1, 2001.

The following table presents information concerning income
for France Telecom before goodwill amortization, minority inter-
ests, income taxes and equity in net results of affiliates.

Corporate taxes for 2001 are calculated by applying an esti-
mated effective tax rate to income before taxes for 2001. Deferred
taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rate approved by the
legislature, i.e. 36.43% for 2001 and 35.43% for 2002.

In 2001, France Telecom S.A. and its consolidated tax regime
recorded a significant tax loss, primarily due to the Orange public
offering and the sale of France Telecom shares to SITA in connec-
tion with the Equant acquisition. This tax loss generated a carry back
of €1,630 million and a carry-forward loss of €2,231 million.

In December 2001, France Telecom sold the following gov-
ernment receivables to a financial institution:
– a receivable of €235 million resulting from the optional carry
back of the tax loss from 2000; and
– a receivable of approximately €1,471 million resulting from
the optional carry-back of France Telecom’s tax loss from 2001.
As part of the transaction, France Telecom subscribed for notes
worth €1,111 million.

Non-transferable tax loss carry forwards resulted in the recog-
nition of a credit of €1,453 million shown in France Telecom’s
income statement related to creation of a deferred tax asset, with
€778 million recorded directly against consolidated reserves for the
amount corresponding to the tax effects of the sale of France Tele-
com shares. See note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table summarizes information on the corpo-
rate taxes for France Telecom.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation between the the-
oretical tax calculated using the statutory tax rate in France and
the effective rate of income tax.

Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000

French companies (2,938) 7,423

Foreign companies (2,310) (1,135)

Total (5,248) 6,288

Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000

Income/(charges)

France Telecom S.A. carry back 1,630 76

Other (788) (1,666)

Current tax 842 (1,590)

France Telecom S.A. tax loss carry forward 1,453 –

Discounting charge for entities 
of France Telecom S.A. tax group (750) –

Other 1,387 277

Deferred taxes 2,090 277

Total taxes 2,932 (1,313)

Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000

Income/(Charge)

Legal tax rate 36.43% 37.76%

Theoretical tax 1,912 (2,374)

Permanent differences 2,846 1,433

Losses from subsidiaries not included 
in French consolidated tax regime (1,826) (1,154)

Effect of reduced tax rate – 782

Effective tax 2,932 (1,313)

The permanent differences for 2001 were mainly due to (i)
differences between the book value and the tax value of the
Orange S.A. shares offered in the initial public offering, (ii) the
dilution gains relating to Wanadoo and Wind, as well as (iii) the
effect of the gain recognized in the context of the contribution
of Global One to Equant.
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vided by operating activities increased to €7,076 million in 2001
from €6,613 million in 2000, an increase of 7%, due mainly to
the 14% increase in Ebitda, compounded by changes in current
assets and liabilities, in turn due mainly to the securitization of
trade receivables, tax receivables and future receivables, partially
offset by the increase in interest expense.

In June 2001, France Telecom sold a portion of its receivables
from its fixed line contracts with residential and business cus-
tomers in France. This non-recourse transfer was made in the
form of a securitization program using a fund that includes cur-
rent and future receivables. France Telecom oversees the man-
agement and collection of the transferred receivables on behalf
of the fund. This transaction resulted in a positive net operat-
ing cash flow of €914 million in 2001.

6.1.2 Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities comprises acquisitions
and divestitures of tangible and intangible assets, acquisitions of
equity interests, investments in companies accounted for using
the equity method and net fluctuations in other investments and
marketable securities.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased to €10,824 mil-
lion in 2001, compared to €46,888 million in 2000. This decrease
reflects a change in the nature of the transactions that occurred
between the two periods. The acquisitions of Orange plc and
the UTMS license in the United Kingdom in 2000 resulted in a
decrease in investments in 2001. In June 2001, France Telecom
acquired a majority share of the capital of Equant, with which
Global One was merged. As of December 31, 2001, after the
merger of these two companies, France Telecom held 54.17% of
the newly-created group. This transaction has not led to dis-
bursement.

At the same time, France Telecom’s program for divestiture of
non-core assets (STMicroelectronics, Sprint Fon and Sema) gen-
erated an income of €4,524 million. In 2000, a total amount of
€7,930 million was generated by divestitures, mainly from the sale
of France Telecom’s interest in Telmex and Deutsche Telekom.

In 2001, the share offer and listing of Orange S.A. generated
€6,102 million. In addition, in 2001, net cash recorded the effect
of the repurchase of a portion of shares held by Vodafone fol-
lowing the acquisition of Orange plc for €8.8 million.

6.1.3 Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to €4,726 mil-
lion in 2001, compared to €39,910 million in 2000.

France Telecom has diversified its sources of financing in
response to its increased investments, a large part of which were
realized in 2000. In addition to increased bank loans and cap-
ital markets financing, France Telecom has developed internal
sources of funding, implementing a program for disposal of

5.6 Employee profit sharing
Under the law of July 26, 1996 and applicable French labor

legislation, France Telecom has been subject to profit sharing
requirements since January 1, 1997. The profit sharing agreement,
signed with France Telecom’s major labor unions, includes France
Telecom’s French subsidiaries whose capital is directly and indi-
rectly owned at more than 50%.

The corresponding charge in 2001 amounted to €131 mil-
lion, compared to €141 million for 2000.

5.7 Income/(loss) before goodwill amortization
Before non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortiza-

tion, income/(loss) before goodwill amortization, increased to
€5,024 million in 2001 from €4,752 million in 2000. After non-
recurring provisions and exceptional amortization, that amount
was a loss of €2,492 million in 2001.

5.8 Goodwill amortization
On December 31, 2001, the recurring goodwill amortization

charge increased to €2,531 million, compared to €1,092 mil-
lion in 2000, mainly due to the significant financial investments
undertaken in connection with France Telecom’s international
expansion, especially during 2000, which generated increased
goodwill. Amortization of the goodwill on these acquisitions, in
particular including Orange plc for €1.2 billion, Equant/Global
One for €365 million, MobilCom AG for €133 million and
TPSA for €155 million, is over a period of 20 years.

In 2001, France Telecom amortized certain goodwill amounts
on an exceptional basis for a total of €3,257 million. The excep-
tional goodwill amortization related to Ananova and Wildfire
(€211 million) and Equant/Global One (€349 million) with
respect to restructuring costs and other ancillary costs of the
acquisition. Exceptional depreciation was also included with
respect to MobilCom for €2,509 million and Nortel/Telecom
Argentina for €185 million.

5.9 Net income (loss)
Before non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortiza-

tion, consolidated net income was €1,930 million in 2001. After
non-recurring provisions and exceptional amortization, France
Telecom had a consolidated net loss of €8,280 million for 2001.

6. Liquidity and capital resources

6.1 Liquidity

6.1.1 Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities results from funds gen-
erated from operations, which increased 7.9% to €7,406 mil-
lion, and changes in current assets and liabilities. Net cash pro-
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non-core assets. In 2001, France Telecom began a restructur-
ing of its financial debt by issuing exchangeable and convertible
bonds, which allowed France Telecom to partially repay its
short-term debt, primarily composed of commercial paper and
bank loans.

6.2 Capital resources in 2001
The increase in France Telecom’s debt required France Telecom

to use short term financial instruments, such as commercial
paper issuances and drawdowns of syndicated and bilateral con-
firmed credit lines. In order to reduce its short-term debt France
Telecom accessed the bond markets, in particular in March and
November 2001, issuing 17.7 billion and 5 billion euro-equiva-
lent long term notes, respectively.

France Telecom also issued 1,000 million Swiss Francs (€650
million) in the first quarter of 2001 followed by two issuances in
yen for a total amount of 325 billion yen (€3,047 million) in the
third quarter of 2001.

Long term bond offerings have permitted France Telecom to
repay €15 billion in syndicated credit lines and €5.1 billion
towards two issuances that matured in October 2001.

With respect to other obligations, France Telecom reduced its
issuances of commercial paper and short term financial instru-
ments.

Additionally, France Telecom issued three exchangeable or
convertible bond offerings in 2001:
– an exchangeable bond offering of €3,082 billion, exchange-
able into shares of Orange S.A.;
– an exchangeable bond offering of €3,492 billion, exchange-
able into shares of France Telecom; and
– an exchangeable bond offering of €1,523 billion, exchange-
able into shares of STMicroelectronics.

These exchangeable bond offerings allowed France Telecom
to decrease its refinancing costs since the coupon rates were
2.50%, 4% and 1%, respectively.

7. Capital expenditures 
and investments

The following table sets forth information concerning France
Telecom’s capital expenditures and investments for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001.

Year ended December 31, (€ millions) 2001 2000

Capital expenditures (excluding licenses) 8,091 7,245

Investments in UMTS licenses 873 7,068

Investments (1) 4,355 40,561

(1) Excluding the repurchase of a portion of shares held by Vodafone following the
acquisition of Orange plc. See 6.1.2-”Net cash used in investing activities”.

7.1 Capital expenditures

The increase in capital expenditures (excluding licenses) resulted
from changes in the scope of consolidation of Orange UK, Orange
Communications S.A. and the newly formed Equant, resulting
from the merger of Equant and Global One.

Capital expenditures (excluding licenses) increased to €8,091
million in 2001, broken down by segment in the following man-
ner:
– capital expenditures of the Orange segment totaled €3,356
million euros in 2001, compared to €2,449 million in 2000;
– capital expenditures of the Wanadoo segment totaled €111
million in 2001, compared to €96 million in 2000;
– capital expenditures of the Fixed line, voice and data services-
France segment totaled €2,718 million in 2001, compared to
€2,363 million in 2000; and
– capital expenditures of the Fixed line, voice and data services-
Outside France segment totaled €1,906 million in 2001, compared
to €2,339 million in 2000.

The 37% increase in capital expenditures (excluding UMTS
licenses) of the Orange segment in 2001 was mainly due to
changes in the scope of consolidation (including the consolida-
tion of Orange plc as of September 2000 and Orange Commu-
nications S.A. as of November 2000) and was also due to inter-
national expansion of subsidiaries, such as Globtel, Orange Sverige
and Mobistar.

Capital expenditures of the Wanadoo segment increased 15.4%
in 2001, mainly due to the consolidation of Freeserve since March
2001 and the increase in capitalized production for publishing.

Capital expenditures of the Fixed line, voice and data services-
France segment increased 15% in 2001 compared to 2000, due to
the development of Internet access and sectoral networks (high
speed and ADSL), data transmission networks and digital tele-
vision, as well as the renovation of traditional switching net-
works.

Capital expenditures of the Fixed line, voice and data services-
Outside France segment decreased more than 18% in 2001,
mainly due to fixed line and cable network infrastructure deploy-
ment by subsidiaries in 2000. These factors were partially offset
by increases due to the impact of the consolidation of Equant, as
well as the deployment of France Telecom’s international net-
work.

Investments in UMTS licenses between 2000 and 2001 break
down as follows:
– 2000: the acquisition of licenses for Orange UK for €6,632
million and for Dutch Tone multimedia BV for €436 million;
– 2001: the acquisition of licenses for Orange France S.A. for
€619 million, for Orange Denmark for €104 million and for
Mobistar for €151 million. In the case of the acquisition in
France, the French government revised the methods of awarding
UMTS licenses during the course of the year. As a result, the
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cost of the license has changed to a fixed amount of €619 mil-
lion, which France Telecom paid in September 2001, thereby sav-
ing €1.857 billion through the end of 2002, as well as a variable
amount based on the revenue generated by UMTS activity. This
change in cost represents a total reduction of €6,195 million.

7.2 Financial Investments
In 2001, net cash used in investing activities included the fol-

lowing principal financial investments:
– payment to Deutsche Telekom for the repurchase in 2000 of
18.9% of the capital of Wind for €2,076 million (payment
recorded in other short-term debts in the balance sheet at Decem-
ber 31, 2000);
– participation in the capital increase of Wind for €190 million;
– acquisition of an additional 8.93% of TPSA in Poland for €679
million, increasing the percentage of France Telecom’s interest
from 25% to 33.93% as of October 1, 2001;
– participation in the capital increase of PTK in Poland for €124
million;
– acquisition by Orange S.A. of an additional 14.75% in the Swiss
wireless operator Orange Communications S.A. for €175 million,
bringing Orange S.A.’s total holdings to 99.75%. An additional
€59 million remains payable for the outstanding payments to be
made for acquisitions that occurred during the 2000 financial year;
– repurchase of shares held by Motorola (25.15%) in
ECMS/Mobinil for a total net cash amount of €205 million,
increasing France Telecom’s holding to 71.25%;
– acquisition by Orange S.A. of an additional 15% of BITCO
(Thailand) for €158 million, bringing its direct holding to 49%;
– 100% takeover of Digita in Finland by TDF for a net cash
amount of €125 million;
– acquisition of an additional 31% of Uni2 for €102 million,
bringing France Telecom’s holding to 100%;
– increase in control of Indice Multimedia to 86.7%, of which
30%, or €85 million, was paid in cash, with the balance paid by
exchange of Wanadoo S.A. shares;

– in addition, other less significant investments were carried out
in France, Spain, Germany, Sweden and Portugal, with the goal
of reinforcing France Telecom’s competitive position in Europe.

8. Transition to the euro
Due to communication and awareness efforts, all operations

involving transition to the euro have taken place successfully and
according to the original timeline: budget and payroll as of Jan-
uary 2001 and billing services in July and August 2001 (for fixed
line telephony, wireless telephony, Wanadoo and business ser-
vices). As of September 2001, all France Telecom bills have been
stated in euros (with equivalent value in French francs).

9. Subsequent events
These events involve Pramindo Ikat and TDF. They are

described in detail in Note 30 of the exhibits to the consolidated
financial statements.

10. Outlook
France Telecom expects revenues to realize double-digit growth

again in 2002, driven by such high-growth areas as wireless, data
transmission, Internet services and international activities.

The increase in Ebitda is expected to exceed that of revenues.
The current business plan demonstrates a dynamic blend of
activities designed to create a strong leveraging effect on the
operating profitability of France Telecom, including strong Ebitda
in newer activities combined with stabilized Ebitda in the more
mature businesses.

This business plan permits significant acceleration of the gen-
eration of free cash flow from operations, which constitutes the
first prong of France Telecom’s plan to reduce indebtedness. The
second prong of the plan is the program for the disposal of non-
core assets.
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Consolidated statements of income

Year ended December 31,
(Amounts in millions of euros,
except per share data) Note 2001 2000 1999

s Sales of services and products 43,026 33,674 27,233

Cost of services and products sold (17,619) (12,733) (9,686)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (12,520) (9,685) (7,341)

Research and development expenses (567) (449) (593)

s Ebitda (1) 12,320 10,807 9,613

Depreciation and amortization (goodwill excluded) (6,910) (5,726) (4,885)

s Operating income before special items, net 22 5,410 5,081 4,728

Special items, net 24 (210) (225) (238)

s Operating income 5,200 4,856 4,490

Interest expense, net 12 (3,847) (2,006) (662)

Exchange gains/(losses), net (337) (141) (20)

Discounting of early retirement liability 18 (229) (237) (196)

Other non-operating income/(expense), net 25 (5,904) 3,957 767

Income taxes 26 2,932 (1,313) (1,797)

Employees profit-sharing (131) (141) (135)

Equity in net income/(loss) of affiliates 7 (890) (275) 259

s Income/(loss) before goodwill amortization 
and minority interests (3,206) 4,700 2,706

Goodwill amortization 4 - 7 (2,531) (1,092) (136)

Exceptional goodwill amortization 4 - 7 (3,257) – –

Minority interests 20 714 52 198

s Net income/(loss) (8,280) 3,660 2,768

s Earnings/(loss) per share

Income/(loss) before goodwill amortization 
and minority interests
• basic (2.91) 4.41 2.64
• diluted (2.91) 4.33 2.60

Net income/(loss) 
• basic (7.51) 3.44 2.70
• diluted (7.51) 3.38 2.66

(1) Ebitda : operating income before special items, net and depreciation and amortization.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At December 31,

(Amounts in millions of euros) Note 2001 2000 1999

Assets
Goodwill, net 4 34,963 36,049 1,206

Other intangible assets, net 5 18,189 16,289 925

Plant, property and equipment, net 6 31,728 34,623 28,964

Investments accounted for using the equity method 7 8,912 10,506 1,066

Investment securities, net 8 3,240 10,218 5,673

Other long-term assets, net 9 1,936 722 443

Deferred income taxes, net 26 5,369 2,532 2,285

s Total long-term assets 104,337 110,939 40,562

Inventories 900 1,216 621

Trade accounts receivable, less allowances 
(1,475 in 2001, 1,406 in 2000 and 1,137 in 1999) 9 7,596 8,783 6,884

Deferred income taxes, net 26 1,102 1,609 677

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10 6,653 4,782 2,676

Receivable from divestment of real estate 6 2,689 – –

Marketable securities 12 1,138 216 211

Cash and cash equivalents 12 2,943 2,040 2,424

s Total current assets 23,021 18,646 13,493

s TOTAL ASSETS 127,358 129,585 54,055

94

Consolidated balance sheets

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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At December 31,

(Amounts in millions of euros) Note 2001 2000 1999

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Share capital of 1,153,831,943 shares 
(€ 4 par value) 4,615 4,615 4,098

Additional paid-in capital 24,228 24,228 6,629

Retained earnings 4,682 2,748 5,255

Net income (loss) for the year (8,280) 3,660 2,768

Foreign currency translation adjustment 844 59 153

Own shares (5,002) (2,153) –

s Shareholders’ equity 21 21,087 33,157 18,903

s Minority interests 20 8,101 2,036 1,369

Convertible and exchangeable notes 13 10,750 2,653 2,654

Other long and medium term financial borrowings 14 43,793 27,894 9,579

Other long-term liabilities 18 8,663 5,220 4,182

s Total long-term liabilities 63,206 35,767 16,415

Current portion of long 
and medium term borrowings 14 1,596 7,542 2,551

Bank overdrafts and other short-term borrowings 15 11,365 25,165 2,479

Trade accounts payable 8,631 7,618 5,330

Accrued expenses and other payables 7,259 7,729 4,208

Other current liabilities 19 2,481 8,113 1,175

Deferred income taxes 26 374 512 495

Deferred income 11 3,258 1,946 1,130

s Total current liabilities 34,964 58,625 17,368

s TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 127,358 129,585 54,055

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated statements 
of cash flow

Year ended December 31,

(Amounts in millions of euros) Note 2001 2000 1999

s OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income/(loss) (8,280) 3,660 2,768

Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) 
to funds generated from operations

Depreciation & amortization of property,
plant & equipment and intangible assets 12,698 6,818 5,021

(Gain) on divestment of real estate 25 (705) – –

(Gain) loss on divestment of other tangible 
and intangible assets (92) (23) 2

(Gain) loss on divestment of other assets 25 (2,093) (7,677) (598)

Changes in valuation allowances and other provisions 25 7,860 4,113 79

Undistributed earnings of affiliates 841 276 82

Deferred income taxes 26 (2,090) (277) 297

Minority interests 20 (714) (52) (198)

Other items (19) 25 29

s Funds generated from operations 7,406 6,863 7,482

Decrease (increase) in inventories 341 (329) (176)

Decrease (increase) in trade accounts receivable (628) (978) (780)

Securitization of receivables 9 914 – –

Decrease (increase) in other current assets (1,974) (1,372) (668)

Impact of sale of carry-back receivables 26 (1,111) – –

Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable (588) 936 1,084

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 2,026 1,493 1,167

Impact of sales of future receivables 18 690 – –

s Other changes in current assets and liabilities (330) (250) 627

s Net cash provided by operating activities 7,076 6,613 8,109

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended December 31,

(Amounts in millions of euros) Note 2001 2000 1999

s INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets 5 - 6 (8,553) (14,313) (5,001)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant,
and equipment and intangible assets 296 274 150

Cash paid for Orange plc 3 – (21,693) –

Purchase of own shares (Orange plc acquisition) 3 (8,807) – –

Orange SA IPO proceeds 3 6,102 – –

Cash paid for investmens securities 
and acquired businesses, net of cash acquired 3 (1,071) (10,899) (2,502)

Investments in affiliates 7 (3,284) (7,969) (302)

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 
and businesses, net of cash sold 3 - 8 4,524 7,930 720

Decrease (increase) in marketable securities 
and other long-term assets (31) (218) 288

s Net cash used in investing activities (10,824) (46,888) (6,647)

s FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of long-term debt 12 37,244 21,528 1,088

Repayment of long-term debt 12 (18,174) (3,229) (2,389)

Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts 
and short-term borrowings 12 (13,556) 21,002 1,092

UMTS vendor financing 18 234 – –

Minority interest shareholder contributions 181 1,847 199

Dividends paid to minority shareholders 20 (128) (213) (71)

Appropriation of net income (1,075) (1,025) (1,025)

s Net cash used in financing activities 4,726 39,910 (1,106)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 978 (365) 356

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash 
and cash equivalents (75) (19) 26

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,040 2,424 2,042

s Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,943 2,040 2,424

s SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

Cash paid during the period for:

• Interest (3,695) (2,132) (1,001)

• Income taxes (610) (1,771) (1,106)
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Consolidated statements of 
changes in shareholders’ equity

Number Share Additional Retained Foreign Own Total
of shares capital paid-in earnings currency shares

(Amounts in millions of euros issued capital translation
except per share data) adjustment

s At January 1, 1999 1,024,614,561 3,905 6,629 6,472 (15) 0 16,991

Net income for the year 1999 2,768 2,768

Increase in capital (note 21) 1,340 193 (193) 0

Movements in holdings of own shares 1 1

Appropriation of net income (1,025) (1,025)

Translation adjustment 168 168

s Balance at December 31, 1999 1,024,615,901 4,098 6,629 8,023 153 0 18,903

Net income for the year 2000 3,660 3,660

Increase in capital (note 21) 129,216,042 517 17,599 18,116

Movements in holdings of own shares 
(note 21) (2,153) (2,153)

Adjustment on Orange plc 
acquisition cost (note 3) (4,335) (4,335)

Appropriation of net income (1,025) (1,025)

Translation adjustment (94) (94)

Other movements 85 85

s Balance at December 31, 2000 1,153,831,943 4,615 24,228 6,408 59 (2,153) 33,157

Net income for the year 2001 (8,280) (8,280)

Movements in holdings of own shares 
(note 21) (1,271) (2,849) (4,120)

Appropriation of net income (1,075) (1,075)

Translation adjustment 785 785

Other movements (note 7) 620 620

s Balance at December 31, 2001 1,153,831,943 4,615 24,228 (3,598) 844 (5,002) 21,087

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to consolidated 
financial statements

1. Description of business
France Telecom group (“France Telecom”) with notably its
publicly listed subsidiaries Orange, Wanadoo and Equant, is
one of the leading telecommunications operators in the world
and is the principal telecommunications operator in France.
France Telecom provides consumers, businesses and other tele-
communication carriers with a wide range of services including
fixed line and mobile telecommunications, data transmission,
Internet and multimedia, broadcasting and other value added
services.

2. Summary of significant
accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements of France Telecom are pre-
pared in accordance with French generally accepted account-
ing principles under rule 99-02 of the Comité de la Réglemen-
tation Comptable (CRC).

France Telecom has reviewed provisions recorded at December
31, 2001 and does not anticipate any significant impact with
respect to the first application on January 1, 2002 of rule 
CRC 00-06 on liabilities.

PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated balance sheet, statement of income and state-
ment of cash flows are prepared in euros.

• Ebitda represents operating income before special items, net
and before depreciation and amortization.

• Operating income before special items, net is presented separ-
ately.

• Operating income represents the difference between operating
revenues and charges. It includes specific non-recurring items,
recorded under the heading “Special items, net” within Oper-
ating Income.

• The costs resulting both from the discounting of the French
early retirement plan and from the French legal regime of
employee profit sharing are presented as a separate line item in
the consolidated statement of income after Operating Income.

• The “Other non-operating income/(expense), net” relates
mainly to gains and losses on the disposal of consolidated sub-
sidiaries and investment securities including dilution results
and the change in provisions against investment securities and
marketable securities, dividends received, and movements in re-
structuring provisions. This heading also includes results on
disposals where their relative size exceeds ordinary activity (real
estate, commercial receivables…).

• The goodwill amortization charge relates to the goodwill of
fully and proportionally consolidated companies as well as
investments accounted for under the equity method.

• The balance sheet classifies assets and liabilities based on
liquidity or maturity dates, and presents short-term balances
(due within one year) separately from long-term balances.

• The statement of cash flows excludes from changes in cash
those changes in bank overdrafts and marketable securities
having maturities in excess of three months at the time of pur-
chase, which are presented as financing and investing activ-
ities.

Moreover, in order to ensure comparability of the 2001 finan-
cial statements with those of prior years, specific headings have
been introduced on the face of the balance sheet and statement
of income at December 31, 2001 in order to reflect directly (i)
the receivable from the sale of real estate (see note 6) and (ii)
the exceptional goodwill amortization.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The main consolidation principles are as follows:

• Companies which are wholly owned or which France 
Telecom controls, either directly or indirectly, are fully consoli-
dated;

• Companies in which France Telecom and a limited number of
other shareholders exercise joint control are accounted for using
the proportionate consolidation method;

• Companies over which France Telecom exercises significant
influence but does not control (generally a 20% to 50% control-
ling interest), are accounted for under the equity method;

• Material inter-company balances and transactions are elimi-
nated.
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TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN
SUBSIDIARIES

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries in a non euro
functional currency, except for those in countries with hyper-
inflationary economies, are translated into euros as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end rate;

• items in the statement of income are translated at the average
rate for the year;

• the translation adjustment resulting from the use of these dif-
ferent rates is included as a separate component of shareholders’
equity.

The financial statements of the Argentinian subsidiaries have
been converted under the terms of the CNC (Conseil National
de la Comptabilité) announcement of January 18, 2002 relating
to the accounting consequences of the devaluation of the Argen-
tinian peso. Balance sheet items, revenues and expenses from
significant operations from December 21, the date on which the
Argentinean peso ceased to be quoted, to December 31, 2001
have been converted using a rate of 1.65 peso for 1 euro.

The local currency financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
operating in countries with hyper-inflationary economies are
remeasured into their functional currency, prior to converting
to euro, using the following method:

• monetary elements of the balance sheet are translated at the
closing rate;

• non-monetary elements are converted at the historical rate;

• items in the statement of income are translated at the average
rate for the year except for depreciation and amortization 
charges which are translated at the historical rate;

• the translation adjustment resulting from the use of these dif-
ferent rates is recorded in the income statement as an exchange
gain or loss.

The financial statements of subsidiaries remeasured as de-
scribed above are then translated into euro using the method
applied to all foreign subsidiaries of France Telecom.

TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

At year-end, foreign currency denominated monetary balances,
except for those hedged by currency swap contracts, are trans-
lated at closing exchange rates.

Unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency denominated
balances, except for those hedged by currency swap agreements
and for those arising on liabilities effectively hedged by assets
in the same currency, are recognized in the statement of in-
come for the period.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

France Telecom’s principal sources of revenue are recognized as
follows:

• Revenues from telephone subscriptions or Internet access are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the invoicing period;

• Revenues from incoming and outgoing traffic are recognized
when the service is rendered;

• Revenues from sales of telecommunications equipment, net
of point of sales discounts, and connection charges are recog-
nized upon delivery to the customer or activation of the line,
as appropriate;

• Revenues from Internet advertising are recognized over the per-
iod that services are provided. Barter transactions are record-
ed, only when their value can be determined, and in this case
are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services provided
or received, whichever is more readily determinable in the 
circumstances;

• Revenues from advertisements in printed and electronic direc-
tories are recognized when directories are published.

CUSTOMER ACQUISITION COSTS AND LOYALTY COSTS

Customer acquisition costs and loyalty costs relating to mo-
bile and Internet customers are expensed as incurred. These
costs consist principally of commissions and rebates paid to
distributors.

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs
amounted to € 1,063 million in the year ended December 31,
2001, € 939 million in the year ended December 31, 2000, and
€ 664 million in 1999.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

WEB SITE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Costs relating to the development of web sites are capitalized
or expensed depending on the phase of development of sites:
costs relating to the planning and operating stages are expensed,
costs related to development and creation of the design are
capitalized.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Two types of earnings per share are shown: basic earnings per
share and diluted earnings per share. The number of shares
used for the calculation of diluted earnings per share takes into
account the conversion into ordinary shares of existing poten-
tially dilutive instruments. Diluted earnings are calculated as net
result adjusted for the financial charges of dilutive instruments,
net of their effect on tax and employee profit sharing.

Own shares held, when recorded as a reduction in consoli-
dated shareholders’ equity, are not included in the calculation
of earnings per share.

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES

France Telecom does not consider itself exposed to a concen-
tration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable
due to its large and diverse customer base (residential, profes-
sional and large business customers). Allowances are recorded
on the basis of an evaluation of the risk of non-recovery of
receivables. The allowances are based on an individual or 
statistical assessment of this risk.

Customer receivables which are securtized are removed from the
heading “Trade accounts receivables, less allowances” when the
rights and obligations attached to such receivables are defini-
tively transferred to third parties. Subordinated shares held in
Fonds commun de créances as part of these transactions are
recorded as “Other long-term assets, net”. Depreciation of such
shares, determined based on the risk of non-recovery of the
receivables divested, is presented as a reduction in “Other long-
term assets, net”.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid
investments with maturities generally of three months or less
at the time of purchase and are stated at cost, which approxi-
mates fair value.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities are valued at acquisition cost. When neces-
sary, a provision is recorded on an investment-by-investment
basis to adjust this value to the average market value over the
month prior to year-end or their estimated trading value for
securities not publicly traded.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or probable net real-
izable value taking into account notably future revenue expect-
ed from new subscriptions arising from mobile handset sales.
Cost relates to acquisition or production costs and is general-
ly determined using the weighted average method.

PURCHASE ACCOUNTING AND GOODWILL

Upon acquisition of a business, the purchase price is allocated
on a fair value basis to the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the business acquired. The fair value of identifiable intangible
assets such as trademarks, licenses and customer relationship
is determined using generally accepted methods such as the
income approach, the cost approach, or the market value
approach.

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the share
of identifiable assets and liabilities of the business acquired is
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under the heading
“Goodwill” for fully and proportionally consolidated entities and
is included in the heading “Investments accounted for under the
equity method” for entities over which France Telecom has a
significant influence.

Goodwill related to foreign companies is recorded as an asset
in their functional currency.

Where there is a partial disposal of shares in fully or propor-
tionally consolidated companies, the cost of the assets sold
includes the related portion of goodwill disposed of which is
removed from the balance sheet at disposal, be it through a
direct sale in exchange for another asset or through a dilution.

The amortization period for goodwill, usually ranging from 5
to 20 years, is determined after taking into consideration the spe-
cific nature of the business acquired and the strategic value of
each acquisition.

The value in use of goodwill is subject to review when events
or circumstances occur indicating that an impairment may
exist. Such events or circumstances include significant adverse
changes, other than temporary, in the business environment, or
in assumptions or expectations considered at the time of the
acquisition. The need to recognize an impairment charge is
assessed with reference to undiscounted cash flows as esti-
mated based on prospective economic and operating assump-
tions used by the management of France Telecom.

Impairment charges are recorded, where necessary, as the dif-
ference between net book value and fair value. The recoverable
value of the goodwill is assessed with reference to cash flow
projections discounted using appropriate rates and consider-
ing other advantages expected at the acquisition date such as
synergies resulting from the integration of the business with
France Telecom’s operations and its strategic position for the
Group.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other intangible assets include trademarks, customer rela-
tionship, licenses, patents and submarine cable link access rights.

Licenses to operate mobile networks are recorded at historical
cost and amortized on a straight-line basis from the effective date
of commercialization of services.

The right to operate, in France, a third generation mobile net-
work (UMTS) is recorded for the fixed portion payable at the
grant of the license, and this fixed portion is amortized on a
straight line basis from the effective date of commercialization
of services. According to the ruling of the urgent issues task
force of the CNC, the variable portion (equal to 1% of the eli-
gible sales generated by the third generation network) will be
recorded as an operating expense in the period incurred.

Trademarks and customer relationship are not amortized.
Impairment is recorded, as necessary, taking into account oper-
ating conditions.

Purchases of capacity transmission on land and submarine
cables (IRUs) are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line
basis over the forecast useful life. Income from sale of IRUs is
recorded on a straight-line basis in the statement of income
over the duration of the contract.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Assets transferred from the French State on January 1, 1991,
upon the creation of France Telecom as a public sector operator,
were recorded in the opening balance sheet at values jointly
approved by the Telecommunications Ministry and the Minis-
try of Economy and Finance.

Since that date, property, plant and equipment are recorded at
historical cost of acquisition or at construction cost. Cost of
networks includes planning and construction costs, as well as
site installation and equipment upgrade costs.

Interest arising from debt incurred to finance construction and
development of assets is, from January 1, 2000, capitalized as part
of the cost of such assets during the construction period.

Repairs and maintenance costs, except to the extent that they
increase productivity or extend the useful life of an asset, are
expensed as incurred.

Leased assets are recorded as an acquisition of an asset and the
incurrence of a financial debt when the lease terms effectively
transfer the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
France Telecom. Equally, where France Telecom transfers the
risks and rewards of ownership to a third party through a lease
contract, this is accounted for as a disposal.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is measured
on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 10 to 30 years

Switching, transmission equipment 
and other network equipment 5 to 10 years

Cables and public infrastructure 15 to 20 years

Computers and software (excluding network) 3 to 5 years

Other 3 to 14 years

INVESTMENT SUBSIDIES

France Telecom may receive non-repayable investment subsid-
ies in the form of capital projects funded directly or indirectly
by third parties, primarily local and regional governments. Sub-
sidies are recorded as a reduction of the cost of the assets financed
and, consequently, are recognized in income over the estimated
useful lives of the corresponding assets.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Plant, property and equipment and intangible assets are writ-
ten down when, as a result of events or changes in circum-
stances, their recoverable value appears to be permanently less
than their carrying value.

• For assets to be held and used, impairment is principally deter-
mined for each group of assets by comparing their carrying
value with the undiscounted cash flows they are expected to
generate based upon management’s expectations of future eco-
nomic and operating conditions.

Where necessary, impairment of these assets is recorded as the
difference between carrying value and fair value. Fair value is
determined on the basis of discounted cash flows or by reference
to replacement cost for used equipment, cost of alternative
technologies or recent transactions for similar businesses, or
market prices.

• Assets to be disposed of are written down to their fair value,
less costs of disposal, when such value is lower than their carry-
ing value.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Investment securities are stated at cost, including any associ-
ated direct costs. An allowance is recorded when the value in use,
based upon management’s analysis, appears to be permanently
less than carrying value, on the basis of different criteria such
as market value, the outlook for development and profitability,
and the level of shareholders’ equity, and taking into account
the specific nature of each investment.

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are recorded on all temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax pur-
poses, as well as those arising from loss carry forwards. De-
ferred tax assets are provided for to the extent that the recovery
of these taxes is not considered probable.

France Telecom uses the liability method under which deferred
taxes are measured applying the tax rates enacted at the end of
the accounting period, as applicable at the time the temporary
difference is expected to reverse. Where significant, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are discounted when reversals can be
reliably scheduled.

DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

Debt issuance costs are amortized over the term of the related
debt instrument since January 1, 2000.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

Own shares held by France Telecom are reflected in the con-
solidated balance sheet at their acquisition cost as a reduction
in shareholders’ equity except for those held in share price stabil-
ization transactions, which are recorded as marketable securities.
Gains and losses on disposals of such shares, including related
taxes are recorded within shareholders’ equity, net of tax. Allow-
ances recorded against own shares held within investment secur-
ities in the single company financial statements of France Tele-
com, as well as provisions for risk relating to commitments to
repurchase own shares, are eliminated on consolidation.

Commitments to repurchase own shares, set out in note 28,
are recorded as an off balance sheet commitment until the
repurchase.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

France Telecom manages interest rate and foreign currency
risks using derivative financial instruments including interest
rate swaps, interest rate cap and floor contracts, foreign exchange
futures contracts on organized forward markets, currency swaps
and currency options. All such instruments are entered into
for hedging purposes.

Income and costs resulting from the use of these instruments
are recorded in the consolidated statement of income on a sym-
metrical basis with the underlying transaction being hedged:

• differences between interest receivable and interest payable
on swaps, caps and floor contracts designated as hedges, as well
as premiums paid for these operations or discounts, are recorded
in the consolidated statement of income over the life of the
contract as an adjustment to interest expense;

• initial differences between the negotiated term rate and the
fixing rate for the day on forward exchange contracts and cur-
rency swaps designated as hedging operations are recorded in
income over the life of the contract as an adjustment to inter-
est expense. Subsequent gains and losses generated on these
contracts due to fluctuations in exchange rates are recorded as
exchange rate corrections resulting from the item hedged;

• gains and losses arising on contracts designated as hedges of
identifiable firm commitments or identifiable future trans-
actions are deferred and taken into account in the valuation of
the transaction at maturity.

Certain operations do not qualify for accounting purposes as
hedging operations under France Telecom’s policy. Derivative
financial instruments which do not qualify for accounting pur-
poses as hedging operations relate mainly to operations related
to management of short-term debt (the Euribor 3 month fu-
ture contract and rate collars). Such operations are evaluated
as follows:

• for operations on organized markets, margin calls are recorded
directly in the statement of income;

• net unrealized losses, calculated on instruments negotiated
over the counter, are fully provided for;

• unrealized gains on instruments negotiated over the counter
are recorded upon unwinding of the position.

PENSION PLAN FOR FRENCH CIVIL SERVANTS

Civil servants employed by France Telecom are eligible to receive
retirement benefits from the civil servant and military per-
sonnel defined benefit pension plan, which is administered by
the French State.

The “France Telecom Law” (FT law) (French law n° 96-660 of
July 26, 1996) states that France Telecom’s obligation is limited
to a defined annual contribution. As a result, France Telecom
has no additional liability either for shortfalls that might arise
in the pension plan for its civil servant employees, or for plans
of other civil servants.

EARLY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR FRENCH CIVIL SERVANTS

In accordance with the “FT law”, France Telecom has intro-
duced an early retirement plan for civil servants and other
employees. The plan provides that until December 31, 2006,
civil servants and other employees working for France Tele-
com who attain the age of 55 with 25 years service, may elect
for early retirement. Between early retirement age of 55 and
normal retirement age of 60, participants will receive 70% of
their salary. In addition, participants receive a lump sum indem-
nity, which amounts to one year of early retirement salary if they
elect for early retirement at the age of 55, and which declines
progressively to zero as the age at which they elect approaches
normal retirement age.

A provision corresponding to an actuarial measurement of the
liability under this plan has been recorded (see note 18). Actua-
rial assumptions are monitored and modified based upon
experience.

Changes in actuarial assumptions are accounted for from the
anniversary of the plan, in the consolidated statement of income
in the year of change, and on a prorata basis over future service
periods until the end of the plan as personnel opt for early 
retirement.

RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER PENSION PLANS

In France, legislation requires that lump sum retirement indem-
nities be paid to non-civil servant employees based upon their
years of service and compensation at retirement. The actuarial
cost of this unfunded obligation is charged annually to income
over the employees’ service lives. The effect of changes in
assumptions is accounted for in the consolidated statement of
income over the average remaining service life of employees.

British subsidiaries of Orange S.A. and Equant have for eligible
employees defined contribution pension schemes and un-
approved retirement benefit schemes financed by third parties.
Contributions to both types of plans are expensed as incurred.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

France Telecom has commitments to provide certain addition-
al post-retirement benefits such as telephone equipment,
credit card fees and various other benefits to retirees.

France Telecom recognizes the expected actuarial cost of these
post-retirement benefits in the consolidated statement of income
over the service lives of the eligible employees.

The effect of changes in actuarial assumptions is accounted for
in the consolidated statement of income over the average
remaining service lives of employees.
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STOCK SUBSCRIPTION PLANS

Shares of subsidiaries issued upon exercise of subscription
options granted to employees are reflected as a share capital
increase, based on the exercise price of the options, creating a
dilution result for France Telecom.

With regard to purchase options, a provision is recorded in the
books of the subsidiary to the extent that the acquisition cost
of the shares purchased to service the exercised options is higher
than the exercise price of the options.

Social charges assumed in connection with the share option
plan are provided for when it is probable that the options will
be exercised.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions which affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes,
notably with regard to provision for risks, deferred tax assets,
goodwill and investment securities. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

3. Main acquisitions 
and divestitures of companies
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Main acquisitions

Equant
Following the Extraordinary General Meeting of Equant on
June 27, 2001, and in accordance with the agreement conclud-
ed in November 2000, France Telecom performed the follow-
ing transactions on June 29, 2001:

• acquisition of 67,950,000 Equant common shares from the
SITA Foundation in exchange for France Telecom shares at a
ratio of 2.2 Equant shares per France Telecom share, resulting
in consideration of € 1,739 million based on the share price at
June 29, 2001 of € 56.3 per share;

• investment of US$ 1 billion (€ 1,179 million) through sub-
scription for 10 million newly issued Equant convertible prefer-
ence shares; each preference share has the same voting rights as
one Equant common share and will automatically convert into
one new Equant common share five years after the date of sub-
scription, and

• contribution to Equant in exchange for 80,617,348 newly
issued Equant common shares, of 100% of the share capital of
Global One Communications World Holding BV and Global
One Communications Holding BV, with France Telecom retain-
ing certain activities previously performed by Global One. This
contribution was valued on the basis of discounted future cash
flows at US$ 5,168 million (€ 6,094 million), including contrib-
uted cash amounting to US$ 300 million.

As a result of these transactions, France Telecom owned, at
June 29, 2001, 54.27% of the combined company Equant.

Under the terms of the agreement, within a two-year period,
France Telecom is to pay back to Equant:

• 50% of costs related to the preservation of employment or
the cancellation of employment contracts for certain employees
of the newly combined company Equant - Global One;

• restructuring and integration costs other than those relating
to employees, up to a maximum of US$ 210 million.

On the basis of these elements, the preliminary purchase
accounting for Equant at December 31, 2001 is as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Contribution of Global One 6,094

Proceeds from subscription 
of the 10 million Equant 
preference shares, paid in cash 1,179

7,273

Minority interests,
corresponding 
to Equant shareholders x 45.73% 3,326

Acquisition of Equant common shares 
from the SITA Foundation 1,739

Restructuring, integration 
and associated acquisition costs 369

Preliminary acquisition cost 5,434

Fair value of net assets acquired 634

Preliminary goodwill 4,800

Preliminary goodwill in euros is amortized from July 1, 2001,
over periods of up to 20 years, and amounts to € 4,800 million
(US$ 4,071 million). The acquisition and restructuring costs
associated with the acquisition were depreciated in the second
half of 2001 (see note 4).

Equant CVRs
On July 2, 2001, France Telecom issued to all Equant share-
holders other than the SITA Foundation and to certain owners
of share options and restricted share awards granted by Equant
before November 19, 2000, 138,446,013 contingent value rights
(“CVR”). Each CVR gives the holder the right to receive a cash
payment, on the third anniversary of the completion of the
Equant transaction (June 2004), representing the difference if
negative between the average Equant share price for a defined
period and € 60, limited to a maximum of € 15 per share.
Movement in market price in 2001 and in the beginning of
2002 (notably in terms of Ebitda multiples) has resulted in a
CVR market value since issue corresponding to a payment of
the CVR at maturity. Whilst considering that the Equant busi-
ness plan assumptions remain valid, France Telecom manage-
ment considers that such a payment would not be recovered
from the value in use of the Equant investment as derived from
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the business plan. As a results of this, France Telecom has recorded
a provision for the maximum risk, amounting to € 2,077 million
(see note 18).

TP SA 
Under an agreement signed on September 5, 2001 between the
Polish government and the consortium lead by France Tele-
com, France Telecom and Kulczyk Holding, its partner in the
consortium, increased their share in TP SA by 8.93% and 3.57%
respectively for a total of PLN 3,656 million (€ 950 million) of
which PLN 2,612 million (€ 679 million) were paid by 
France Telecom. Following this operation, the consortium holds
47.5% of TP SA, of which 33.93% is held by France Telecom.
The consortium holds a call option for a supplementary invest-
ment of 2.5% plus one share. Moreover, put and call options
have been concluded between Kulczyk Holding and France
Telecom relating to the participation of Kulczyk Holding in TP
SA (see note 28).

The preliminary goodwill relating to this complementary
investment amounts to € 213 million and is amortized over
20 years from October 1, 2001. The investment in TP SA is
accounted for under the equity method (see note 7).

Freeserve
In December 2000, Wanadoo SA made an offer for the entire
share capital of Freeserve, the main Internet services provider
in the United Kingdom. The offer was carried out in March
2001 on the basis of a parity of 0.225 new Wanadoo shares for
each Freeserve share. The number of shares issued at amounts
to 230,069,681, resulting in a purchase price of € 2,078 million.

The resultant goodwill for this operation amounts to € 1,886 mil-
lion and is amortized over a 20-year period from March 1, 2001
(see note 4).

Indice Multimedia
On December 18, 2000, Wanadoo agreed to acquire the entire
share capital of Indice Multimedia, the second largest directory
operator in Spain. At the general meeting on March 22, 2001 and
in accordance with the agreement, Wanadoo acquired 86.71%
of the capital of Indice Multimedia by issue of 20,325,444 shares
and a cash payment of € 80.5 million, representing an acqui-
sition cost of € 190 million. The remainder of the capital will
be acquired through options granted both to shareholders, in
cash when the option is exercised, and also to certain share-
holders, in cash and in Wanadoo shares at exercise.

The acquisition of Indice Multimedia gave rise to goodwill of
€ 318 million being amortized over a 20-year period from
April 1, 2001 (see note 5).

Wind
On October 11, 2000, France Telecom and Enel reached an
agreement relating to the acquisition of Infostrada by Enel and
its commitment to merge Wind and Infostrada.

Under this agreement, and following an extraordinary general
meeting on July 30, 2001 which approved a capital increase
reserved for Enel as a consideration for the contribution of
Infostrada, France Telecom’s interest was reduced from 43.4%
to less than 27% in the new entity. The effect of this operation
is a dilution gain of € 934 million. The merger of Wind and
Infostrada had legal effect at January 1, 2002.

Moreover, under this agreement, France Telecom and Enel
agreed to make a public offering of 25% of Wind, subject to mar-
ket conditions. The agreement includes put and call options
over Wind shares with Enel, in favor of France Telecom (see
note 28).

Orange SA IPO
In February 2001, France Telecom sold 636 million existing
shares of Orange SA representing 13.24% of the total number
of existing shares and voting rights in Orange SA, through a
public offer to private and institutional investors as well as
employees. The net proceeds from these offers amounted to
€ 6.1 billion.

Since February 13, 2001, Orange SA shares have been listed on
the Premier Marché of Euronext Paris SA and on the London
Stock Exchange. This operation has no material impact on
consolidated income before tax at December 31, 2001, as a pro-
vision of € 1,773 million to cover the expected loss was re-
corded in the financial statements at December 31, 2000.

Following this offering and the transfer to E.On of 102.7 million
shares of Orange SA as a consideration for 42.5% of Orange
Communications SA, acquired in November 2000, France Tele-
com owns 84.4% of Orange SA (see note 28 – commitments
linked to the acquisition of Orange Communications SA).

Main acquisitions and divestments 
of non consolidated investments (see note 8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Main acquisitions

Orange plc and Orange Communications SA
In May 2000, France Telecom, and the Vodafone group signed
an agreement with effect August 22, 2000, resulting in (i) the cash
purchase by France Telecom of 664.74 million Orange shares
for € 21.5 billion (ii) the contribution by the Vodafone group
to France Telecom of 544.56 million Orange plc shares in
exchange for 129.20 million new France Telecom shares, issued
at € 140.2 per share, with Vodafone renouncing the voting
rights attached to the shares. As a result of this operation,
France Telecom held 100% of the share capital of Orange plc.
France Telecom immediately repurchased 15.36 million 
France Telecom shares from Vodafone at issue price, such that
the Vodafone group would not hold more than 9.9% of the
share capital of France Telecom.

This share purchase was financed by France Telecom’s issue of
a security of € 2.15 billion with maturity March 2001.
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Following the Initial Public Offering (IPO) of Orange SA on
February 13, 2001, Vodafone and France Telecom reached an
agreement on February 28, 2001, with respect to the terms of
the buy-back of the outstanding 113.85 million France Tele-
com shares held by Vodafone. This transaction represents a
comprehensive settlement of the put and call arrangements set
up in August 2001 and fixes the total price of these shares at
approximately € 11.63 billion. Cash payments of € 6.65 billion
were made in March 2001 against delivery by Vodafone of 64.1 mil-
lion France Telecom shares. A final cash payment of € 4.97 bil-
lion is due on March 25, 2002 against 49.8 million France Tele-
com shares (see note 21 and 28).

On the basis of this agreement, the total acquisition cost of
Orange plc amounts on a historic cost basis to € 35,472 million
as summarized below:

(in millions of euros)

Cash consideration 21,519

Transaction costs, net of related tax 174

Sub-total 21,693

Share consideration through issuance 
of 129,201,742 France Telecom shares 18,114

Price adjustment resulting 
from February 28, 2001 agreement (4,335)

Total purchase price 35,472

The purchase price has been allocated to the following identi-
fiable assets and liabilities:

(in millions of euros)

Purchase price 35,472

Fair value of net assets acquired

Orange trademark 4,600

Customer relationship 1,950

GSM license 875

Other assets acquired 544

Other liabilities acquired (1,421)

6,548

Goodwill 28,924

Of which goodwill allocated to Orange
Communications SA (Switzerland) 1,418

The purchase price allocation resulted in an increase to net
assets of € 7,621 million, and relates primarily to the Orange
trademark, customer relationship and a GSM license not recorded
in the Orange plc consolidated balance sheet before the 
acquisition date. The trademark has been recognized based on
the discounted value of cost savings equal to royalties which
would have been payable to third parties for the use of the
trademark, had Orange not owned such trademark. The cus-
tomer relationship has been valued on a discounted cash flow
basis relating to the customers concentration in Britain at the

date of acquisition. These assets are not amortized but are sub-
ject to a regular impairment review.

Goodwill arising at acquisition amounting to € 28,924 million
is amortized over a 20 year period. Following the IPO of Orange
in February 2001, goodwill has been reduced to € 24,345 mil-
lion.

On November 10, 2000 France Telecom acquired E.On’s 42.5%
shareholding in Orange Communications SA (Switzerland) for
€ 1,299 million of which 75% was settled through shares of
Orange SA, with put and call arrangements (see note 28). This
investment was transferred to Orange. This acquisition in-
creased the ownership of Orange in Orange Communications
SA from 42.5% to 85%.

This investment, accounted for using the equity method since
September 1, 2000, has been fully consolidated from Novem-
ber 1, 2000. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the 42.5%
interest amounting to € 1,466 million is amortized over 20 years.
Following the IPO of Orange, goodwill has been reduced to
€ 1,234 million.

Global One
In March 2000, France Telecom acquired Sprint and Deutsche
Telekom’s interests in Global One for a total of US$ 3,898 mil-
lion (€ 4,080 million) generating goodwill of € 3,966 million
amortized over a 20 year period. Following these acquisitions,
France Telecom owned 100% of Global One. This investment,
previously accounted for using the proportionate consoli-
dation method, has been fully consolidated from April 1, 2000.
France Telecom, holding the entire share capital of Global One
following these operations, contributed almost all the activities
of Global One in 2001 in relation to the Equant acquisition. Fol-
lowing this contribution,goodwill has been reduced to €2,346 mil-
lion at December 31, 2001.

MobilCom
On March 23, 2000, France Telecom entered into a cooperation
framework agreement with MobilCom, a German fixed line
operator, mobile and Internet service provider, and Mobil-
Com’s founding shareholder, regarding the acquisition of a
UMTS license and the launch of UMTS mobile telecommuni-
cations services in Germany. Pursuant to the agreement,
France Telecom extended a € 3,749 million loan to a company
jointly owned by France Telecom and MobilCom to fund that
company’s bid for a UMTS license. In October 2000, France
Telecom contributed its share in this company to MobilCom in
exchange for a 28.5% equity interest in MobilCom which was
subsequently contributed to Orange SA.

In connection with these transactions, France Telecom, Mobil-
Com and MobilCom’s founding shareholder entered into a
cooperation framework agreement, with notably put and call
option agreements exercisable under certain conditions (see
note 28).
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MobilCom has been accounted for under the equity method
since November 1, 2000. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
amounts to € 2,700 million and was initially amortized over a
20 year period.

Wind
On July 28, 2000, France Telecom reached an agreement with
Enel and Deutsche Telekom to purchase Deutsche Telekom’s
entire 24.5% interest in Wind. France Telecom acquired a 18.9%
shareholding for € 2,082 million, bringing its ownership of
Wind to 43.4%, with Enel owning the remaining 56.6%.

Wind is accounted for under the equity method and the pre-
liminary goodwill arising from the acquisition of the addition-
al 18.9% amounts to € 1,994 million and is amortized over
20 years. Following the finalization of the purchase price allo-
cation exercise in 2001, goodwill amounts to € 1,523 million
before the Infostrada contribution.

TP SA
In October 2000, following an agreement between the Polish
government and a consortium led by France Telecom, France
Telecom acquired 25% and Kulczyk Holding, its partner in the
consortium, acquired 10% of the share capital of Telekomuni-
kacja Polska SA (TP SA), Poland’s state-owned telecommuni-
cations operator, for total consideration of € 4.5 billion, of
which France Telecom contributed € 3,4 billion. Preliminary
goodwill arising from the acquisition amounts to € 2,701 mil-
lion and is amortized over 20 years since October 1, 2000.

This investment has been accounted for under the equity
method since October 1, 2000.

JTC
In January 2000, the consortium composed of France Telecom
and the Arab Bank of Jordan reached an agreement with the Jor-
danian government over the acquisition of 40% of the capital

of the Jordanian telecommunications operator, Jordan Tele-
communications Company (JTC), for US$ 508 million 
(€ 510 million). This acquisition was made through a holding
company, Jitco, held 88% by France Telecom and 12% by the
Arab Bank of Jordan. Goodwill amounts to € 342 million and
is amortized over 15 years. This investment has been propor-
tionately consolidated from January 1, 2000.

Wanadoo IPO
On July 19, 2000, France Telecom carried out an IPO of its
newly created wholly owned subsidiary Wanadoo with a listing
on Euronext Paris. Approximately 10% of the outstanding 
shares of Wanadoo were listed through the issuance by Wana-
doo of new shares and the sale by France Telecom of existing
shares. The proceeds from the offering amounted to approxi-
mately € 2 billion. This IPO was followed in October 2000 by
Wanadoo’s purchase of minority interests in France Telecom
Internet subsidiaries in Spain and in the Netherlands in ex-
change for newly issued Wanadoo shares. The effect of these two
transactions resulted in an after tax gain in 2000 of € 1,952 mil-
lion. As a result of these transactions, France Telecom’s inter-
est in Wanadoo has decreased to 88.64%.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

Main acquisitions
In August 1999, France Telecom and Telecom Italia increased
their investment in the consortium Nortel Inversora, which
controls the Argentine operator Telecom Argentina, by jointly
acquiring an additional 35% of voting rights for US$ 265 million
(€ 249 million) each. Following this transaction, France Tele-
com and Telecom Italia each control 50% of the voting rights
of the consortium. This investment has been accounted for
using the proportional consolidation method from September
1, 1999 to December 21, 2001. The goodwill arising from this
acquisition amounted to € 190 million, and was initially amort-
ized over 15 years.



4. Goodwill in consolidated investments
Main goodwill arising from fully or proportionately consolidated investments is as follows:

At December 31,

2001 2000

Cost (1) Accumu- Net Net
lated book book

amort- value value
(in millions of euros) ization

Orange 

Orange PCS 23,435 (1,565) 21,870 27,047

Orange Communications SA (Switzerland) 2,554 (153) 2,401 2,848

Other Orange 567 (348) 219 496

Equant/Global One

Equant 4,619 (546) 4,073 –

Global One 2,347 (181) 2,166 3,833

Other Equant/Global One 85 (34) 51 16

Wanadoo

Freeserve 1,980 (82) 1,898 –

Indice Multimedia 323 (12) 311 –

Wanadoo España 328 (81) 247 316

Pages Jaunes 319 (56) 263 279

Other Wanadoo 319 (130) 189 217

Other 1,724 (449) 1,275 997

Total 38,600 (3,637) 34,963 36,049

(1) Goodwill denominated in foreign currency is translated at the closing rate.
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France Telecom assesses the value in use of Orange PCS and
Orange Communications SA at the level of the segment result-
ing from the regrouping of Orange plc and the mobile activities
formerly held by France Telecom.

Due to the integration of Global One within Equant, France
Telecom assesses their value in use on a joint basis, taking into
account their strategic value for the Group.

The value in use of Freeserve and Wanadoo Espana as well as
Pages Jaunes and Indice Multimedia take into account their
strategic value within Wanadoo's internet and directories busi-
nesses respectively.

Movements in net book value of goodwill is as follows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Opening balance 36,049 1,206 872

• Acquisitions 8,027 35,757 461

• Divestitures (6,489) – (1)

• Amortization (2,195) (966) (136)

• Exceptional amortization (560) – –

• Translation adjustment 296 4 10

• Reclassification (165) 48 –

Closing balance 34,963 36,049 1,206

The effect of the main acquisitions is set out in note 3.

Divestments relate to the decrease in goodwill generated by the
IPO of Orange and Global One’s contribution to Equant.
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In 2001, the goodwill amortization charge includes € 1.2 billion
relating to Orange PCS and € 365 million relating to Equant
and Global One and, in 2000, € 458 million relating to 
Orange PCS for the period from September 1 to December 31
and € 251 million for Global One.

Exceptional goodwill amortization in 2001 relates to Ananova
and Wildfire (€ 211 million) and to the restructuring and other
related costs for the new Equant entity (€ 349 million) in-
cluded in the acquisition cost.

Translation adjustments result mainly from the recording in
foreign currency of goodwill relating to non euro zone com-
panies.

5. Other intangible assets
At December 31,

2001 2000

Cost Accumu- Net Net
lated book book

depreci- value value
(in millions of euros) ation

Telecommunications licenses 9,548 (244) 9,304 8,236

Patents and rights of use 1,145 (363) 782 761

Trademarks 5,051 (86) 4,965 4 602

Market share 2,688 – 2,688 2,195

Other intangible assets 819 (369) 450 495

Total 19,251 (1,062) 18,189 16,289

Movements in the net book value of other intangible assets is as follows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Opening balance 16,289 925 645

• Acquisitions of intangible assets 1,169 7,368 166

• Effect of acquisitions and divestitures 716 8,573 171

• Divestments (31) (14) –

• Amortization and provisions (382) (214) (62)

• Reclassification 76 (16) (14)

• Translation adjustment 352 (333) 19

Closing balance 18,189 16,289 925

“Telecommunications licenses” relates primarily to operating
licenses of mobile networks, in particular the payments paid for
the granting of UMTS licenses:

(i) in 2001, in France for € 619 million (fixed payment exclud-
ing associated costs). The duration of this license is 20 years.

(ii) in 2000, in the United Kingdom for € 6.6 billion and in
the Netherlands for € 436 million.

“Patents and rights of use” relate mainly to patents and cable
usage rights .

“Trademarks” and “Customer relationship” relate mainly to the
Orange trademark and the Orange customer relationship in the
United Kingdom resulting from the purchase price allocation
of Orange plc (see note 3). The Global One trademark was depreci-
ated in 2001.
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6. Property, plant and equipment
At December 31,

2001 2000

Cost Accumu- Net Net
lated book book

depreci- value value
(in millions of euros) ation

Land and buildings 11,498 (5,197) 6,301 8,348

Switching and transmission equipment 24,217 (16,963) 7,254 7,285

Cables and public infrastructure 20,250 (11,789) 8,461 9,055

Other network equipment 9,187 (3,822) 5,365 4,736

Computer and terminal equipment 7,638 (4,500) 3,138 3,102

Motor vehicles and other 2,737 (1,528) 1,209  2,097

Total 75,527 (43,799) 31,728 34,623

Changes in the net book value of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Opening balance 34,623 28,964 26,577

• Acquisitions of plant, property and equipment 7,811 6,993 4,835

• Effect of acquisitions and divestitures (1,605) 4,210 2,323

• Sale of real estate (1,963) – –

• Other retirements and sales (286) (237) (151)

• Depreciation expense (6,613) (5,509) (4,819)

• Reclassification (428) (70) (25)

• Translation adjustment 189 272 224

Closing balance 31,728 34,623 28,964

In November 2001, France Telecom concluded a binding recip-
rocal agreement with a consortium of real estate investors to sell
431 office and mixed technical buildings, whereby the parties
committed to sign notarial deeds by September 30, 2002. The
notarial deeds were signed on March 12, 2002 for 242 buildings,
representing 74.7% of the sales price of the transaction, and
the remaining deeds are to be signed by June 30, 2002 as the
administrative issues are settled. The result on disposal of the
431 buildings, recorded in “Other receivables”amounts to €2.7 bil-
lion, of which € 2 billion has been cashed at March 13, 2002.
The gain on disposal, net of costs, amounts to € 705 million,
and has been recorded in non-operating result (see note 25). At
the same time France Telecom is committed to release through
6-9 year leases these buildings except for certain assets to be
vacated in the short-term (see note 28).

In 2001, the effect of acquisitions and divestitures relates main-
ly to:

(i) the first consolidation of Equant NV, for € 699 million;

(ii) the equity accounting of Nortel/Telecom Argentina, for
€ 2.7 billion;

(iii) the change in the percentage of proportional consolidation
of ECMS, for € 156 million;

(iv) the first consolidation of Mauritius Telecom for € 120 mil-
lion.

In 2000, the effect of acquisitions and divestitures relate main-
ly to the consolidation of Orange plc for a total of € 2,685 mil-
lion and of Orange Communications SA (Switzerland) for a
total of € 704 million, and to Global One (previously accounted
for using the proportionate consolidation method) for € 444 mil-
lion.

In 1999, the effect of acquisitions and divestitures related main-
ly to the proportional consolidation of Telecom Argentina for
€ 2,278 million.
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7. Investments accounted for using the equity method
The carrying values of France Telecom’s investments in affiliates are as follows (in millions of euros):

Company Principal % control 2001 2000 1999
activities at

December 31,
2001

MobilCom (1) Telephony operator 
in Germany 28.3 0 3,687 –

TP SA (1) Telephony operator 
in Poland 33.9 4,552 3,441 –

Wind Infostrada (1) Telephony operator 
in Italy 26.6 3,349 2,011 58

BITCO Mobile telephony operator 
in Thailand 49.0 460 370 –

Radianz (2) Financial information 
provider 49.0 301 – –

PTK Mobile telephony operator 
in Poland 34.0 164 60 60

Télévision Par Satellite (TPS) (3) Satellite television 
packages 25.0 (67) (99) (67)

FT1CI (4) Holding company for investments 
in STMicroelectronics – – 785 586

Nortel/Telecom Argentina See below See below 0 – –

Other companies (5) – 153 251 429

Total 8,912 10,506 1,066

(1) Related off balance sheet commitments are set out in note 28.
(2) Subsidiary of Equant.
(3) TPS is accounted for using the equity method (25%), corresponding to the direct control of the parent company, France Télévision Entreprise, in which France Telecom
has a direct controlling interest of 65.84%. A memorandum of understanding to sell TPS was signed with TF1 in December 2001 (see note 28).
(4) Transferred to investment securities in 2001 (see note 8).
(5) These shares include notably the investment in the Brazilian operator Intelig, whose value of € 87.8 million under equity accounting has been written down to zero at
December 31, 2001.

Telecom Argentina 
Telecom Argentina, proportionally consolidated until Decem-
ber 21, 2001, is equity accounted for from this date. Moreover,
the conversion of the financial statements of Telecom Argen-
tina as set out in note 2, as well as the amortization of the en-
tire remaining goodwill have reduced the value under equity
accounting to zero. The Argentinian peso crisis of December 21,
2001 has lead Telecom Argentina to designate advisory banks
in charge of setting up propositions for management of its
debt. The debt of Telecom Argentina is mainly denominated in
dollars, and the indexation of prices to the dollar has 
been suppressed. France Telecom therefore considers that the

Argentinian crisis has reduced its capacity to control. France
Telecom neither intends nor is obliged to increase its commit-
ments in Argentina. The impact of the proportional consoli-
dation of Telecom Argentina until December 21, 2001 is as fol-
lows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Sales of services and products 1,792 1,818

Ebitda 641 685

Operating income 178 235

Financial charges (128) (126)



MobilCom 
Reexamining the perspectives for the mobile telephony market
in Germany with the presence of two dominants operators and
four entering operators has lead France Telecom:

• to depreciate in full the goodwill, i.e. € 2,509 million recorded
in exceptional amortization;

• to depreciate the balance of the equity accounting value, i.e.
€ 839 million recorded in non-operating expenses;

• finally to depreciate, as a measure of prudence, several assets
totaling € 554 million (mainly the current account of Mobil-
Com with France Telecom), recorded in non-operating ex-
penses.

Changes in investments in affiliates are as follows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Opening balance 10,506 1,066 956

• Investments made in affiliates
including capital increases (1) 1,208 9,958 302

• Contribution of LHS 
in Sema Group – 348 –

• Contribution of Infostrada 
in Wind 934 – –

• Effect of transfer 
to investment securities (786) (565) (17)

• Depreciation of the equity  
accounting value of MobilCom (839) – –

• Effect of acquisitions 
and divestitures 1,326 74 (180)

• Equity in net income/(loss) 
of affiliates (890) (275) 275

• Amortization of goodwill (336) (126) (16)

• Exceptional amortization 
of goodwill (2,697) – –

• Dividends received 
from affiliates (2) 49 (1) (341)

• Translation adjustment (3) 437 27 87

Closing balance 8,912 10,506 1,066

(1) For 2000, investments include € 2,076 million paid in 2001.

(2) Including in 1999 € 312 million of dividends paid by FT1CI, company holding
indirectly France Telecom’s investment in STMicroelectronics.

(3) Of which € 276 million relate to the translation adjustment on the goodwill of
TP SA in 2001.

In 2001, complementary investments relate mainly to TP SA as
set out in note 3. The effect of acquisitions and divestitures
show mainly (i) the difference arising on the revaluation of
€ 620 million in the equity accounted value prior to the com-
plementary investment in Wind in July 2000 on the basis of
fair value at that date (see note 3), (ii) the entry of the Radianz
shares held by Equant, for € 342 million and (iii) the equity
accounting of Nortel/Telecom Argentina.

In 2000, the investments made in affiliates relate mainly to
investments in the mobile telephony operator MobilCom (Ger-
many) and the operators TP SA (Poland) and Wind (Italy) as
described in note 3.

In 1999, the main effect of acquisitions relates to the Nortel
Inversora consortium, proportionally consolidated from Sep-
tember 1, 1999 (see note 3)

Amortization of goodwill arising on equity accounted affili-
ates amounts to € 336 million in 2001 (€ 126 million in 2000).
Exceptional amortization has also been recorded for € 2,509 mil-
lion relating to MobilCom and for € 185 million related to
Nortel/Telecom Argentina.

Following this, the net book value of the principal goodwills is
as follows at December 31, 2001:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

TP SA 2,574 2,668 –

Wind (1) 867 1,953 –

BITCO 331 243 –

Radianz 155 – –

MobilCom 0 2,678 –

Nortel/Telecom Argentina 0 – –

Other 29 39 53

Total 3,956 7,581 53

(1) The decrease in the net goodwill for Wind is due mainly to (i) the impact on the
preliminary goodwill in 2000 of the purchase price allocation exercise on the assets
and liabilities acquired and (ii) the dilution effect following the contribution of
Infostrada to Wind (see note 3).

The equity in net income/(loss) of affiliates is presented as fol-
lows:

Year ended December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

TP SA (1) 65 52 –

Intelig (45) (98) (14)

BITCO (58) (1) –

MobilCom (2) (178) (40) –

Wind (3) (358) (253) (138)

Nortel/Telecom Argentina (4) (178) – –

FT1CI (5) – 181 425

Other companies (138) (116) 2

Equity in net income/(loss) 
of affiliates (890) (275) 275

(1) Over three months in 2000 (see note 3).
(2) Over two months in 2000 (see note 3).
(3) As set out in note 3, the contribution of Infostrada to Wind in July 2001 brought
France Telecom’s controlling interest in the new entity Wind/Infostrada from 43.4%
to 26.6%.
(4) Company proportionally consolidated until December 21, 2001. The loss under
equity accounting covers the period from December 21, 2001 to December 31, 2001
and corresponds mainly to the loss recorded by these companies on their dollar
denominated borrowings.
(5) Including € 399 million in 1999 from disposal of part of the investment in
STMicroelectronics (see note 3).

112

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



113

8. Other investment securities and related receivables 

France Telecom’s main investment securities are as follows:
At December 31,

2001 2000

% Cost Provision Net Net 
interest book book

(in millions of euros) value value

NTL shares 18.3 2,967 (2,967) 0 2,074

NTL preferred shares 

Series (1) – 2,938 (1,910) 1,028 2,819

Series (2) – 777 (505) 272 777

NTL convertible notes – 230 (161) 69 230

Bull SA 16.9 438 (438) 0 34

Bull SA other instruments – 33 (33) 0 33

Panafon 11.0 35 – 35 35

Sema Group plc – – – – 565

Sprint 5.7 306 – 306 1,617

Quoted companies 7,724 (6,014) 1,710 8,184

KPN Orange – – – – 517

Mauritius Telecom (3) – – – – 310

FT1CI (4) 36.2 464 – 464 –

Satellite organizations  (5) 335 – 335 218

Optimus 20.0 122 – 122 94

Connect Austria 17.5 112 – 112 109

Other companies 916 (419) 497 786

Non quoted companies 1,949 (419) 1,530 2,034

Total 9,673 (6,433) 3,240 10,218

(1) 5% Cumulative Participating Convertible Preferred Stocks.
(2) 5% Cumulative Participating Convertible Preferred Stocks.
(3) Investment consolidated from January 1, 2001.
(4) Transferred to Investments accounted for using the equity method then part divestment as part of the exit of France Telecom from STMicroelectronics (see below).
(5) Eutelsat, Inmarsat and Intelsat.

At the date of preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments of France Telecom, 2001 net income and shareholders’
equity which major quoted and non-consolidated investees
have made available are as follows:

2001

Share- Net income
holders’ for the

(in millions of euros) equity (1) period (1)

NTL n/a n/a

Sprint 14,315 (1,417)

n/a: not available.
(1) Local GAAP data, translated at closing rate at December 31, 2001.

INVESTMENT IN NTL 

In 1999, France Telecom acquired ordinary and preferred 
shares of NTL, telephone, internet access and cable television
operator for € 2.97 billion and € 2.94 billion respectively.

As part of an issue by NTL in March 2000 of 1.85 million pre-
ferred shares, for US$ 1.85 billion, bearing interest at 5% and
payable in preferred stock, France Telecom together with finan-
cial institutions subscribed preferred shares for US$ 750 million
(€ 777 million at the historical rate) and US$ 1.1 billion respect-
ively. As part of this transaction, France Telecom entered into
put and call option agreements with these four financial insti-
tutions, amended in January 2002 (see note 28).
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At December 31, 2001, France Telecom held 18.3% of the voting
rights (18.6% at December 31, 2000).

On September 12, 2001, France Telecom, the financial insti-
tutions and NTL agreed that these shares:

• may be exchangeable in whole or in part, at the choice of
France Telecom, into shares of NTL Cablecom Holding GmbH,
representing up to 50% of the share capital of the company
(this company holds the cable television activity of NTL in
Switzerland);

• may be convertible in whole or in part, at the choice of France
Telecom at March 27, 2002, 2003 or 2004 into convertible pre-
ferred shares, convertible into common shares of NTL until
March 2009 (unless NTL at that time opts for cash reimburse-
ment or defers convertibility of the preferred shares by one
year, but in no event later than March 27, 2004). The number
of NTL ordinary shares obtained through conversion of the
convertible preferred shares would be equal to liquidation value
per preferred share (US$ 1,091), divided by the weighted aver-
age share price of the 25 days prior to the date the preferred 
shares become convertible preferred shares multiplied by 1.25;

• are repayable in cash on March 27, 2009 for those preferred
shares, which are neither exchanged nor converted.

In order to reduce its debt, NTL began early in 2002 to seek a
new strategic shareholder and commenced a process of finan-
cial restructuring. In this context, France Telecom has decided
not to increase its financial commitments within NTL, and to
reappreciate the value in use of its investment on the following
basis:

• the ordinary shares have been completely depreciated, repre-
senting a complementary provision of € 2,075 million in 2001;

• the convertible notes have been valued on the basis of their
market price at December 31, 2001, resulting in a depreciation
charge of € 161 million;

• the preferred shares have been depreciated for 65% of their
nominal value, resulting in a charge of € 2,415 million. The
depreciation of the preferred shares was determined by reference
to the market values of the NTL notes. On the assumption of
a favorable outcome from the process of financial restructuring
committed and on the basis of the business plan presented by
NTL management, the management of France Telecom con-
siders that the net book value of these preferred shares cor-
responds to the best estimate of the probable realizable value
of its economic interest in NTL;

• a provision for risk of € 811 million has also been set up on
the same basis for the preferred shares held by the financial
institutions and which are subject to put and call options with
France Telecom (see note 28);

• different costs linked to this operation have also been record-
ed as charges for € 448 million.

These items have been recorded in non-operating expenses for
a total of € 5,910 million (see note 25).

The management of France Telecom considers that it is not
exposed to financial risk beyond the net book value of the
investments and commitments set out above i.e. € 1,806 million.

DIVESTMENTS IN 2001

Exit from STMicroelectronics
In December 2001, STMicroelectronics Holding II BV (STH II)
the holding company through which France Telecom, Areva, and
Finmeccanica held together an investment of 43.4% of the cap-
ital of STMicroelectronics NV (STM) made a private placement
of 69 million STM shares, of which 39 million on behalf of
France Telecom and 30 million for Finmeccanica. Following
this placement and as part of the new agreement with Areva,
France Telecom reduced from 49% to 36.2% its holding in
FT1CI, the company holding indirectly 50% of the capital of
STF II. This operation generated a gain before tax of € 1,068 mil-
lion.

Simultaneous to the placement of STM shares by STH II, France
Telecom issued notes convertible into STM shares for a nom-
inal value of € 1.5 billion (see note 13). These notes are exchange-
able from January 2, 2004 into 30 million existing STM shares,
subject to subsequent revision of the exchange parity. The STM
shares underlying the notes issued have been placed under
escrow by STH II and will be transferred to France Telecom
through the exercise of the call options issued by STH II. As part
of the agreement with Areva, France Telecom has committed to
reduce its share in FT1CI through and in proportion to the
number of STM shares which are transferred to holders of the
exchangeable notes.

Under the shareholder agreement held with Areva and Fin-
meccanica, France Telecom has committed to retaining the
balance of its indirect share in STM until the end of June 2002,
from which date France Telecom is entitled to dispose of it
within the limits and conditions set out in the shareholder
agreement.
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Sprint FON
As part of a public offering France Telecom sold its share of
9.9% of Sprint FON, the American telecommunications oper-
ator, for US$ 1,616 million (€ 1,899 million) on June 4, 2001.
The pre-tax gain on this transaction (net of exchange) amounts
to € 181 million.

Sema Group plc
On February 12, 2001, in accordance with the agreement reached
with Schlumberger and Sema Group plc, France Telecom
contributed its investment in Sema group plc to the public offer
for an amount of € 931 million. The pre-tax gain on this trans-
action amounts to € 401 million.

KPN Orange
In February 2001, France Telecom sold its 50% share in KPN
Orange (Belgium) to KPN Mobile for a net cash payment of
€ 500 million, including € 102 million for the reimbursement
of short-term borrowings. KPN Orange being reflected at fair
value in the purchase price allocation of Orange plc, this trans-
action has no effect on the income before tax for the period.

DIVESTITURES IN 2000

Telefonos de Mexico (Telmex)
In June 2000, France Telecom sold its stake of 7.1% in the Mexi-
can national telecommunications operator, Telefonos de Mexi-
co (Telmex) in the form of an international public offering on
the Mexican, American and European markets. The sales price,
net of commission and costs, amounted to US$ 2.7 billion
(€ 2.9 billion). The net gain after tax amounted to € 2,173 mil-
lion.

Crown Castle International Corp Group (CCIC)
In connection with the investments made in the British tele-
communications operator NTL, the British competition author-
ities (Office of Fair Trading) requested that France Telecom
withdraw from the companies forming the Crown Castle Inter-
national Corp Group (CCIC) before October 31, 2000. In June
2000, France Telecom sold a first tranche of 24.9 million ordin-
ary CCIC shares in a public offering. The sales price amounted
to US$ 693 million (€ 730 million). The net gain after tax
amounted to € 301 million.

In accordance with the commitments given in May 2000 by
France Telecom to the British competition authorities, those
shares of CCIC which were not sold as part of the public offer-
ing in June 2000, were sold to a financial institution. In July
2000, France Telecom sold 17.7 million shares. The sales price
amounted to US$ 505 million. The recognition of this sale in
the statement of income has been deferred given the contract-
ual commitments of France Telecom (see note 28).

Deutsche Telekom
Pursuant to the framework agreement entered into in May 2000
between France Telecom, Deutsche Telekom and Kreditanstalt
für Wiederaufbau (KfW) to unwind the cross shareholdings
between France Telecom and Deutsche Telekom, France Tele-
com sold its 1.8% holding in Deutsche Telekom to KfW in
December 2000. The sales price amounted to € 3.1 billion. The
net after tax gain amounted to € 1,445 million.

9. Trade accounts receivable,
less allowances
SECURITIZATION OF RECEIVABLES

In June 2001, France Telecom sold trade receivables for fixed line
telephony contracts with consumers and certain businesses in
France. This sale was made without recourse, as part of a securi-
tization program with a Security Fund (Fonds commun 
de créances). France Telecom remains in charge of servicing 
the transferred receivables on behalf of the Fonds commun de
créances.

France Telecom subscribed for benefical interests in the FCC,
notably benefical interests subordinated for risk of non-
recovery of the securitized receivables. Such benefical interests
are recorded in “Other long-term assets, net”. Consequently,
depreciation of such benefical interests, is presented as a reduction
in “Other long-term assets, net”. Losses on irrecoverable receiv-
ables and movements in the depreciation provision for securi-
tized receivables are presented within operating expenses.

The positive effect of this operation on operating cash flow
amounts in 2001 to € 914 million (excluding costs of sale of
receivables – see note 25). As a result of this transaction,“Trade
accounts receivable” have been reduced by € 1,765 million,
corresponding to the transferred receivables, and “Other long-
term assets,net”have been increased by a net amount of € 851 mil-
lion of beneficial interests in the Fonds commun de créances.
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10. Prepaid expenses 
and other current assets
At December 31, 2001, the variation of other receivables and pre-
paid expenses is due primarily to the different categories of
preferred shares and securities with a May 2002 maturity on NTL
(€ 553 million) and Morgan Stanley Dean Witter (€ 510 mil-
lion) received as payment from the sale of Noos shares.

On May 18, 2001, in accordance with the agreement reached in
August 2000 with Suez Lyonnaise des Eaux, Noos’ majority
shareholder, France Telecom (i) brought its aggregate interest
in Noos to 49.9% in exchange for the contribution of France
Telecom’s cable network infrastructure used by Noos and other
minority shares in cable operators, subsequently (ii) sold its
entire interest in Noos for an amount of € 1,187 million to
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Private Equity and NTL Incorpo-
rated (respectively 22.9% and 27%). The different categories of
preferred shares and securities issued by the purchasers that
represent the sale price have a maturity date of May 18, 2002,
except for an amount of € 138 million, which is due on 
May 18, 2007. As security, France Telecom maintains pledges 
on the Noos shares.

In the context of the NTL’s financial restructuring (see note 8),
no result was recorded from this sale of shares, and the gain
recorded at June 30, 2001 (representing € 333 million) has
been reclassified as deferred income at December 31, 2001.

11. Deferred income
At December 31, 2001, apart from the operation set out in
note 10 above, this heading includes for € 634 million the effect
of spreading over 20 years the invoicing of civil works within
the context of the contribution of cable networks.

12. Net borrowings
France Telecom’s net borrowings are as follows:

(in millions of euros) Note 2001 2000

Net borrowings 

Exchangeable 
or convertible notes 13 10,750 2,653

Other long-term borrowings 
(including the portion due 
within one year) 14 45,389 35,436

Bank overdrafts and other 
short-term borrowings 15 11,365 25,165

Gross borrowings 67,504 63,254

Marketable securities (1,138) (216)

Cash (2,943) (2,040)

Net borrowings (*) 63,423 60,998

(*) After taking into account the receivable from sale of real
estate for € 2,689 million (see note 6), the net borrowings of
France Telecom amount to € 60,734.

At December 31, 2001, the contribution of newly consolidated
companies in 2001 amounts to € 38 million. Moreover, account-
ing for Nortel/Telecom Argentina using the equity method since
December 21, 2001 has the effect of reducing net borrowings of
France Telecom at December 31, 2001 by € 2 billion.

The bond market is the main source of long-term financing for
France Telecom.

The annual weighted average interest rate of France Telecom’s
net borrowings in 2001 represents 5.82% compared to 5.74% in
2000. Moreover, the weighted average spot rate of bank loans and
notes amounts at the end of December 2001 to 5.29% com-
pared to 5.98% at the end of 2000.
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13. Convertible and exchangeable notes
The table below gives details of outstanding convertible or exchangeable notes issued by France Telecom SA at December 31,
2001:

(in millions of euros, except for Amounts issued)

Original Amount Maturity Interest At December 31,
currency issued ( 1) rate

% 2001 2000

EUR 623 2004 4.125(2) 623 623

FRF 13,322 2004 2.000(3) 2,030 2,030

EUR 3,082 2003 2.500(4) 3,082 –

EUR 3,492 2005 4.000(5) 3,492 –

EUR 1,523 2004 1.000(6) 1,523 –

Total convertible or exchangeable notes 10,750 2,653

(1) In millions of currency.
(2) Bond of nominal value of € 1,000 exchangeable for Panafon shares between January 8, 2000 and November 29, 2004, at a ratio of approximately 70 shares per bond, this
ratio may be subject to adjustment.
(3) Bond of nominal value of € 800 convertible into France Telecom shares between December 7, 1999 and January 1, 2004 at a ratio of 10 shares per bond, thus a price of
€ 80 per share, this ratio could be subject to adjustment.
(4) Bond of nominal value of € 12.7 exchangeable for Orange SA shares at a ratio of one share per bond, thus a price of € 12.7 per share, this ratio could be subject to adjust-
ment.
(5) Bond of nominal value of € 1,000 exchangeable for France Telecom shares at a ratio of 13.8889 shares per bond, thus a price of € 72 per share, this ratio could be subject
to adjustment.
(6) Bond of nominal value of € 1,000 exchangeable for STMicroelectronics shares at a ratio of 19.6986 shares per bond, thus a price of € 50.765 per share, this ratio could be
subject to adjustment.

The characteristics of the exchangeable notes issued by France
Telecom in 2001 are as follows:

NOTES EXCHANGEABLE FOR SHARES OF ORANGE SA

Concurrent with the sale of shares of Orange SA in February
2001, France Telecom issued exchangeable notes for € 3.1 bil-
lion. The notes, of nominal value € 12.70, bear interest at a
rate of 2.5% per annum with the first payment due on Febru-
ary 16, 2002 and the final payment due on February 16, 2003.
At any time after their issue, these notes are redeemable by way
of exchange, at the option of the holder, for existing shares of
Orange SA at an initial ratio of one share for each note, subject
to adjustment on the occurrence of certain events and subject
to the right of France Telecom to elect to pay cash in lieu of
delivering shares of Orange SA.

NOTES EXCHANGEABLE FOR SHARES OF FRANCE TELECOM

On November 29, 2001, France Telecom issued notes exchange-
able for its own shares for € 3.5 billion. The notes, of nominal
value € 1,000, bear interest at a rate of 4% per annum. At any
time after their issue, these notes are redeemable by way of
exchange, at the option of the holder, for existing shares of

France Telecom at a ratio of 13.8889 per bond (representing an
exchange price per share of € 72), this ratio being subject to pos-
sible adjustment. Starting December 15, 2003 under certain
conditions, then unconditionally starting December 13, 2004,
the notes issued are repayable in advance at a price correspond-
ing to their nominal value plus accrued interest.

Under certain conditions, France Telecom has the right to reim-
burse the bond following the following terms:
• delivery of France Telecom shares on the basis of the exchange
ratio;
• and settlement of the positive difference between the redemp-
tion price of the bond and 99% of the market value of the
exchanged shares.

NOTES EXCHANGEABLE FOR SHARES 
OF STMICROELECTRONICS

Concurrent with the private placement of 69 million common
shares of STMicroelectronics in December 2001, France Tele-
com issued exchangeable notes for € 1.5 billion (see note 8). The
notes, of nominal value € 1,000, bear interest at a rate of 1%
per annum. Starting January 2, 2004 until December 17, 2004,
these notes are redeemable for shares of STMicroelectronics at
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a ratio of 19.6986 share for each note (representing an exchange
price per STMicroelectronics share of € 50.765), this ratio may
be subject to adjustment. Starting January 21, 2004, without
condition, France Telecom can exercise its option of antici-
pated repayment.

Under certain conditions, France Telecom has the right to repay
the bond following these terms:

• delivery of STMicroelectronics shares on the basis of the
exchange ratio;

• settlement of the positive difference between the redemption
price of the bond and 99% of the market value of the exchanged
shares.

14. Other long-term borrowings
The table below presents an analysis of France Telecom’s other
long-term borrowings by type, after the effects of currency
swaps:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Other long-term borrowings

Notes 38,251 19,128

Capital leases 73 180

Bank loans (2) 6,338 15,773

Other non-bank loans (1) 727 355

Total other long-term borrowings 45,389 35,436

Due within one year (1,596) (7,542)

Other long-term borrowings 
excluding current portion 43,793 27,894

(1) Primarily the long-term portion of cash advances from associates.
(2) Includes at December 31, 2000, € 10 billion relating to the syndicated credit line of
July 31, 2000, refinanced as long-term borrowings on March 14, 2001.

The movement in notes is primarily due to the following:

• On March 14, 2001, France Telecom issued international notes
for the equivalent of € 17.6 billion. The notes were issued to re-
finance existing borrowings and consist of 7 tranches, of which
4 tranches are in US$ for US$ 9 billion, 2 in euros for € 7 bil-
lion, and one in GBP for GBP 600 million. The notes mature
between 2 and 30 years;

• At December 31, 2001, outstanding notes issued under the
EMTN programs amount to € 16,681 million, of which
€ 16,055 million is classified as long-term debt.

The table below presents the annual maturities of total long-term
debt at December 31, 2001, excluding the short-term portion,
after the effect of currency swaps:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Two years 10,070 1,682

Three years 5,405 3,474

Four years 6,223 1,590

Five years 3,940 3,485

Six years and above 18,155 17,663

Total other long-term financial 
borrowings due after more 
than one year 43,793 27,894

The table below sets our notes by issuer (excluding convertible
or exchangeable notes):

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Notes (1)

France Telecom SA 36,985 17,083

Orange plc 1,164 1,135

Nortel/Telecom Argentina (2) – 824

Other issuers 102 86

Total 38,251 19,128

(1) Excluding convertible or exchangeable notes.
(2) Consolidated using the equity method since December 21,2001.
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The table below gives details of other outstanding notes issued by France Telecom SA at December 31, 2001, before consideration
of the impact of interest or currency swap agreements:

(in millions of euros, except for Amounts issued)

Original Amount Maturity Interest rate At December 31,
currency issued (1) %

2001 2000

CHF 200 2002 3.250 135 131

FRF (5) 2,000 2002 9.000 305 305

FRF 2,500 2003 7.875 381 381

USD 1,000 2003 US Libor 3 months + 1.25 (4) 1,135 –

EUR 2,250 2003 Euribor 3 months + 1 (4) 2,250 –

CHF 200 2003 3.250 135 131

JPY 275,000 2003 JP Libor 3 months + 0.55 (4) 2,384 –

EUR 1,400 2003 Euribor 3 months + 0.375 1,400 1,400

FRF (5) 1,500 2004 5.750 229 229

EUR 3,500 2004 5.750 (4) 3,500 –

JPY 50,000 2004 1.000 (4) 434 –

EUR 1,000 2005 6.125 1,000 1,000

EUR 2,750 2005 5.000 (4) 2,750 –

GBP 500 2005 7.000 822 801

FRF (5) 2,000 2005 4.800 305 305

FRF 1,000 2005 1.000 (2) 152 152

CHF 1,000 2006 4.500 (4) 674 –

USD 2,000 2006 7.200 (4) 2,269 –

FRF 4,500 2006 6.250 686 686

FRF 300 2006 3.030 until 7.08.2001 46 46
then indexed on the TEC10 (2)

FRF (5) 6,000 2007 5.750 915 915

EUR 3,500 2008 6.750 (4) 3,500 –

FRF (5) 3,000 2008 5.400 457 457

FRF 900 2008 4.600 until 13.03.2002 137 137
then TEC10 (3) less 0.675

FRF 200 2008 10.165 30 30
less 3 month PIBOR

USD 500 2008 6.000 567 537

FRF (5) 1,500 2009 TEC10 (3) 229 229

FRF (5) 3,000 2010 5.700 457 457

EUR 1,400 2010 6.625 1,400 1,400

USD 3,500 2011 7.750 (4) 3,971 –

GBP 600 2011 7.500 (4) 986 –

GBP 450 2020 7.250 740 721

USD 2,500 2031 8.500 (4) 2,837 –

Loans maturing 
in 2001 6,692
Currency Swaps (233) (59)
Total other notes 36,985 17,083

(1) In millions of currency.
(2) With a redemption premium indexed on the value of the Company’s shares, capped at 100% of the share value at issue, and covered by a swap of the same amount,
which indexes this debt on PIBOR.
(3) TEC10: variable rate with constant 10-year maturity, determined by the Comité de Normalisation Obligataire.
(4) Notes with coupons subject to revision in case of changes in credit rating.
(5) These loans, initially denominated in FRF, have been converted into euros.
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15. Other short-term borrowings
The table below presents an analysis of France Telecom’s other
short-term borrowings by type, after the effects of currency
swaps:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Other short-term 
borrowings

Short-term notes and commercial paper (1) 2,369 10,129

Bank loans 7,619 13,603

Overdrafts 995 794

Other loans 382 639

Total 11,365 25,165

(1) The balance at December 31, 2001 includes only short-term notes.

Interest rates on France Telecom’s short-term borrowings are
generally based on French and foreign (essentially US) money
market rates. The weighted average interest rate on negotiable
bills and bank loans (after taking into account the effect of
interest rate hedging instruments) amounts to 4.38% at Decem-
ber 31, 2001, compared to 5.68% at December 31, 2000.

At December 31, 2001, France Telecom SA notes are repayable
at due date, and no specific guarantees have been given in rela-
tion to their issue. The outstanding notes of France Telecom SA

at December 31, 2001 have not been guaranteed. Certain notes
may be repayable in advance, at the request of the issuer.

At December 31, 2001, borrowings also include the bond debt
of Orange plc:

(in millions of euros, except for Amounts issued)

Original Amount Maturity Interest At December 31,
currency issued (1) rate

(%) 2001 2000

USD 197 2006 8.75 224 213

GBP 197 2008 8.63 324 316

USD 18 2008 8.00 21 19

EUR 94 2008 7.63 94 94

GBP 150 2009 8.88 247 240

USD 263 2009 9.00 298 282

Currency swaps (44) (29)

Total 1,164 1,135

(1) In millions of currency.
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At December 31, 2001, France Telecom had the following bilateral and syndicated credit lines:

At December 31, 2001

Original Amounts Equivalents Amounts
currency in currency in euros drawn

(in millions) (in millions) (in millions
of euros)

Bilateral credit lines 

Long-term (5) USD 245 289 221

Long-term (5) EUR 7 7 6

Long-term CHF 39 26 26

Short-term (1) EUR 1,055 1,055 –

Bank overdrafts EUR 150 150 –

Syndicated credit lines

Long-term (1) (4) MC (3) 15,000 15,000 5,200

Long-term (1) MC (2) 1,400 1,589 1,550

Long-term (5) GBP 1,599 2,628 2,545

Long-term (5) BEF 18,000 446 367

Long-term (5) DEM 218 111 93

(1) The weighted average maturity of these long-term credit lines is 1.31 years for France Telecom SA.
(2) MC = Multi-currency facilities, denominated in US$ equivalents.
(3) MC = Multi-currency facilities, denominated in euro equivalents.
(4) Syndicated credit line of € 30 billion negotiated in relation with the purchase of Orange plc was reduced to € 15 billion.
(5) At December 31, 2001, the amounts drawn against these credit lines are classified in long-term debt.

On February 14, 2002, France Telecom negotiated a € 15 billion
multi-currency syndicated credit line replacing the credit line
negotiated in relation with the purchase of Orange plc. This 
credit line is composed of two tranches:

• Tranche A of € 5 billion, with one year maturity and one year
term-out, thus a total of 2 years following closing date;

• Tranche B of € 10 billion, with 3 year maturity.

When this syndicated credit line was obtained, France Telecom
committed to maintain certain financial ratios using Ebitda,
interest expense and net borrowings.

16. Exposure to market risks
16. 1. MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

In connection with its industrial and commercial activities,
France Telecom is exposed to various types of market risk re-
lated to the management of the cost of its debt and the value
of certain foreign currency denominated assets (foreign invest-
ment securities). Based on an analysis of its overall risk ex-
posure, primarily due to changes in interest rates and exchange
rates, France Telecom uses a variety of derivative financial
instruments within limits set by management as to their poten-
tial impact on the statement of income, with the objective being
to optimize the cost of financing.

France Telecom distinguishes between three different types of
use of derivative financial instruments:
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Long-term debt rate risk management
France Telecom aims to balance its long-term debt portfolio
between fixed and variable rate instruments in euros so as to
minimize the cost of financing, and uses firm and optional
interest rate instruments (swaps, future, caps and floors) within
limits established by management.

The following table analyzes long-term debt by interest rate,
including all exchangeable and convertible notes and other
long-term debt, with the short-term portion, taking into account
the effect of interest rate and currency rate swap agreements:

At december 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Notes and bank loans  (1)

Less than 5% 15,377 3,490

Between 5 and 7% 18,717 5,681

Between 7% and 9% 6,708 5,748

Greater than 9% 322 394

Total fixed rate 
(Weighted average spot rate: 
5.51% at 31/12/2001; 
6.33% at 31/12/2000) 41,124 15,313

Total variable rate 
(Weighted average spot rate: 
4.70% at 31/12/2001; 
5.75% at 31/12/2000) 14,942 22,596

Total bank loans and notes 
(Weighted average spot rate: 
5.29% at 31/12/2001; 
5.98% at 31/12/2000) 56,066 37,909

Capital leases 73 180

Total long-term borrowings 56,139 38,089

(1) Long-term debt including convertible and exchangeable notes.

The interest rate swaps at December 31, 2001 included in the
table above are as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Swap to cover long-term debt Nominal

Swaps paying fixed rate 
and receiving variable rate 12,028

Swaps paying variable rate 
and receiving fixed rate  7,106

Swaps paying variable rate 
and receiving variable rate 1,114

Swaps of structured issues 
against variable rate 391

Interest rate swaps are used to cover a part of France Telecom’s
future bond issues. At December 31, 2001, € 300 million of
forward fixed rate swaps is available to France Telecom to cover
future notes issue at variable rate as well as € 2,250 million of
fixed rate swaps covering future bond issues at fixed interest
rate.

At December 31, 2001, a notional amount of € 594 million of
swaps not qualifying as hedges for accounting purposes is avail-
able to France Telecom. These swaps were accounted for using
the method described in note 2.

Short-term debt rate risk management
France Telecom manages a treasury position as either lender or
borrower depending on cash flows provided by operating cash
flows and maturities of long-term debt. France Telecom peri-
odically reviews its projected short-term debt position and may
use derivative interest rate instruments (future rate agreements,
short-term swaps, Euribor contracts and interest rate collar
agreements) to cover this position against unfavorable changes
in interest rates.
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At December 31, 2001, the derivative interest rate instruments
covering the short-term debt interest rates are as follows:

Notional
(in millions of euros) amount

Short-term swaps allocated to 
short-term notes issued 1,170

3 month Euribor contract 
(Maturity March, June, September 2002) (1) 22,822

Sale of option on 3 month 
Euribor contract (Maturity March,
June, September) (1) 5,500

Sale of 3 month Eurodollar 
contract (Maturity March and June) (1) 1,702

Rate collar (purchase of cap/sale of floor) (1) 1,500

(1) The interest rate collar agreements and the future sales contracts hedging the
future short-term debt interest rates have not been qualified as hedging instru-
ments. The accounting method of these instruments is described in note 2.

Foreign currency risk management
The activities of France Telecom abroad are carried out by sub-
sidiaries operating essentially in their own countries. There-
fore, the exposure to foreign currency risk on these commer-
cial operations is limited. France Telecom primarily hedges the
risk related to the issuance of foreign currency notes and on cer-
tain assets in foreign currency notably certain non-strategic
investments.

In order to take advantage of opportunities to reduce the cost
of borrowings, debt instruments may in some cases be initial-
ly contracted in foreign currencies. They are generally con-

verted into euros immediately through the use of currency rate
swap agreements in order to reduce France Telecom’s exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

Long-term borrowings by currency, taking into account the
effect of currency swap contracts, is as follows:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

EUR 43,632 26,755

GBP 5,335 5,378

USD 5,859 5,463

Other currencies 1,313 493

Total long-term borrowings 56,139 38,089

The borrower position in foreign currency detailed above is
due to:

• borrowings of the subsidiaries in the currency in which they
operate;

• France Telecom’s foreign currency debts used to finance the
subsidiaries’ operations in this same currency, or hedging assets
in this currency.

At December 31, 2001, France Telecom SA hedged assets in
foreign currency through a borrower position and currency
options of an amount equivalent to € 2,590 million. At Decem-
ber 31, 2001, France Telecom was exposed to foreign currency
risk due to a non hedged foreign currency borrower position
for an amount equivalent to € 3,159 million

The following table gives, for the off balance sheet instruments
(currency swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts and cur-
rency options) held by France Telecom group, details on the
currencies to be delivered and to be received:

EUR USD JPY GBP Other
(Amounts in millions of currency) (1) currencies (2)

Asset leg of currency swaps 685 6,002 447,300 600 293

Liability leg of currency swaps (11,285) (14) 0 (361) (577)

Currency to be received on forward currency contracts 604 781 0 1,084 664

Currency to be delivered on forward currency contracts (3,055) (248) 0 (194) (243)

Currency options 1,485 (1,500) 0 0 0

(1) Positive values indicate the currencies to be received and negative values indicate the currencies to be delivered.
(2) In euro equivalent.



16. 2. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments that potentially subject France Telecom
to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equiva-
lents, negotiable bills, marketable securities, trade accounts
receivable and financial instruments used in hedging activities.

France Telecom does not consider itself exposed to a concen-
tration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable
due to its large and diverse customer base (residential, profes-
sional and large business customers) operating in numerous
industries and located in many regions and countries.

France Telecom places its cash equivalents and marketable secur-
ities with a number of very highly rated financial institutions
and industrial groups. France Telecom contracts interest rate and
foreign exchange instruments with major high credit quality
financial institutions. France Telecom does not believe that
there is a significant risk of nonperformance by these counter-
parties because it continually monitors their credit ratings and
limits the financial exposure to any one financial institution. For
each financial institution, the maximum loss in the event of
nonperformance is determined based on the notional amounts
of interest rate and foreign exchange contracts outstanding and
coefficients, which take into account their nature and remaining
duration.

Individual limits are established based on the counterparties’
credit rating and net assets. Contracts with a duration of more
than one year can in principle only be entered into with finan-
cial institutions having a credit rating of at least AA-/Aa3 from
at least two credit rating agencies.

Notional amounts of derivative financial instruments
The contract or notional amounts shown below do not represent
amounts exchanged and thus are not a measure of the exposure
of France Telecom through its use of derivatives:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Interest rate caps 1,541 968

Interest rate collars (caps and floors) 1,500 562

Interest rate swaps 24,953 20,712

Currency swaps  12,567 5,471

Forward currency contracts 4,143 5,416

Currency options 1,702 2,149

Futures 24,524 8,550

Options on futures 5,500 –

17. Fair value of financial 
instruments
The principal methods and assumptions used to estimate the
fair value of each class of financial instruments are described
below.

For cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, bank
overdrafts and other short-term borrowings and trade accounts
payable, France Telecom considers their carrying value to be
the most representative estimate of market value, due to the
short-term maturity of these instruments.

The market value of non-consolidated marketable securities
and unrestricted investments in quoted companies has been
estimated based on quoted market prices at December 28, 2001.
For other investments, France Telecom considers, using available
information, that their market value is not less than carrying
value.
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At December 31,

2001 2000

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions of euros) value value value value

Financial instruments (assets)

Marketable securities 1,138 1,138 216 216

Non consolidated investment securities and related receivables 3,231 6,467 10,218 11,357
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At December 31,

2001 2000

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions of euros) value value value value

Financial instruments (liabilities)

Bank overdrafts and other short-term loans (1) (2) 11,365 11,368 25,165 25,165

Long-term borrowings (1) (2) 56,139 57,598 38,089 38,596

(1) After taking into account the effect of currency swap contracts.
(2) The accounting and market values presented exclude accrued interest.

The market value of long-term debt was determined using:

• the present value of future cash flows, discounted using rates
available to France Telecom at December 28, 2001 for instru-
ments with similar terms and maturities;

• the quoted market value for convertible, exchangeable and
indexed notes.

The fair values of currency exchange and interest rate swap contracts were estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using market exchange rates and related interest rates at December 28, 2001 over the remaining terms of the contracts.

The fair value of over-the-counter options was estimated using option pricing tools recognized by the market.

At December 31,

2001 2000

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions of euros) value value value value

Off balance sheet financial instruments (1)

Interest rate caps 5 (3) 7 6

Interest rate collars (caps and floors) – 9 – (2)

Interest rate swaps (2) (311) (259) 6 (111)

Currency swaps  235 338 (146) (157)

Forward currency contracts 42 43 (237) (237)

Currency options (72) (217) – (170)

Futures (7) (7) – –

Options on futures (21) (21) – (5)

Total (129) (117) (370) (676)

(1) Market value of swaps includes accrued interest.
(2) The carrying value of off balance sheet derivative instruments includes accrued interest, discounts and premiums paid for or received, as well as exchange differences
already accounted for in France Telecom’s books. The difference between accounting and market values represents the unrealized gain or loss on off balance sheet derivative
instruments.
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18. Pension plans and other long-term liabilities
Pension plans and other long-term liabilities are as follows:

At December 31,

2001 2000

Portion Portion Total Total
more than less than

(in millions of euros) one year one year (1)

Early retirement plan 3,479 616 4,095 4,149

Post retirement benefits other than pensions 143 6 149 140

Retirement indemnities 151 24 175 133

Long-term deferred tax (2) 330 – 330 830

Provision for Equant CVRs 2,077 – 2,077 –

Provision for the commitment for NTL preferred shares 811 – 811 –

Other long-term liabilities 1,672 83 1,755 509

Total 8,663 729 9,392 5,761

(1) The current portion is included in “current liabilities”.
(2) See note 26.

EARLY RETIREMENT PLAN FOR FRENCH CIVIL SERVANTS

The actuarial cost of the early retirement plan described in
note 2, and the sensitivity of this cost to the success rate of the
plan are as follows:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Plan data 

Actuarial value of the plan 
at the beginning of the year 4,823 4,935

Actuarial adjustments 51 55

Discounting effect 229 237

Payments made (492) (404)

Actuarial value of the plan 
at the end of the year 4,611 4,823

Actuarial adjustment not yet amortized (516) (674)

Accrued early retirement liability 4,095 4,149

Assumptions

• Success rate 94% 94%

• Discount rate 5% 5%

Analysis of the charge for the year

Discount charge 229 237

Amortization of actuarial adjustment 210 220

Charge for the year 439 457

Effect of a change 
in the success rate of the actuarial 
liability at December 31

• 5% increase 270 296

• 5% decrease (222) (246)



127

Actuarial assumptions have been reviewed on the basis of trends
noted at the end of 2001. The discount rate of the plan for 2002
and the following years remains unchanged at 5%, and the suc-
cess rate remains unchanged compared to 1999 and 2000.

The impact of the revision of actuarial assumptions is account-
ed for as described in “Early Retirement Plan for French civil
servants”, note 2. A charge of € 210 million was recorded within
“Special items, net” in 2001 (see note 24).

Early retirement payments made under the plan since its initia-
tion on September 1, 1996 amount to € 1,743 million (includ-
ing € 492 million in 2001), covered by an equivalent cumulative
reversal of provision at December 31, 2001.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The actuarial liability for post-retirement benefits of € 149 mil-
lion at December 31, 2001 (€ 140 million at December 31,
2000) has been determined using a discount rate of 5%.

EQUANT CVR PROVISION

As described in note 3, the amount of € 2,077 million covers
the maximum payment risk of the CVR.

PROVISION OF COMMITMENT RELATED TO NTL PREFERRED 
SHARES

As described in note 8, the amount of € 811 million covers the
risk of loss on the call and put options contracted with finan-
cial institutions.

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

In 2001, the other long-term liabilities include:

• fixed asset supplier payables for € 209 million;

• deferred income for a total amount of € 160 million relating
to Orange plc. Deferred income relates to the net credits arising
from in-substance early extinguishment (“in substance de-
feasance”) of drawdowns under finance leases (see note 28).
This is amortized to the statement of income over the lease
term on a straight-line basis;

• debt for an amount of € 690 million related to a sale opera-
tion entered into with a bank of future France Telecom receiv-
ables from the French State related to years 2002 to 2008. The
commitments made by France Telecom are described in note 28;

• Orange SA’s vendor financing arrangements with equipment
manufacturers for the construction of the UMTS network, as
follows:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001

Original Maturity Equivalent Amounts
currency in euros drawn

MC (1) 2003 270 234

Euro 2004 470 –

GBP 2004 10 –

Total 750 234

(1) Multicurrency in euro equivalent.

19. Other current liabilities
At December 31, 2000, other current liabilities included:

• the debt related to the acquisition in 2000 from Deutsche
Telekom of its investment in Wind settled in July, 2001 
(€ 2.4 billion);

• the payable to E.On, related to the acquisition of Orange Com-
munications SA (€ 1.0 billion) settled through Orange SA 
shares in the six months ended June 30, 2001. Upon transfer of
the shares in 2001, put and call options were entered into (see
note 28);

• the security issued in favor of Vodafone following the pur-
chase of France Telecom shares in August, 2000 in connection
with the Orange plc acquisition (€ 2.2 billion), settled in 
March 2001.

Settlement of these liabilities during the year explains the move-
ments between 2000 and 2001 of the other current liabilities.
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20. Minority interests 
Changes in minority interests are as follows:

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Opening balance 2,036 1,369 779

• Result for the year (714) (52) (198)

• Issuance of share capital 
to minority interests 74 299 134

• Effect of acquisitions 
and divestitures 6,802 386 646

• Appropriation of net result (128) (213) (71)

• Translation adjustment 31 113 79

• Other changes – 134 –

Closing balances 8,101 2,036 1,369

In 2001, the effect of acquisitions and divestitures relate main-
ly to the public offering of approximately 13% of the capital of
Orange, the Equant/Global One transactions and the dilutions
in Wanadoo for the Freeserve and Indice Multimedia acqui-
sitions (see note 3), as well as Nortel/Telecom Argentina being
accounted for using the equity method.

At December 31, 2001, minority interests relate to Orange SA
and its subsidiary for an amount of € 4,204 million, to the
Equant/Global One group for € 1,532 million and to Wanadoo
for € 1,507 million.

21. Shareholders’ equity 
At December 31, 2001, the share capital of France Telecom
amounts to € 4,615,327,772 and comprises 1,153,831,943 ordin-
ary shares of par value € 4. For the year ended December 31,
2001, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circu-
lation amounted to 1,103,126,514 shares and the weighted 
average number of ordinary and dilutive shares amounted 
to 1,176,996,343 shares.

The “FT law” provides notably that the French State remains 
the majority shareholder. The State owns 55.5% of France 
Telecom’s share capital at December 31, 2001.

CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL

During 1999, France Telecom performed two capital increases,
as follows:

• the conversion of the share capital into euros, giving a nom-
inal value of € 4 per share, through incorporation of reserves
for € 193 million;

• 1,340 ordinary shares were issued as part of the conversion right
of convertible notes open since December 7, 1999, for € 107,200,
including premium.

In 2000, France Telecom:

• increased its share capital through the issuance of 129,201,742 new
shares with par value of € 4, representing € 516,8 million, in
connection with the acquisition of Orange plc from Mannesmann
on August 22, 2000. The premium attached to each share issued
amounted to € 136.2, and totaled € 17,597.3 million;

• issued 14,300 ordinary shares as part of the conversion right
of convertible notes open since December 7, 1999 for € 1.1 mil-
lion, including premium.

In 2001, there have been no operations on share capital.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

In 1998 and 2001, convertible notes were issued for a total
amount of € 5.5 billion (see note 13). The maximum num-
ber of shares to issue upon conversion or exchange is respect-
ively 25.4 million and 48.5 million 

Through the powers vested in it by the Annual General 
Meeting of June 21, 2000, the Board of Directors of France
Telecom has the authority for 26 months from such date to
issue shares or instruments giving access to France Telecom
share capital. The cumulative nominal amount of share in-
creases including both newly issued shares or shares issuable
upon conversion or exercise of securities and the aggregate
cumulative nominal amount of debt instruments may both
not exceed € 900 million. No issues have been made in 2001
under this authority.



129

PURCHASE OF THE COMPANY'S OWN SHARES 

At the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting held on
May 31, 2001, the company's shareholders authorized the Board
of Directors to purchase France Telecom shares representing up
to 10% of the capital. At December 31, 2001 France Telecom held
48.5 million of its own shares, for a gross amount of € 5,002 mil-
lion, representing 4.2% of the share capital. At December 31,
2000, France Telecom held 15.4 million France Telecom shares
(representing 1.3% of its share capital).

During the year ended December 31, 2001, France Telecom
purchased 64.6 million shares at an average price of € 103.37.
The acquisitions result mainly from two purchases in March
2001 concerning 64.1 million shares for an amount of € 6.65 bil-
lion in accordance with the agreement signed on February 28,
2001 between France Telecom and Vodafone (see note 3).

During the year ended December 31, 2001, France Telecom
sold 31.5 million shares at an average price of € 56.71, includ-
ing the contribution to the SITA foundation of 30.9 million
shares for the acquisition of Equant (see note 3). The result of
these sales is offset against consolidated reserves for an amount
of € 1,271 million, net of tax (€ 778 million).

The purchase on March 25, 2002 of the remaining France 
Telecom shares held by Vodafone (see note 28) will reduce 
shareholders' equity by € 4.9 billion. Additionally, if France
Telecom or Deutsche Telekom exercise their cross options 
(see note 28), it would have the effect, on the basis of quoted
market value of France Telecom shares at December 28, 2001,
of reducing shareholders' equity by € 920 million.

22. Segment information 
As a result of the reorganization in 2001 of its global services
to businesses under Equant and of the reorganization in 2000
of its mobile telephony activities under Orange SA and its
consumer Internet activity under Wanadoo, France Telecom
has redefined its segments as follows:

• the segment “Orange” includes worldwide mobile telephony
services, in France and the United Kingdom, as contributed to
Orange SA in 2000, including Orange plc from its date of acqui-
sition by France Telecom (i.e. for 4 months in 2000);

• the segment “Wanadoo” includes Internet Access, Portals,
e-Merchant, Directories and Application Service Provider (ASP)
activities contributed in 2000 to Wanadoo SA;

• the segment “Fixed line, voice and data services in France”
mainly includes the activities within France as an operator of
fixed telephony, data transmission, broadcasting and cable tele-
vision;

• the segment “Fixed line, voice and data services – Internatio-
nal” includes the same activities outside France (notably Equant).

France Telecom segments may evolve in the future, along with
France Telecom's strategic choices. France Telecom evaluates the
performance of its segments and allocates its resources based
on Ebitda results, which represents the operating income before
“specific non-recurring items” and “depreciation and amort-
ization”.

The “Elimination and other items” column includes inter-
segment transaction eliminations and other non-material rec-
onciliation items to France Telecom financial statements.
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The table below sets out main operating indicators per segment for the last three years:

Orange Wanadoo Fixed line, Fixed line, Eliminations Total
voice voice and other France

and data and data Telecom
(in millions of euros, services services-
except number of employees) in France international

At December 31, 2001

Total Sales 15,087 1,563 23,231 (1) 7,382 (4,237) 43,026

Ebitda 3,288 (64) 7,902 1,165 29 12,320

Depreciation and amortization (1,848) (89) (3,445) (1,415) (113) (6,910)

Operating income before special items 1,440 (153) 4,457 (250) (84) 5,410

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets:

• UMTS licenses 873 – – – – 873

• excluding UMTS licenses 3,356 111 2,718 1,906 – 8,091

Average number of employees (2) 29,970 6,588 133,752 35,874 – 206,184

At December 31, 2000

Total sales 9,025 1,111 20,793 (1) 5,936 (3,191) 33,674

Ebitda 1,668 (67) 8,142 1,044 20 10,807

Depreciation and amortization (1,035) (62) (3,516) (1,073) (40) (5,726)

Operating income before special items 633 (129) 4,626 (29) (20) 5,081

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets:

• UMTS licenses 7,068 – – – – 7,068

• excluding UMTS licenses 2,449 96 2,363 2,339 (2) 7,245

Average number of employees (2) 17,163 4,662 138,854 28,187 – 188,866

At December 31, 1999

Total sales 4,942 810 20,704 2,713 (1,936) 27,233

Ebitda 763 68 8,427 355 – 9,613

Depreciation and amortization (718) (29) (3,711) (444) 17 (4,885)

Operating income before special items 45 39 4,716 (89) 17 4,728

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets 1,408 44 2,550 1,018 (19) 5,001

Average number of employees (2) 9,061 3,363 144,959 16,768 111 174,262

(1) From January 1, 2001, sales for the fixed-line activity of France Telecom includes income from fixed-line to mobile calls invoiced to fixed-line subscribers.
(2) Average full time equivalents.

Sales, Ebitda, and operating income before special items of the
Orange segment in 2000 includes Orange plc and its subsidiaries
for 4 months. On a scope comparable to 2001 (pro forma), the
sales, Ebitda and operating income before special items would have
represented respectively € 12,059 million, € 1,765 million and
€ 383 million for 2000.

The “Fixed line, voice and data services” segment outside of
France includes Equant for the last six months of 2001. On a
scope comparable to 2001 (pro forma), the sales, Ebitda and
operating income before special items of the “Fixed line, voice and
data services” segment outside of France for 2000 would have
represented respectively € 6,988 million, € 1,235 million and
€ (12) million.

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN 

Year ended December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Sales 43,026 33,674 27,233

• France 27,626 24,986 23,753

• Other 15,400 8,688 3,480

Fixed assets (1) 49,917 50,912 29,889

• France (2) 20,431 22,171 22,882

• Other 29,486 28,741 7,007

(1) Tangible and intangible, excluding goodwill.
(2) Includes all shared network structures, notably the European backbone.
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23. Personnel costs 

(in millions of euros,
Year ended December 31

except number of employees) 2001 2000 1999

Average headcount (1)

(full time equivalents) 206,184 188,866 174,262

Personnel costs (2)

• Wages and salaries 6,889 5,993 5,177

• Social charges 2,593 2,406 2,212

Total 9,482 8,399 7,389

(1) Of whom approximately 51.6% were French civil servants at December 31, 2001.
(2) Excluding early retirement plan for French civil servants and employee profit sharing.

24. Special items 
Year ended December 31

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

French early retirement plan (1) (210) (225) (238)

(1) See note 18.

25. Other non-operating 
income (expense), net 
In 2001, the other non-operating income (expense) relates
mainly to:

• non-operating expenses for a total amount of € 9,380 million
(€ 7,882 million, net of tax) of which (i) € 5,910 million
(€ 4,581 million net of tax) relate to the valuation allowance
on NTL's common and preferred stocks as described in note 8,
(ii) € 2,077 million (€ 2,077 million, net of tax) relate to the
provision for losses and charges on the Equant CVR (see note
3 and note 17) and (iii) € 1,393 million (€ 1,224 million, net
of tax) relate to MobilCom (see note 7);

• as well as other non-operating income (expense) set out below:

Year ended December 31

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Gain or loss on divestment (1) 2,576 5,544 603

Dividends received 262 255 180

Dilution result (2) 1,993 2,096 –

Other provision movements (3) (694) (3,931) –

Cost of sale of receivables (4) (503) – –

Other (158) (7) (16)

Total 3,476 3,957 767

(1) Includes in 2001 the result of the divestments of investments in Sema Group plc
(€ 401 million), Sprint Fon (€ 181 million) and FT1CI/STMicroelectronics (€ 1,068 mil-
lion) as well as a gain of € 482 million following the determination of the fair value
of Global One in the context of the contribution of Global One to Equant.
Also includes € 705 million relating to the gain on sale of office and mixed technical
buildings to a consortium of investors in 2001 (see note 6).
Moreover, due to the provision recorded at December 31, 2000, the IPO of Orange SA
did not have a significant incidence on the non-operating result.

(2) Includes in 2001 a gain of € 1,086 million related to the Indice Multimedia and
Freeserve transactions and a gain of € 934 million following the contribution of Info-
strada to Wind (see note 3).

(3) In 2001, the other movements in provision relate mainly to: 
• a net reversal, for € 396 million in the provision set up at December 31, 2000 for the
Equant/Global One operation;
• a provision of € 134 million relating to TE.SA.M.;
• provisions relating to the realizable value of certain non strategic foreign subsidiar-
ies including € 141 million relating to Intelig.

(4) including € 419 million relating to the sale of the carry-back receivable (see note 26)
and € 79 million relating to the Securitization of receivables with a Fonds Commun
de Créances.

26. Income taxes 
France Telecom files a consolidated tax return for all French
subsidiaries owned in excess of 95%. Following the Orange
public offering, Orange SA and its French subsidiaries are no
longer in 2001 within the scope of the France Telecom consoli-
dated tax regime but have their own tax regime starting in 2002.

Following the Wanadoo public offering in July 2000, Wanadoo
SA and its French subsidiaries have their own consolidated tax
regime from 2001 onwards.
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Income before income taxes, minority interests and goodwill
amortization of the companies and equity in net result of affili-
ates is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

French companies (2,938) 7,423 4,885

Foreign companies (2,310) (1,135) (641)

Total (5,248) 6,288 4,244

Income tax for the year is the result of the application of the fore-
cast year-end effective tax rate on the result before tax at Decem-
ber 31, 2001. Deferred taxes are based on determined tax rates,
i.e. 36.43% for 2001 and 35.43% for 2002.

In 2001, France Telecom SA and companies within the scope of
its consolidated tax regime recorded a significant tax loss, which
is mainly due to the Orange capital public offering and to the
sale of France Telecom shares to SITA as part of the purchase
of Equant. A carry-back of € 1,630 million and a loss carry-
forward of € 2,231 million resulted from this tax loss.

In December 2001, France Telecom sold the following Govern-
ment receivables to a financial institution:

• a receivable of € 235 million resulting from the option of carry-
ing back the tax loss related to fiscal year 2000;

• a receivable of an estimated amount of € 1,471 million result-
ing from the option of carrying back the tax loss related to fis-
cal year 2001. As compensation, France Telecom received notes
worth € 1,111 million.

Non transferable tax loss carry-forwards gave rise to the recog-
nition of a credit of € 1,453 million in the statement of income
related to creation of a deferred tax asset, with € 778 million
recorded directly against consolidated reserves for the part result-
ing from the tax effect of the sale of France Telecom shares 
(see note 21).

France Telecom considers that, on the basis of budgets and
strategic plans of France Telecom SA and of the companies
within the scope of its consolidated tax regime, (i) no current
income tax will be due before 2009 by France Telecom SA's
consolidated tax regime, (ii) the recognized deferred income tax
asset resulting from France Telecom SA's loss carry-forwards will
be recovered through taxable profits expected for future fiscal
years in its activities as fixed line operator in France, activities
historically profitable. Moreover, due to these results and to
the tax method of reputed deferred amortization (amortisse-
ments réputés différés), the part of the loss carry-forwards that
cannot be carried forward indefinitely under French tax law,
should be entirely used within the 5-year legal limit. The remain-
der of the loss can be indefinitely carried forward. On this basis
net deferred tax assets are estimated at € 3.6 billion at the end
of 2006.

Income taxes can be analyzed as follows:

Income (charge) Year ended December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

France Telecom SA 
Carry-back 1,630 76

Other (788) (1,666)

Current tax 842 (1,590)

France Telecom SA
tax loss carry forward 1,453 –

Discounting charge 
for entities of the tax 
group France Telecom SA (750) –

Other 1,387 277

Deferred taxes 2,090 277

Total taxes 2,932 (1,313)

The reconciliation between the French statutory tax rate and the
effective rate of income tax credit/ expense is as follows:

Income (charge) Year ended December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Legal tax rate 36.43% 37.76%

Theoretical tax 1,912 (2,374)

• Permanent differences 2,846 1,433

• Losses from subsidiaries 
not included in the French 
consolidated tax regime (1,826) (1,154)

• Effect of reduced tax rate – 782

Effective tax 2,932 (1,313)

Permanent differences for fiscal year 2001 are mainly impacted
by (i) the difference between book value and tax value of the
Orange SA shares sold in the IPO, (ii) the dilution gains relat-
ed to Wanadoo and Wind, as well as (iii) the effect of the gain
recognized in the context of the contribution of Global One to
Equant.
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Deferred taxes assets/(liabilities) by nature of temporary differ-
ence before compensation by tax entity are analyzed as 
follows:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Early retirement plan 1,451 1,469

Impairment of long-lived assets 437 453

Non deductible provisions 1,768 1,232

Employee profit sharing 45 51

France Telecom SA 
tax loss carry forward 2,999 –

Other tax loss carry forwards 3,320 2,181

Other deferred tax assets 782 720

Accelerated tax depreciation (341) (248)

Other deferred tax liabilities (922) (1,094)

Discounting charge (750) –

Depreciation (3,022) (1,965)

Net group deferred tax assets 5,767 2,799

This net position is presented as follows in the balance sheet:

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000

Net long-term deferred tax assets 5,369 2,532

Net short-term deferred tax assets 1,102 1,609

Net long-term deferred 
tax liabilities (330) (830)

Net short-term deferred 
tax liabilities (374) (512)

Total 5,767 2,799

A € 750 million discounting effect has been recorded against
deferred tax assets of the France Telecom SA's consolidated tax
regime based on the anticipated timing of reversal.

Allowances against deferred tax assets relate principally to tax
loss carry forwards in new subsidiaries or subsidiaries operat-
ing in emerging markets for an amount of € 2,923 million
(€ 1,859 million at December 31, 2000). A part of these tax
loss carry forwards will be recognized when the activity of the
subsidiaries becomes durably profitable.

27. Related party transactions 
Telecommunications services to French governmental author-
ities, which are one of France Telecom’s largest customers, as well
as those to its various regional and local authorities are provid-
ed at market prices. Subsequent to the separation of France
Telecom and postal services (La Poste) in 1987 a number of
transactions have subsisted relating particularly to personnel and
shared properties.

The transactions and balances summarized below arose in the
ordinary course of business between France Telecom and related
parties.

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTIES

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Related party

Sprint 20 20 –

La Poste 50 54 34

Satellite organizations 92 28 11

AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES

At December 31,

(in millions of euros) 2001 2000 1999

Related party

Sprint 10 10 4

La Poste 30 31 50

Satellite organizations 147 62 3
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SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

(in millions of euros) Income/(expenses or investments)
Year ended December 31,

Related party Nature of transaction 2001 2000 1999

La Poste Personnel programs – (24) (88)

Commonly managed services 71 28 15

Satellite organizations Expenses (248) (169) (88)

Income 50 – –

Sprint Invoiced services 38 32 19

Expenses (7) (14) –

28. Commitments and 
contingencies
OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS RELATED 
TO PURCHASES OF NETWORK EQUIPMENT AND TERMINALS

In the ordinary course of its activities, France Telecom enters
into purchase contracts with network equipment manufacturers
and into supply contracts with suppliers of terminals and other
equipment. Management believes that there is no significant risk
of financial loss from these contracts.

OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS RELATED 
TO NETWORK CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION

In connection with the award of licenses, concession contracts
or acquisition of businesses, France Telecom is committed to cer-
tain obligations imposed by administrative or regulatory author-
ities relating to network coverage, quality of service and tariffs.
In some instances, France Telecom is required to provide com-
fort letters to financial institutions relating to bank guarantees
given to relevant authorities. Management believes that France
Telecom has the ability to meet these obligations to adminis-
trative or regulatory authorities.

OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS RELATED TO LEASES

Leases 
France Telecom leases land, buildings, equipment, vehicles and
other items under lease agreements expiring at various dates
during the next 10 years.

Moreover, as part of the divestment of part of its buildings (see
note 6), France Telecom is committed to release these buildings
except for certain assets to be vacated in the short-term.

Management expects that leases that expire may or may not be
renewed or replaced by other leases in the normal course of
business.

Rental expense under operating leases in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 amounts to € 831 million (€ 473 million in 2000
and € 313 million in 1999).

The table below shows future minimum lease payments due
under non-cancelable capital and operating leases at December
31, 2001, including those contracted within the context of the
divestment of part of the real estate:

(in millions of euros) Capital Operating 
lease lease (1)

2002 41 881

2003 20 745

2004 7 656

2005 2 616

2006 1 702

2007 and thereafter 4 1,380

Total minimum future 
lease payments 75 4,980

Less: interest payments (2)

Present value 
of minimum commitments 73

(1) Including those contracted in relation to the sale of part of the real estate.

Strategic technical buildings 
On October 31, 2001, France Telecom signed a promise to sell
42 technical strategic buildings which will be released as part
of a capital lease contract. The sale and the capital lease related
to these buildings are planned by June 30, 2002.

QTE leases 
As part of cross-operation leases (QTE lease) with distinct third
parties, France Telecom gave and took for hire certain tele-
communications equipment. The crossed rental flow and France
Telecom remuneration were prepaid at the outset of the
contracts and, for this reason, are not shown in the above table.
Of this remuneration, the portion which pays for the guaran-
tee against third party commitments given by France Telecom
is taken as income over the period of this guarantee. France
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Telecom estimates that the risk of the guarantee, which amounts
to € 750 million at December 31, 2001, being drawn upon is
negligible.

Orange in substance defeasance 
As part of the lease agreements concluded in 1995 and 1997,
Orange plc has deposited amounts equal to the present value
of its rental obligations with UK financial institutions to se-
cure letters of credit issued by these institutions to the lessors
in connection with Orange plc’s rental obligations. These funds,
which totaled € 1,247 million at December 31, 2001 (€ 1,221 mil-
lion at December 31, 2000 and € 1,192 million in 1999), together
with the interest earned thereon, will be used to settle Orange
plc’s rental obligations under the leases.

These in substance early extinguishments of lease commit-
ments result in the offset of the deposit amount and the cap-
ital lease obligation, and result in a net credit which has been
reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income
that will be amortized to the statement of income over the lease
term on a straight line basis. This includes a provision, based
on management assessment of likely outcomes, for possible
future costs arising for variation in interest rates or tax rates.

Accordingly the related capital lease obligations are not shown
in the above table.

OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS RELATED TO INVEST-
MENT SECURITIES AND OWN SHARES HELD 

As part of the agreements between certain companies of the
group and their partners within other subsidiaries or consor-
tia, clauses relating to put or call options exist over shares held
by partners as well as clauses relating to the transfer of such
shares of which the most significant are:

CCIC
In July 2000, France Telecom sold its remaining 17.7 million
CCIC shares for US$ 505 million, i.e. US$ 28.5 per share 
(see note 8).

Since France Telecom remains contractually exposed to the risk
of stock exchange fluctuations for the shares sold, for a period
to June 2002, the sale result has been deferred until the end of
this contractual commitment.

The unwinding of this operation on the basis of the share price
of CCIC as at December 28, 2001 would have lead France Tele-
com to pay an amount of € 357 million to the purchasers of the
shares, less at this date than the deferred gain on divestment.

Put and call options over NTL preference shares 
As part of the transaction described in note 7, France Telecom
entered into an agreement on February 17, 2000, and amended
on December 21, 2001, with financial institutions whereby
France Telecom may exercise, upon payment, a call option over
all the NTL preferred shares held by the financial institutions,

at the initial acquisition price i.e. US$ 1.1 billion. The financial
institutions may each sell all their shares to France Telecom at
initial acquisition price, notably if this call option is not exer-
cised by France Telecom before March 28, 2003 or under cer-
tain circumstances.

A provision for risk of € 811 million has been recorded on the
basis of this commitment at December 31, 2001 (note 8). The
residual exposure on this commitment amounts to € 437 mil-
lion included in the € 1,806 million mentioned in note 8.

MobilCom

Orange has a call option to purchase 21.6 million shares (33%
of the outstanding MobilCom shares) held by MobilCom’s
founding shareholder, which is exercisable between 2003 and
2006. Moreover, the founding shareholder has a put option
against Orange regarding these shares exercisable in certain
limited circumstances (if the France Telecom group acquires 
shares such that it owns more shares than the founding share-
holder, or if a major disagreement arises and the France Tele-
com group imposes its position on the founding shareholder
through the contractual mediation process, or if the France
Telecom group breaches certain material obligations of
the cooperation framework agreement with MobilCom and
MobilCom's founding shareholder). The exercise price of the
put and call options is to be determined based upon formal
evaluation opinions by internationally recognized investment
banks, using multi criteria valuations.

If MobilCom is unable, through existing own capital resources
and loan facilities and through additional financing that it pro-
cures on its own, to commence UMTS operations, France Tele-
com SA has a commitment under the terms and conditions set
out in this agreement and on the basis of a budget and business
plan agreed by the France Telecom group to provide loans
directly to MobilCom or to guarantee third party loans to the
extent of any financing necessary until the commencement of
UMTS operations.

The conditions of application of the cooperation framework
agreement and of France Telecom SA's financing commitments
are currently the subject of disagreements with the founding 
shareholder. A discussion is in progress, of which the France 
Telecom group cannot predict the outcome.

Moreover, France Telecom group management considers, to
the best of its current knowledge, that the increase in borrowings
recorded in the financial statements of the France Telecom
group could reach a maximum of € 6 billion to € 7 billion
within 18 months should Orange have to fully consolidate
MobilCom, of which the existing credit facilities of € 6.2 billion
are non recourse to the France Telecom group. In this case, the
assets of MobilCom, mainly represented by the UMTS license,
would be reassessed based on the new business plan set up by
Orange, and taking into account the existence or not of likely
consolidation in the mobile market in Germany. France 
Telecom group management considers that the exceptional
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depreciation of the investment in MobilCom recorded in 2001
translates implicitly a loss of value of the license compared to
its historic cost.

Over and above the application of the contractual arrange-
ments, the sharing between France Telecom SA and Orange of
any financial consequences of the disagreements with the found-
ing shareholder will be determined on the basis of a fairness 
opinion issued by internationally recognized investment banks
designated by the independent directors of France Telecom SA
and Orange.

TP SA
Following the sale by the Polish government in 2000 and 2001
of shares in the Polish operator TP SA, the consortium created
by France Telecom and Kulczyk Holding held 47.5% of TP SA
at October 31, 2001. The consortium also hold a call option
enabling it to acquire 2.5% of the capital of TP SA plus one
share, at any time between January 1, 2002 and December 31,
2002, at a price equal to the average closing share price of
TP SA for the 100 trading days prior to the exercise of the call
option, plus 25%. Following this acquisition, the consortium
would also become the majority shareholder of TP SA. More-
over, the consortium also holds a call option enabling it to 
acquire a further 10% of the capital of TP SA in the event that
the Polish State were to offer TP SA shares, an option exercisable
at the same price as that proposed to institutional investors
within this offer. The shareholder agreement between France
Telecom and Kulczyk Holding includes the following clauses
relating to the transfer of TP SA shares: (i) France Telecom has
a preemption right over any transfer of TP SA shares by 
Kulczyk Holding: (ii) France Telecom has a call option enabling
it to purchase from Kulczyk Holding its original investment of
10% in TP SA and its investment of 3.57% after July 2006 or earl-
ier in the event of change of control or of violation of Kulczyk
Holding's obligations, at a price equal to the higher of the 
acquisition cost plus accrued interest and market value of the
shares; (iii) Kulczyk Holding holds a put option enabling it to
sell to France Telecom its original investment of 10% in TP SA
and its further investment of 3.57% between October 2003 and
January 2007, at a price equal to its acquisition cost plus accrued
interest less dividends paid; the banks who financed the purchase
by Kulczyk Holding of TP SA shares can also demand that 
France Telecom takes possession of all the shares which the
banks may hold as security at a price equal to the residual 
credit plus interest. The amount of this commitment amounts
to approximately € 1.7 billion at December 31, 2001.

E.On
Following the agreements in relation to the purchase by 
France Telecom of the 42.5% interest which E.On held in the
capital of Orange Communications SA (Switzerland), approxi-
mately 75% of the payments due to E.On were made through
the delivery of 102.7 million Orange SA shares at the IPO.

In this context, France Telecom agreed put and call options
with E.On which were the subject of an amendment on Janu-
ary 28, 2002. Under the terms of these amended options, in
June 2002, (i) E.On has the right to sell to France Telecom the
Orange SA shares which it holds at a price of € 9.25 per share
(i.e. a total of € 950 million) and (ii) France Telecom has the
right to purchase the Orange SA shares which E.On holds at 
a price of € 11.25 per share (i.e. a total of € 1,155 million).
E.On has the ability to sell its Orange SA shares in an orderly
manner. Given the value in use of Orange no provision was set
up at December 31, 2001.

Wind Infostrada
France Telecom and Enel agreed to undertake an initial public
offering of Wind as soon as possible after the merger on Janu-
ary 2, 2002 of Infostrada and Wind. France Telecom holds an
option to purchase a portion of the Wind shares held by Enel,
with a floor and a ceiling price, sufficient to increase its equity
interest in Wind to 76.6% of Enel's interest. This option can be
exercised at any moment between July 31, 2003 and January 31,
2004. Moreover, France Telecom also holds a put option of its
Wind shares to Enel at market value on a 100% basis (as defi-
ned by independent experts) exercisable at any moment in the
event of a disagreement between France Telecom and Enel
concerning Wind. Put and call options are also planned in the
event of a blockage, violation of obligations or change in owner-
ship of the shareholders.

San Salvador CTE
France Telecom sold in March 2000 24.5% of the shares which
it held in the capital of Estel Co. LLC (“Estel”) to Central Amer-
ica Communications LLC ("CAC"). In the context of this sale,
France Telecom granted CAC a put option exercisable in case
of default of CAC under the terms of the credit agreement be-
tween CAC and Citybank. The price varies between:

• $134.8 million for all 490 CAC shares in Estel before Sep-
tember 16, 2003 latest falling to:

• $101.1 million between September 17, 2003 and September 16,
2004;

• $67.4 million between September 17, 2004 and September
16, 2005;

• $33.7 million between September 15, 2005 and June 16, 2007.

Equant Contingent Value Rights (CVR) 
In the context of the acquisition of Equant, France Telecom
issued CVR to certain beneficiaries (see note 3). This commit-
ment resulted in a provision for the maximum risk (see notes
3 and 18).

France Telecom Dominicana
The joint shareholder has an option to sell its 14% interest in
the company between 2003 and 2007 at market value.
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BITCO (Thailand)
If one of the shareholders does not respect their commitments,
the other shareholders can at any moment exercise a call option
equal to 80% of market value or a put option over their own 
shares at a price equal to 120% of market value. Moreover,
given the current legislation in Thailand, the group can in no
case increase its interest in BITCO beyond its current interest
of 49%.

TPS 
France Telecom signed with TF1 in December 2001 a memo-
randum of understanding to sell its share in the satellite offer
TPS for € 128.7 million (see note 7).

COMMITMENTS LINKED TO HOLDINGS OF OWN SHARES

Own shares of France Telecom held 
by Deutsche Telekom
France Telecom has an option to purchase, at any time be-
tween January 1, 2002 and January 31, 2003, 20,492,292 of its
shares, representing 1.8% of its share capital, held by Deutsche
Telekom at a price determined on the basis of the then pre-
vailing market price. If France Telecom does not exercise this
option, Deutsche Telekom may exercise a put option requiring
France Telecom to purchase these shares on January 31, 2003
under the same terms.

Own shares of France Telecom held by Vodafone 
As described in note 3, France Telecom is committed to repur-
chase all the France Telecom shares held by Vodafone in connec-
tion with the acquisition of Orange plc. The third and final
tranche of the repurchase, of 49.7 million shares, is to be per-
formed on March 25, 2002, for € 4.9 billion.

COMMITMENTS LINKED TO SALES OF RECEIVABLES 

Securitization of receivables 
As part of the Securitization program set out in note 9, the
beneficial interests subscribed by France Telecom in the Fonds
Commun de Créances have been pledged.

Sales of carry-back receivables 
As part of the sale of carry-back receivables resulting from the
choice to carry-back tax losses for the years 2000 and 2001, as
set out in note 26, France Telecom has guaranteed the receiv-
ables sold to the credit institution and is committed to indem-
nify it for any error or inexactitude noted in the amounts or
nature of the receivables sold.

Sale of future receivables from the French State 
As part of the sale of future receivables from the French State
set out in note 18, France Telecom has guaranteed to the assign-
ee institution the existence and amount of the receivables sold
and is committed to indemnify it to this regard.

SUNDRY COMMITMENTS 

Apart from the commitments set out in notes 14 and 15, France
Telecom has issued no guarantee on its financial debt nor is it
bound by any commitment beyond those normally subscribed
in financing contracts.

In the ordinary course of business, the group gives certain guar-
antees of which the most significant at December 31, 2001 are
as follows:

• shares and sundry other assets held by the Orange group have
been pledged to lending financial institutions (or given as secur-
ity), as collateral for bank loans and credit lines, amounting to
€ 3,936 million, of which € 3,679 million has been drawn at
December 31, 2001;

• a counter guarantee of € 169 million has been given to Enel
to cover the guarantee granted by Enel to financial institutions
in the context of Wind's deferred UMTS license payment;

• a guarantee of a maximum of € 104 million has been given
to a joint venture to be operated in common between Orange
Sverige AB and the two other operators in Sweden, as part of a
network sharing contract;

• guarantees of maximum € 49 million and € 58 million respect-
ively have been given to equipment suppliers in the context 
of the network rollout of BITCO in Thailand. The first guar-
antee is valid for a five-month period from November 30, 2001.
The second guarantee also has a limited validity duration. In
February 2002, a new guarantee of a maximum of US$ 175 mil-
lion replaced these two guarantees.

29. Litigation and claims 
In the ordinary course of business, France Telecom is involved
in a number of legal, and arbitration proceedings and admin-
istrative actions.

The costs associated with the legal proceedings are only accrued
for when it is probable that a liability will be incurred and the
amount of that liability can be quantified or estimated within
a reasonable range. In the latter case, an allowance is recorded
to provide for the lower end of the range.

France Telecom believes that there are meritorious defenses to
all these claims. Although the ultimate resolution of such claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, it is France Telecom’s opin-
ion that their resolution will not have a material adverse effect
on its consolidated operating results, its activity or financial
position.

FTML (LEBANON) 

FTML and the Lebanese Ministry of Post and Telecommuni-
cations agreed in 1994 a Build, Operate and Transfer contract
(BOT) for the construction and operation of a GSM mobile
telephony network in the Lebanon. A similar contract was
granted to the competitor Libancell.
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These two contracts are the subject of disputes between the
Lebanese governments and the two operators.

• On June 14, 2001, the Lebanese government notified the can-
cellation of the BOT contract of FTML and that of its com-
petitor, effective December 13, 2001. The cancellation and the
transfer are to give rise, under the BOT contract, to an indem-
nisation of each operator by the Lebanese government which
may be subject to an international arbitration, under the French-
Lebanese agreement of protection of investments, in the ab-
sence of a global agreement in the context of the negotiation and
the tender for the two or three GSM mobile telephony licenses
in Lebanon, anticipated within six months.

• Prior to June 14, 2001 the government considered that the
operators had not respected certain clauses in their contracts,
and claimed indemnities. FTML refused these allegations within
the context of an international arbitration, temporarily sus-
pended until March 31, 2002 as part of a joint agreement between
FTML and the Ministry of Post and Telecommunications with
the goal of finding a global solution to the dispute.

COMPETITION LAW 

France Telecom is subject to claims made by its competitors in
front of the Competition Authorities (Conseil de la concurrence)
or the European Commission for alleged abuse of dominant
position and anti competitive behavior, of which the most signifi-
cant claims are:

Fixed line 
The Conseil de la concurrence following a double claim by 
Cegetel/Tele2 ordered on December 19, 2001 that France 
Telecom was to suspend immediately the commercialization
of four tariff offers until the other operators were able to pro-
pose equivalent offers. France Telecom has three months to
migrate to new offers those customers who subscribed to the
offer.

Internet high-speed access 
The France Telecom group has been accused in several dis-
putes related to the different internet high-speed access markets,
susceptible to give rise to the pronouncement of financial 
sanctions or damages and interests against the Group.

• Under a decision on February 27, 2002, the Conseil de la
concurrence ordered France Telecom to suspend commerciali-
zation of the ADSL of Wanadoo Interactive in its agencies 
until France Telecom provides to all internet access providers
a computerized tool enabling mass handling of high-speed
internet access requests with France Telecom. France Telecom
has lodged an appeal to cancel this decision with the Paris Cour
d’appel.

• 9Telecom requested that the Conseil de la concurrence fine
France Telecom for non respect of the decision of the Conseil
of February 18, 2001, which ordered France Telecom to propose
the operators an ADSL access offer enabling them to compete

effectively both through the price and the nature of services
offered. On July 16, 2001, the Conseil de la concurrence announced
a halt in the procedure, to enable a full enquiry.

• On December 21, 2001, Wanadoo Interactive was informed by
the European Commission of claims against the company's
tariffs for the high-speed internet services Wanadoo ADSL and
Pack X-Tense throughout 2001. The Commission considers
that the price policy of Wanadoo Interactive since the beginning
of 2001 constitutes an abuse of dominant position.

30. Subsequent events 

Pramindo Ikat 
On February 20, 2002, the shareholders of Pramindo Ikat signed
with Perusahaan Perseroan (Persora) PT Telekommukasi Indo-
nesia TBK a memorandum of understanding to sell their 
shares at a price of US$ 339 million (of which 40% for France
Telecom), which will be paid after the sale in ten quarterly pay-
ments with interest.

TDF
On February 22, 2002, France Telecom signed a letter of inten-
tion with the group Caisse des dépôts and the investment funds
Charterhouse Capital Development and CDC Equity Capital for
the acquisition of 100% of the TDF group by a new structure.
This transaction would value the entire TDF group between
€ 2 billion and € 2.3 billion of which € 2 billion are to be paid
to France Telecom upon the transaction and € 300 million
(bearing interest at 7% per annum) are to be paid by the invest-
ors to France Telecom under the form of an increase in price
at the time of divestment of their shares and on the basis of
the return on investment achieved. France Telecom is to sub-
scribe for 35% of this new structure.

31. Compensation of the board 
of directors and the executive
management committee 
The aggregate amount of remuneration allocated to directors
and members of the executive committee of France Telecom SA
amounted to approximately € 5.27 million in 2001.

The directors of France Telecom do not receive any compen-
sation for their services as directors other than reimbursement
of expenses incidental to their attendance at Board of Directors
meetings.
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32. list of consolidated companies
and affiliates at december 31, 2001
The main changes in consolidation scope in 2001 are set out in
notes 3 and 7.

ORANGE SEGMENT

Fully consolidated companies

Company Interest Control Country

Orange SA 84.17 84.17 France

Orange Int. Developments 
Ltd 84.17 100.00 Bahamas

Wirefree Services Belgium 84.17 100.00 Belgium

Mobistar Corporate 
Solutions 42.75 100.00 Belgium

Mobistar 42.75 50.79 Belgium

Vista Cellular 42.93 51.00 Botswana

Company Camerounaise 
de Mobiles 88.92 100.00 Cameroon

Rapid Link 56.39 67.00 China

Company Ivoirienne 
de Mobiles 71.54 85.00 Ivory Coast

Orange A/S 45.10 100.00 Denmark

Orange Holding A/S 45.10 53.58 Denmark

Wirefree Services 
Denmark A/S 84.17 100.00 Denmark

Orange World, Inc. 84.17 100.00 US

Wildfire Communications,
Inc. 84.17 100.00 US

Inventmobile 78.93 100.00 France

Mobile Internet for Business 92.10 100.00 France

Orange Caraïbes 84.19 100.00 France

Orange Clients 84.19 100.00 France

Orange Distribution 84.19 100.00 France

Orange France SA 84.19 100.00 France

Orange Réunion 84.19 100.00 France

Orange Promotions 84.19 100.00 France

Orange Services 84.19 100.00 France

Orange International SAS 84.17 100.00 France

Orange Supports 
& Consulting 84.19 100.00 France

Rapp 6 84.19 100.00 France

Telsea 52.73 75.50 Mauritius

Company Malgache 
de Mobiles 34.75 65.90 Madagascar

Dutchtone 84.17 100.00 Netherlands

Dutchtone Retail 84.17 100.00 Netherlands

France Telecom Dominicana 72.38 86.00 Dominican
Republic

Orange Romania (MobilRom) 57.08 67.81 Romania

Ananova 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange plc 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Cellular Services Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Mobile Data Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Paging (UK) Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Personal 
Communications Services Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Retail Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Holdings Ltd 
and its subsidiaries 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange Holdings (UK) Ltd 84.17 100v00 UK

Orange Overseas Holdings 
n°2 Ltd and its subsidiaries 84.17 100.00 UK

Orange 3G Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

The Point Communications 
Ltd 84.17 100.00 UK

Globtel 54.10 64.27 Slovakia

Globtel Net 71.54 85.00 Slovakia

Orange Sverige 82.45 97.96 Sweden

Orange Communications 
SA (“OCH”) 83.96 99.75 Switzerland

Proportionally consolidated companies

Company Interest Control Country

Darty France Telecom 42.10 50.00 France

Fidecall 42.10 50.00 France

Equity accounted companies

Company Interest Control Country

MobilCom AG 23.83 28.31 Germany

NewsTakes 21.04 25.00 US

Wind Telecomunicazioni 22.37 26.58 Italy

Book2eat.com Holdings Ltd 35.13 41.74 UK

Bangkok Inter Teletech 
Company (BITCO) 41.24 49.00 Thailand
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SEGMENT WANADOO

Fully consolidated companies

Company Interest Control Country

Wanadoo SA 73.68 73.68 France

Wanadoo Belgium 73.68 100.00 Belgium

Wanadoo International 73.68 100.00 Belgium

Pages Jaunes do Brasil 73.68 100.00 Brazil

Telelistas 73.68 100.00 Brazil

Activos Mass Market 73.68 100.00 Spain

Indice Multimedia 69.67 94.56 Spain

Wanadoo España 73.68 100.00 Spain

FIT Production 73.68 100.00 France

Kompass France 73.68 100.00 France

Marcopoly 73.68 100.00 France

Nordnet 73.68 100.00 France

Pages Jaunes 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Data 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Interactive Câble 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Edition 46.96 63.74 France

Wanadoo E-Merchant 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Interactive 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Portails 73.68 100.00 France

Wanadoo Services Pro 73.68 100.00 France

Maroc Connect 66.31 90.00 Morocco

Euronet Internet 73.68 100.00 Netherlands

Freeserve holding plc 73.68 100.00 UK

Babyworld.com Ltd 73.68 100.00 UK

Freeserve.com 73.68 100.00 UK

Freeserve Auctions Ltd 64.73 87.85 UK

Intracus Ltd 73.68 100.00 UK

Freeserve Investment Ltd 73.68 100.00 UK

F3B Property Company 73.68 100,00 UK

Equity accounted companies 

Company Interest Control Country

Eurodirectory 36.84 50.00 Luxembourg

FIXED LINE, VOICE AND DATA SERVICES IN FRANCE SEGMENT

Fully consolidated companies 

Company Interest Control Country

Almerys 60.00 60.00 France

Cit Com 99.97 99.97 France

Cogecom 100.00 100.00 France

Cognac Jay Image 100.00 100.00 France

CV2F 100.00 100.00 France

CVF 86.00 86.00 France

Etrali SA 100.00 100.00 France

Expertel Consulting 100.00 100.00 France

Expertel FM 100.00 100.00 France

France 102 Studio 100.00 100.00 France

France Télévision Entreprise 65.84 65.84 France

France Telecom EGT 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Angers 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Atlantique 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Avignon 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Bassin Parisien 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Bordeaux 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Côte d’Opale 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Drôme 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Lille 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Lorraine 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Marseille 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Montpellier 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Région 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Rennes 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Rouen 99.99 99.99 France

FT Câble SIRCA 100.00 100.00 France

FT Câble Tours 99.69 99.69 France

FT e-business 100.00 100.00 France

FT Immo 100.00 100.00 France

FT Immo Holding 100.00 100.00 France

FT Immo Investissement 100.00 100.00 France

FT Multimédia 2 100.00 100.00 France

FT Technologie 
Investissement 100.00 100.00 France

FT Terminaux 100.00 100.00 France

FT Transmissions 
Audiovisuelles 100.00 100.00 France

GIE Innovacom 92.49 100.00 France

Globecast Reportages 100.00 100.00 France
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Immobilière FT 100.00 100.00 France

Immobilière ISIS 100.00 100.00 France

Innovacom SA 100.00 100.00 France

Innovacom I 100.00 100.00 France

Intelmatique 100.00 100.00 France

Interpac 100.00 100.00 France

Montenay Video 100.00 100.00 France

NEDFI 51.61 51.61 France

Rapp Fin 1 100.00 100.00 France

Régie T France 100.00 100.00 France

Resocom Services 100.00 100.00 France

Setib 99.99 99.99 France

SFET 100.00 100.00 France

Sofratev 100.00 100.00 France

TDF Câble Cenod 100.00 100.00 France

TDF Câble Est 100.00 100.00 France

TDF Vidéo Service 100.00 100.00 France

TéléDiffusion de France 
(TDF) 100.00 100.00 France

Telinvest et ses filiales 100.00 100.00 France

Transpac 100.00 100.00 France

Viaccess 100.00 100.00 France

Visual TV 100.00 100.00 France

Voltaire Image 100.00 100.00 France

W-HA 100.00 100.00 France

Equity accounted companies

Company Interest Control Country

CNTP 50.00 50.00 France

Technocom 49.91 49.91 France

Télévision Par Satellite (SNC) 16.46 25.00 France

FIXED LINE, VOICE AND DATA SERVICES 
OUTSIDE FRANCE SEGMENT 

Fully consolidated companies 

Company Interest Control Country

FT Deutschland GmbH 100.00 100.00 Germany

Financiera SA 100.00 100.00 Argentina

Sofrecom Consultora 100.00 100.00 Argentina

Atlas Services Belgium 100.00 100.00 Belgium

Mobinvest 75.75 90.00 Belgium

CI-Telcom 45.90 51.00 Ivory Coast

Atlas Services Denmark 100.00 100.00 Denmark

Menatel 47.00 47.00 Egypt

Catalana 75.00 75.00 Spain

Etrali Espagne 100.00 100.00 Spain

Madrid Films 100.00 100.00 Spain

Medialatina 100.00 100.00 Spain

Uni2 100.00 100.00 Spain

NRM 100.00 100.00 Spain

Estel 51.00 51.00 US

Etrali North America 100.00 100.00 US

FCR America 100.00 100.00 US

FT Network LLC 100.00 100.00 US

FT Participations US 100.00 100.00 US

Globecast N.A. 100.00 100.00 US

Atrium 3 100.00 100.00 France

E2CS 100.00 100.00 France

Etrali International 100.00 100.00 France

France Câbles et Radio 100.00 100.00 France

FT/FCR Sénégal 100.00 100.00 France

FCR Côte d’Ivoire 90.00 90.00 France

FT Développement 
International 100.00 100.00 France

FTFI 100.00 100.00 France

FT Marine 100.00 100.00 France

FT Mobiles International 100.00 100.00 France

FT Publiphonie 
International 100.00 100.00 France

FT Services 100.00 100.00 France

Silex 100.00 100.00 France

Rapp 10 100.00 100.00 France

Sofrecom 100.00 100.00 France

Stellat 70.00 70.00 France

TDF International 100.00 100.00 France

Etrali HK 100.00 100.00 Hong Kong

Rincom 100.00 100.00 Mauritius

Safcable 100.00 100.00 Mauritius
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Global One 
Communications Operations 100.00 100.00 Ireland

Global One Communication
GBN Holding 100.00 100.00 Ireland

Global One Communication 
World Operations 100.00 100.00 Ireland

Etrali SRL 100.00 100.00 Italy

Etrali KK 100.00 100.00 Japan

JIT CO 88.00 88.00 Jordan

FTM Liban 67.00 67.00 Lebanon

Régie T Mexico 75.00 75.00 Mexico

Voxtel 53.23 53.64 Moldavia

FT Network Services Norway 100.00 100.00 Norway

Casema 86.00 100.00 Netherlands

DFI 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

Dutchtone Group BV 86.00 86.00 Netherlands

FT Services Nederland 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

Global One 
Communications Services 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

Global One Communications
World Services 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

Equant NV 
and its subsidiaries (1) 54.17 54.17 Netherlands

Newsforce 
and its subsidiaries 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

TFN 100.00 100.00 Netherlands

PSN 100.00 100.00 Poland

TOUT 100.00 100.00 Poland

FT Network Services UK 100.00 100.00 UK

FTMAN UK 100.00 100.00 UK

Etrali UK 100.00 100.00 UK

FT Participations UK 100.00 100.00 UK

Globecast N.E. 100.00 100.00 UK

CTE 26.01 51.00 Salvador

CTE Telecom Personal 26.01 100.00 Salvador

Publicom 22.99 51.00 Salvador

Publitel 26.01 100.00 Salvador

Telecom ODA 45.08 100.00 Salvador

Sonatel 42.33 42.33 Senegal

Sonatel Mobiles 42.33 100.00 Senegal

Etrali Singapore PTE 100.00 100.00 Singapore

FT Network Services Sweden 100.00 100.00 Sweden

Etrali Suisse 100.00 100.00 Switzerland

FT Network Services 
Switzerland 100.00 100.00 Switzerland

Global One Swiss Sales 100.00 100.00 Switzerland

FCR Vietnam PTE Ltd 74.00 74.00 Vietnam

Proportionally consolidated companies 

Company Interest Control Country

DT-FT Italian Holding GmbH 50.00 50.00 Germany

ECMS 36.36 71.25 Egypt

MMEA 36.33 71.25 Egypt

MobiNil 71.25 71.25 Egypt

Globecast España S.L. 50.72 50.72 Spain

EBTC 49.00 49.00 Estonia

Digita 49.00 49.00 Finland

Cell Plus 40.00 40.00 Mauritius

Telecom Mauritius 40.00 40.00 Mauritius

Telecom Plus 58.00 70.00 Mauritius

Mobilecom 35.20 40.00 Jordan

JTC 35.20 40.00 Jordan

Metroholdings 50.00 50.00 UK

Equity accounted companies

Company Interest Control Country

Nortel Inversora 25.52 50.00 Argentina

Publicom 13.97 50.00 Argentina

Telecom Argentina 13.97 50.00 Argentina

Telecom Personal 13.97 50.00 Argentina

Intelig 25.00 25.00 Brazil

Axion 40.00 40.00 Spain

Pramindo Ikat 40.00 40.00 Indonesia

Nucleo 9.43 50.00 Paraguay

PTK 34.00 34.00 Poland

TP SA 33.93 33.93 Poland

Clix 43.33 43.33 Portugal

Novis 43.33 43.33 Portugal

(1) Including Global One Communications World Holding BV and Global One 
Communications Holding BV from June 29, 2001 (see note 3).
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(Free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors, we have audited the

accompanying consolidated financial statements of France

Telecom, presented in euros, for the year ended December 31,

2001.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibil-

ity of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these financial statements based on

our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with French profes-

sional standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Group as of December 31, 2001 and the results of the Group’s

operations included in the consolidation for the year then

ended, in accordance with French accounting principles.

We have also reviewed the information contained in the Direc-

tors' report on the management of the Group. We have nothing

to report with respect to the fairness of such information and

its consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

Paris, March 21, 2002

Report of the Statutory Auditors on 
the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2001

The Statutory Auditors

ERNST & YOUNG Audit RSM SALUSTRO REYDEL

French original signed by French original signed by

Gabriel GALET Edouard SALUSTRO Jean-Michel CHARPENTIER
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Thank you
to all those who agreed 
to have their photos in 
this report, plus of course 
to all those not pictured.

Corporate Communications
Corporate Information

Resources Division

6, place d’Alleray
75505 Paris Cedex 15 – France
Tel.: 33 (0) 1 44 44 22 22

www.francetelecom.com

Shareholder information
Tel.: 33 (0) 1 60 95 23 85
BP 1010 
75 721 Paris Cedex 15 – France

Corporation with a total share capital of 4,615,327,772 €
3802 129 866 RCS Paris



Intranet: A private network based on
Internet software and standards reserved
for use by members of an organization.

IP (Internet Protocol): The data transmis-
sion standard on which the Internet is
based. It defines the way in which infor-
mation packets are structured for routing
on the Web.

IP VPN (IP Virtual Private Network): 

A private communications network in IP

mode. A VPN offers the same security and

other benefits as a private network, but

runs on public infrastructures.

This not only costs less, but also avoids 

the need for network management for the

company.

ISP (Internet Service Provider):

An ISP lets people connect to the Internet,

providing them with an IP address.

LAN (Local Area Network): LANs service

private premises, linking computers at

high speeds over short distances.

Local loop: The part of the network

that links customers to the local telephone

exchange.

Multimedia: The combination of

voice, data and fixed or full-motion video

over the same communications channel 

or within the same application.

Portal: A Web page with links to 

a variety of services such as directories,

search engines, email, online merchants,

news, etc.

Search Engine: An application that
finds Web pages that contain specific
words.

SMS (Short Message Service): A service
for sending alphanumeric messages 
to or from GSM mobile handsets.

SMHD (Services Multisite Hauts Débits):
A France Telecom service for connecting
multiple corporate sites at high speeds.

UMTS (Universal Mobile
Telecommunications System): 
A third-generation wireless communica-
tions system capable of supporting very-
high-speed mobile multimedia services.

Unbundling: Introduction of 
competition on the local loop. The phone
line remains the property of the incum-
bent operator, but is connected to equip-
ment belonging to a competing operator
located inside the local exchange.

VTHD (Vraiment Très Haut Débit): 

An experimental “super high-speed”

fiberoptic Internet infrastructure.

Wap (Wireless Application Protocol): 

A wireless telephony protocol that enables

access to information sites (including 

websites) from personal wireless devices

such as GSM cellphones.

Web: Abbreviation of World Wide Web,

the multimedia interconnected networks

that make up the Internet, where informa-

tion can be accessed at the click of a

mouse.

Webcam: A digital camera connected to

the Internet.
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Communicate.
We communicate to express the
essence of our being, to share informa-
tion, emotions and experience. We
communicate to forge ties with others.
Communications is fundamental to
life. And our business is helping you
communicate better, every day, both
in your personal life and at work.
We innovate to promote new ways 
to communicate that make life easier.
The 206,000 people in the France 
Telecom group across the entire world
are all proud to be part of this truly
inspiring endeavor. Whether it’s fixed,
wireless, Internet or data services,
whether we operate under the banner
of France Telecom, Orange, Wanadoo,
Equant or other subsidiaries, we are
all unified by a commitment to 
serving you. By listening closely 
to your needs, by earning your 
confidence and by fully assuming 
our responsibilities, we bring you 
solutions that deliver on our promise
of helping to build a better world.
The photos in this year’s annual
report give you a closer look at France
Telecom’s teams around the world –
people who are helping to transform 
this promise into everyday reality.

CONTENTS

Welcome 
to the life of the 
France Telecom group
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CUSTOMERS WORLDWIDE
+19% in one year

43.2 MILLION
WIRELESS TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

40 MILLION
FIXED-LINE TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

6.3 MILLION
ACTIVE INTERNET
CUSTOMERS

2.2 MILLION
CABLE TV CUSTOMERS
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MILLION

PROFILE

43
BILLION EUROS
IN REVENUES
+27.8% in one year

12.3
BILLION EUROS
IN EBITDA
+14% in one year

5.2
BILLION EUROS
IN OPERATING INCOME
+7.1% in one year

1.9
BILLION EUROS
IN NET INCOME
BEFORE NON-RECURRING
PROVISIONS

Be the best provider 
of comprehensive
communications 

solutions

www.francetelecom.com 20
01
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Glossary 

ADSL Asymmetric DSL: The down-

stream bandwidth, i.e. to the customer,

is more than the upstream bandwidth,

from the customer to the network.

This asymmetric speed is well-suited to

website access and display.

Bandwidth: The width of the 

frequency spectrum on a communica-

tions channel. Often used as a synonym

for speed.

Bluetooth: A wireless communica-

tions specification for transmission of

voice and data between various devices

at up to 10 meters (named after the 

10th century Danish king who united

Denmark). This opens up such possibili-

ties as “communicating household 

appliances”.

Chat: Messaging via Internet forums

enabling real-time text exchanges with

other users.

Competitive carrier: A telecom-

munications network operator that 

competes with the incumbent carrier 

(often a former PTT).

Data: Transmitted information other

than voice.

Data rate: The volume of information

(i.e. “bits”) transmitted per second. “High-

speed” means that large amounts of data

can be transmitted, compared with the

current norm.

DECT (Digital European Cordless

Telecommunications): A wireless standard

used primarily for residential cordless

telephony.

DSL (Digital Subscriber Line): A trans-

mission technology that makes it possible

to send data at high speeds over a con-

ventional copper phone line.

EBN (European Backbone Network):

France Telecom’s seamless high-speed

pan-European network. The backbone

network is the central infrastructure

which interconnects with the access net-

work.

e-mail: Electronic mail sent on the

Internet.

Extranet: A corporate Intranet opened

to external partners (suppliers, subcon-

tractors, major customers, etc.).

GPRS (General Packet Radio Service):

An extension of the GSM standard that

increases the data rate and enables per-

manent connection to the Internet.

GSM (Global System for Mobile
Communications): The digital cellular
telephone standard used across Europe
which operates in the 900 MHz and 
1800 MHz frequency bands.

Interconnexion: Connection of two
independent networks, such as the net-
works of other telecommunications oper-
ators in France and the France Telecom
network.

Internet (Interconnected Networks):
the system comprising all networks inter-
connected using the Internet Protocol
(IP). The Internet supports access to data-
bases, email, file downloading and news-
groups, for example.



Intranet: A private network based on
Internet software and standards reserved
for use by members of an organization.

IP (Internet Protocol): The data transmis-
sion standard on which the Internet is
based. It defines the way in which infor-
mation packets are structured for routing
on the Web.

IP VPN (IP Virtual Private Network): 

A private communications network in IP

mode. A VPN offers the same security and

other benefits as a private network, but

runs on public infrastructures.

This not only costs less, but also avoids 

the need for network management for the

company.

ISP (Internet Service Provider):

An ISP lets people connect to the Internet,

providing them with an IP address.

LAN (Local Area Network): LANs service

private premises, linking computers at

high speeds over short distances.

Local loop: The part of the network

that links customers to the local telephone

exchange.

Multimedia: The combination of

voice, data and fixed or full-motion video

over the same communications channel 

or within the same application.

Portal: A Web page with links to 

a variety of services such as directories,

search engines, email, online merchants,

news, etc.

Search Engine: An application that
finds Web pages that contain specific
words.

SMS (Short Message Service): A service
for sending alphanumeric messages 
to or from GSM mobile handsets.

SMHD (Services Multisite Hauts Débits):
A France Telecom service for connecting
multiple corporate sites at high speeds.

UMTS (Universal Mobile
Telecommunications System): 
A third-generation wireless communica-
tions system capable of supporting very-
high-speed mobile multimedia services.

Unbundling: Introduction of 
competition on the local loop. The phone
line remains the property of the incum-
bent operator, but is connected to equip-
ment belonging to a competing operator
located inside the local exchange.

VTHD (Vraiment Très Haut Débit): 

An experimental “super high-speed”

fiberoptic Internet infrastructure.

Wap (Wireless Application Protocol): 

A wireless telephony protocol that enables

access to information sites (including 

websites) from personal wireless devices

such as GSM cellphones.

Web: Abbreviation of World Wide Web,

the multimedia interconnected networks

that make up the Internet, where informa-

tion can be accessed at the click of a

mouse.

Webcam: A digital camera connected to

the Internet.
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Communicate.
We communicate to express the
essence of our being, to share informa-
tion, emotions and experience. We
communicate to forge ties with others.
Communications is fundamental to
life. And our business is helping you
communicate better, every day, both
in your personal life and at work.
We innovate to promote new ways 
to communicate that make life easier.
The 206,000 people in the France 
Telecom group across the entire world
are all proud to be part of this truly
inspiring endeavor. Whether it’s fixed,
wireless, Internet or data services,
whether we operate under the banner
of France Telecom, Orange, Wanadoo,
Equant or other subsidiaries, we are
all unified by a commitment to 
serving you. By listening closely 
to your needs, by earning your 
confidence and by fully assuming 
our responsibilities, we bring you 
solutions that deliver on our promise
of helping to build a better world.
The photos in this year’s annual
report give you a closer look at France
Telecom’s teams around the world –
people who are helping to transform 
this promise into everyday reality.
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France Telecom group
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92
CUSTOMERS WORLDWIDE
+19% in one year

43.2 MILLION
WIRELESS TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

40 MILLION
FIXED-LINE TELEPHONY
CUSTOMERS

6.3 MILLION
ACTIVE INTERNET
CUSTOMERS

2.2 MILLION
CABLE TV CUSTOMERS

s

s

s

s

MILLION

PROFILE

43
BILLION EUROS
IN REVENUES
+27.8% in one year

12.3
BILLION EUROS
IN EBITDA
+14% in one year

5.2
BILLION EUROS
IN OPERATING INCOME
+7.1% in one year

1.9
BILLION EUROS
IN NET INCOME
BEFORE NON-RECURRING
PROVISIONS

Be the best provider 
of comprehensive
communications 

solutions

www.francetelecom.com 20
01
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Glossary 

ADSL Asymmetric DSL: The down-

stream bandwidth, i.e. to the customer,

is more than the upstream bandwidth,

from the customer to the network.

This asymmetric speed is well-suited to

website access and display.

Bandwidth: The width of the 

frequency spectrum on a communica-

tions channel. Often used as a synonym

for speed.

Bluetooth: A wireless communica-

tions specification for transmission of

voice and data between various devices

at up to 10 meters (named after the 

10th century Danish king who united

Denmark). This opens up such possibili-

ties as “communicating household 

appliances”.

Chat: Messaging via Internet forums

enabling real-time text exchanges with

other users.

Competitive carrier: A telecom-

munications network operator that 

competes with the incumbent carrier 

(often a former PTT).

Data: Transmitted information other

than voice.

Data rate: The volume of information

(i.e. “bits”) transmitted per second. “High-

speed” means that large amounts of data

can be transmitted, compared with the

current norm.

DECT (Digital European Cordless

Telecommunications): A wireless standard

used primarily for residential cordless

telephony.

DSL (Digital Subscriber Line): A trans-

mission technology that makes it possible

to send data at high speeds over a con-

ventional copper phone line.

EBN (European Backbone Network):

France Telecom’s seamless high-speed

pan-European network. The backbone

network is the central infrastructure

which interconnects with the access net-

work.

e-mail: Electronic mail sent on the

Internet.

Extranet: A corporate Intranet opened

to external partners (suppliers, subcon-

tractors, major customers, etc.).

GPRS (General Packet Radio Service):

An extension of the GSM standard that

increases the data rate and enables per-

manent connection to the Internet.

GSM (Global System for Mobile
Communications): The digital cellular
telephone standard used across Europe
which operates in the 900 MHz and 
1800 MHz frequency bands.

Interconnexion: Connection of two
independent networks, such as the net-
works of other telecommunications oper-
ators in France and the France Telecom
network.

Internet (Interconnected Networks):
the system comprising all networks inter-
connected using the Internet Protocol
(IP). The Internet supports access to data-
bases, email, file downloading and news-
groups, for example.




